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This report on Form 6-K/A shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into (i) CEMEX,
S.A. de C.V.'s ("CEMEX") Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 on Form F-3 to its Registration
Statement on Form F-1 (Registration No. 333-11382) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on December 20, 2000, (ii) CEMEX's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration
No. 333-13970) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 28, 2001 and (iii)
CEMEX's Amendment No. 3 to its Registration Statement on Form F-4 (Registration No. 333-13976)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 21, 2001, and to be a part thereof
from the date on which this report is filed, to the extent not superseded by documents or reports
subsequently filed or furnished.

EXPLANATORY NOTE

This amendment on Form 6-K/A amends and restates in its entirety CEMEX's Current
Report on Form 6-K dated October 1, 2001.

Contents
1. Consent of KPMG Cérdenas Dosal, S.C. (attached hereto as exhibit 1).
2. Consent of PriceWaterhouseCoopers (attached hereto as exhibit 2).

3. CEMEX, S.A. de C.V.'s consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2000 and 1999 and
as of June 30, 2001 and 2000 (unaudited), and for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and
1998 and for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2001 and 2000 (unaudited), including a
reconciliation of net income and stockholders' equity to United States generally accepted
accounting principles (attached hereto as exhibit 3).
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We hereby consent w: the incorporanon by reference into (i) Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 on Form F-3 1o the
Regisrancn Statemenr on Form F-1 (File No. 333.11382) of CEMEX, S.A. de C.V,, (1t) the Regismarion
Statement on Form 3-8 (File No. 333-13970) of CEMEX, SA. de C.V. and (i) Amendment No. 3 to the
Regisrenon Sureme:it on Form F-4 (File No. 333-13976) of CEMEX, S.A. de C.V., of our report dated January
17, 2001, except for the restatement described 1n note 20 (k) and the third paragraph of thar report which are as of
November 16, 2001 2nd August 24, 2001, and note 20 which is as of June 8, 2001 with respect 1o the consolidated
balance sheets of Cimex SA. de C V. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000, which report appears on
Amcndment No. | to the report on Form 6-K of CEMEX, S.A. de C.V., dated January 25, 2002.

KPMG Cirdenas Dosal, S.C.
Lo C e R
I.ui; A. Carrero Romiin

Monterrey, N.L.
Méxaco
January 25, 2002

01/25/02 VIE 10:36 [# TX/RX 91339]

doos

ool




EXHIBIT 2




01/25/02 VIE 10:53 FAX 328 38 92 . CONTRALORIA CORP

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 4
We hereby conseit to the incorporation by reference into (i) Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 on Form F-3 to the
Registration Stat¢ment on Form F-1 (File No. 333-11382) of CEMEX, S. A. de C. V., (ii) the Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-13970) of CEMEX, S.A. de C.V. and (iii) Amendment No. 3 to'the
Registration Stat:ment on Form F-4 (File No. 333-13976) of CEMEX, S.A. de C.V., of our reports dated January

11, 2001 relating to the financial statements of Compafifa Minera Atoyac, S. A. de C.V., Granos y Terrenos, S. A.

de C.V., Cementis Anshuac, S. A. de C. V., Cementos del Norte, S. A. de C.V., Proveedora Mexicana de

Materiales, S.A. le C.V., Compafifa de Transportes del Mar de Cortes, S. A. de C V., Cementos de Guadalajara,

S. A.de C. V., C2mentos de Oriente, S. A. de C. V., Autotransportes de Huichapan, S A.deC. V. and Cemex

Concretos, S. A. de C.V., which report appears in Amendment No. 1 to the report on Form 6-K of CEM'.E.X S. A
_de C.V., dated January 25, 2002. ,

Pricewaterhouse:"oopers

January 25, 2002 -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Cemex, S.A.de C. V..

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Cemex, S.A. de C.V. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 1999 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity
and changes in financial position for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2000. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit the consolidated financial statements
of certain consolidated subsidiaries which statements reflect total assets of 11% and 2% in 1999 and 2000,
respectively, and total revenues constituting 9%, 9% and 0% in 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively, of the related
consolidated totals. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us,
and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for such subsidiaries, is based solely upon the
reports of the other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in the United States and
Mexico. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the reports of other auditors provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

As discussed in note 2B to the consolidated financial statements, Bulletin B-15 issued by the Mexican
Institute of Public Accountants requires the restatement of prior periods consolidated financial statements to
constant pesos as of the most recent balance sheet presented by applying a weighted average index that takes into-
consideration the inflation rates of the countries in which the subsidiaries operate and the exchange rate related to -
the Mexican peso. The above mentioned consolidated financial statements have been restated from amounts.
previously presented to reflect the purchasing power of the Mexican peso as of June 30, 2001.

In our opinion, based upon our audits and the reports of other auditors, the consolidated financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Cemex, S.A. de C.V. and
subsidiaries on December 31, 1999 and 2000, and the consolidated results of their operations, the changes in their
stockholders’ equity and the changes in their financial position for each of the years in the three-year-period
ended December 31, 2000, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Mexico.

Generally accepted accounting principles in Mexico vary in certain significant respects from generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States. Application of generally accepted accounting principles in
the United States would have affected results of operations for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2000, and stockholders’ equity as of December 31, 1999 and 2000, to the extent summarized in
note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

KPMG Cirdenas Dosal, S.C.
Rafael Gémez Eng

Monterrey, N.L., Mexico

January 17, 2001, except for the restatement
described in the third paragraph

of this report, which is as of August 24, 2001, and
note 20, which is as of June §, 2001.




CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Thousands of constant Mexican pesos as of June 30, 2001)

{(Unaudited)
December 31, June 30,
1999 2000 2001
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and temporary iNVESUMENTS .......c..overimiuieeiee e s bbb b Ps 3,075.258 2.868.589 5,201,408
Trade accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts Ps506,330 in 1999,

Ps422,692 in 2000 and June 30, 2001 Ps465.038 4,997,899 6,102,743 7,297,011
Other receivables (note 3).....coovecrecernceninnnene . 2,214,797 2.101.284 2,778,097
Inventories (note 4)............ 5,235,501 6.676.317 6,562.029
Other current assets (note 5). 572,472 918,421 1.580,097

Total current assets 16,095,927 18,667,354 23,418,642
Investments and Noncurrent Receivables (note 6)
Investments in affiliated COMPANIES ..c.vvcviivriiimieniirin s 5,792,115 4,961,888 4,879,500
Other InVESIMENTS .....oovvrinierinnians . 778,681 953,401 —
Other accounts receivable 846,870 1,693,003 1,801,832
7,417,666 7,608,292 6,681,332
Property, Machinery and Equipment (note 7)
Land and buildings ............... . 31,564,800 36,657,386 34,789,773
Machinery and equipment 90,672.944 103,913,037 103,940,479
Accumulated depreciation (59.890,038) (61,527,677) (62,177.095)
Construction in progress 2,868,179 5,075,658 5,844,809
Total property, machinery and equipment...........c.ccccceveunceee . 65,215,885 84,118,404 82,397,966
Deferred Charges (NOte 8).........ccoc ittt 23,055,351 36,344,472 37.319,622
TOAL ASSEES ....vovinieeieieieerii et ettt s s s a st e e besas st eseas s nr s cr ek e Ps111,784,829 146,738,522  149.817,562
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Bank 10ans (NOWE D) ...coverieiiere e seimeceaesirsecesimoreastae s rotssenestanssesnasseeimsssesceteriessesaessersersarinsane Ps 1,807,210 19,076,544 11,355,240
Notes payable (note 9) 392,745 4,429,855 2,644,805
Current maturities of long-term debt (notes 9 and 10). 7,505,027 4,071,185 6,375,739
Trade accounts payable ..o, 3,651,155 5210420 4,042,804
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses.. . 3,850,729 3,714,148 6,208,822
Total CUITENt LIADIIIHIES. c.veeeiveeeeieneiererieeriei ettt ee s et s m st ar e nean 17,206,866 36,502,152 30,627,410
Long-Term Debt (note 10)
BANK J0A0S ..ottt et btk ea et b st h e et 21,840,334 11,949,211 14,508,889
Notes payable .....c..ccocorcorrnninicnenene . 17,138,794 17,346,725 24,103,375
Current maturities of IONG-1erM Dt .........cvem ettt (7,505.027) (4.071,185) (6,375,739)
Total ong-term debt ........ccoirviiiiriiier e ettt 31,474,101 25,224,751 32,236,525
Other Noncurrent Liabilities
Pension, seniority premium and other postretirement benefits (note 11)......cc..ccceeveeiis 523,519 313,171 1,042,862
Deferred income taxes (N01€ 14) .....cooviieeiveiiienieereeeese e eeaseee . 1,037,311 12,366,975 12,186,613
Other noncurrent liabilities............. 916,126 1,112,664 1,848,708
Total other noncurrent liabilities . 2,476,956 13,792,810 15,078,183
TOtal HADIHHES ...ttt e cecnnee rearnr s 51,157,923 75,519,713 77,942,118
Stockholders’ Equity (note 12)
Majority interest:

Common stock—historical cost basis, 49,312 51,238 53,642

Common stock—accumulated inflation adjustments .. 3,053,989 3,054,114 3,054,114

Additional paid-in capital ........... 20,862,791 22,877,057 25,612,082

Deficit in equity restatement.........coocveruerecrecreceenianeene (41,767,795) (46,112,116) (47,641,359)

Cumulative initial deferred income tax effects {note 14) ... . — (4,654,456) (4,654,456)

Retained eamings ........cococvvemeveninirenrsrnncrerneniens oo . 57,463,716 64,372,693 70,947,588

Net income......cocoeevennnne . 9,163,422 9.304,351 6,250,722

Total Majority INETEST .......o.cvcieieiiriie ettt s 48,825,435 48,893,381 53,622,333
Minority interest.......cooeevernnns e eeuebeererehettete s bt ana b et et anes s insbasbe RS eEer s e nes e ene et s er e 11,801,471 22,325,428 18,253,111
Total stoCKNOIAErS” EQUILY .....oc.ocreurieiiciereireieie ettt et 60.626,906 71,218,809 71,875,444
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ EQUItY ..........cccccouecniininecicenniniennireerecrnnenees Ps111,784,829 146,738,522 149,817,562

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-3




CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Income
(Thousands of constant Mexican pesos as of June 30, 2001, except for earnings per share)

(Unaudited)

Net sales .......................................
Cost of sales .....covvvvvvnriereeeeeierrenn,

Gross profit....................

Operating expenses:
Administrative......c.coocovecreneen.
Selling .ccocceviivrininiiiiiinee,

Total operating expenses..
Operating Income .........................

Comprehensive financing cost:
Financial expense...........cce....
Financial income..................c...
Foreign exchange result, net ...
Monetary position result ..........
Net comprehensive financing

Other expense, net.......ccoocvvviinnnne

Income before income taxes,
employees’ statutory profit
sharing and equity in income of
affiliates...........ccccoevennecinniene

Income tax and business assets tax,
net (note 14) ..ooovvvvvervirineeinirennens

Employees’ statutory profit sharing
(note 14) ...,

Total income tax,
business assets tax and
employees’ statutory
profit sharing................

Income before equity in income
of affiliates...........ccceorvrececrrnnnne
Equity in income of affiliates...........

Consolidated net income................
Minority interest net income.........

Majority interest net income........
Basic earnings per share (see
notes2A and 17) ..o,

Diluted earnings per share (see
notes 2A and 17)...........cccceen.

Years Ended December 31, Six Months Ended June 30,
1998 1999 2000 2000 2001
Ps 42,371,518 45,488,895 52,336,591 Ps 25,172,960 31,073,482
(24,498,958) (25,344,267) (29,245,055)  (13,921,228) (17,454,608)
17,872,560 20,144,628 23,091,536 11,251,732 13,618,874
(4,560,866) (4,927,111) (5,786,941) (2,788,535) (3,306,041)
(1,746,792) (1,682,922) (1,905,448) (843,906) (2,545,236)
(6,307,658) (6,610,033) (7,692,389) (3,632,441) (5,851,277)
11,564,902 13,534,595 15,399,147 7,619,291 7,767,597
(4,766,008) (4,596,306) (4,347,098) (2,242,661) (2,069,294)
105,433 384,125 157,272 111,475 1,353,960
(2,174,352) 260,032 (280,196) (219,107) 1,102,574
5,536,886 3,679,583 2,851,636 1,493,690 1,503,659
(1,298,041) (272,566) {1,618,386) (856,603) 1,890,899
(1,493,822) (2,796,989) (2,181,490) (948,897) (1,403,089)
8,773,039 10,465,040 11,599,271 5,813,791 8,255,407
(453,701) (644,301) (1,470,645) (958,864) (907,691)
(198,555) (360,716) (333,405) (161,242) (153,413)
(652,256) (1,005,017) (1,804,050) (1,120,106) (1,061,104)
8,120,783 9,460,023 9,795,221 4,693,685 7,194,303
153,889 234,402 235,518 90,610 85,992
8,274,672 9,694,425 10,030,739 4,784,295 7,280,295
387,526 531,003 725,888 239,216 1,029,573
Ps 7,887,146 9,163,422 9,304,851 Ps 4,545,079 6,250,722
Ps 2.08 2.43 2.26 Ps 2.08 2.63
Ps 2.08 2.42 225 Ps 2.07 2.61

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Balances at December 31, 1997..........
Dividends (Ps0.39 pesos per share)......
Appropriation of net income from
PRIOT YEAT...coovicrcrinrcirenicessenrennn
Issuance of common stock (note 12B) ....
Result from holding nonmonetary
ASSELS ceoriviirireeenecreemecremerceesersre et as
Restatement of investments and other
transactions relating to minority
interest. ...
Investment by subsx aries (note 6) ......
NEtINCOME.....covvveervervrrereenereisiierierinns
Balances at December 31, 1998..........
Dividends (Ps0.44 pesos per share)......
Appropriation of net income from
prior year
Issuance of common stock (note 12B) ...
Issuance of appreciation warrants (note
12G) v erete e eeenne
Result from holding nonmonetary
ASSELS .oovvicneeevercrrarcorressrereseanscersasnnns
Restatement of investments and other
transactions relating to minority

Investment by subsidiaries (note 6).
Net inCOmE.....ccvvivvnrcicinininies
Balances at December 31, 1999
Dividends (Ps0.50 pesos per share)......
Appropriation of net income from
PHIOT YEAT.ooveirn o saeis s
Issuance of common stock (note 12B) ..
Issuance of appreciation warrants (nole
Acquisitions of shares under
repurchase program (note 12A)........
Result from holding nonmonetary
ASSELS «oovorrrcrerreereacuenenneseresmeersresonsasns
Restatement of investments and other
transactions relating to minority

Investment by subsidiaries {(note 6)
Net InCOME .....oiviriireieeeecnerrereee

Balances at December 31, 2000..........
Dividends (Ps0.59 pesos per share)......
Appropriation of net income from
PIIOT YEAT o.iiriiiiiviiienicaetirearenvenns
Issuance of common stock (note 12B) ....
Issuance of appreciation warrants (note
12G)
Acquisitions of shares under
repurchase program (note 12A)........
Result from holding nonmonetary
BSSELS vuvvirersiirerensiesronsaseaesemersisisninanns
Restatement of investments and other
transactions relating to minority
IETESL. e resr s

Investment by subsidiaries (note 6) ......
NEt INCOME...cccuiiriricnrrrarrnernsrersesesnsenne

Balances at June 30, 2001
(unaudited) .........cccoovrreeeiee,

CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
(Thousands of constant Mexican pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Cumulative
Additional Deficit in initial Totat Total
Common paid-in equity deferred Retained majority Minority stockholders’
stock capital restatement income tax earnings Net income interest interest equity

Ps.3.099.815 17,127,356 (37,905 617) — 45,414,020 7,661,589 35397,163 11,893,968 47,291,131
1,500 1,499,967 — (1.629,198) — (127,731) — (127.731)

— — — — 7,661,589 (7,661,589) — — —

15 10,808 — — — — 10,823 — 10.823
— — (639,547) — — — (639,547) — (639.547)

— — — — — — — 1,592 1.592
— —  (4.357971) — — — (4357971 —  (4,357.971)

— — — — — 7,887,146 7,887,146 387,526 8,274,672
3,101,330 18,638,131 (42,903,135) — 51,446,411 7,887,146 38,169,883 12,283,086 50,452,969
1,840 1,868,463 — , — (1,869,841) — 462 —_ 462

— — — — 7,887,146 (7,887,146) — — —

131 98,052 —_ — —_ — 98,183 — 98,183

— 258,145 — — — — 258,145 — 258,145
— —  (3,537,406) — — —  (3,537,4006) ~  (3.537,406)
— — — — — — — (1,012,618) (1,012,618)

— — 4,672,746 — — — 4,672,746 — 4,672,746

— — — — — 9,163,422 9,163.422 531,003 9,694,425
3,103,301 20,862,791 (41,767,795) — 57,463,716 9,163,422 48,825,435 11,801,471 60,626,906
2,089 2,024,582 — (2,137,194) — (110,523) — (110.523)
— — — 9,163,422 (9,163,422) — -— —

67 48,225 — — —_ — 48,292 — 48,292
— (58,541) — — — — (58,541) — (58,541)
(10%) — — — (117,251 — (117,356) — (117,356)
— —  {2,608,901) — — —  {2,608,901) —  (2,608,901)
— — — — — — —_ 9.798,069 9,798,069
— — —  (4,654,456) — —  (4,654,456) —  (4.654.456)
—_ —  (1.735420) — —_ —  {1,735,420) —  (1.735.420)
— — — — — 9,304,851 9,304,851 725,888  10.030,739
3,105,352 22,877,057 (46,112,116) (4,654,456) 64,372,693 9,304,851 48,893,381 22325428 71,218,809
2,343 2,683,105 — — (2,729,956) — (44,508) — (44,508)
— — — — 9,304,851 (9,304,851) — — —

61 51,920 — — — — 51,981 — 51,981
— — 1,198,019 — — — 1,198,019 — 1,198,019
— — — — — — — (5,101,890) (5,101,890)
— (2,727.25) — — —  (2,727,262) —  (2,727,262)
— — 6,250,722 6,250,722 1,029,573 7,280,295
Ps.3,107,756 25,612,082 (47,641,359) (4,654,456) 70,947,588 6,250,722 53,622,333 18,253,111 71,875,444

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity—(Continued)

Consolidated Comprehensive Net Income
(Thousands of constant Mexican pesos as of June 30, 2001)

For U.S. GAAP purposes, SFAS 130 requires the display of certain items resulting from the change in
equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other charges and credits from non-owners
to be presented as a separate component of stockholders’ equity and net income. The following table illustrates
the comprehensive income and accumulated other comprehensive income under Mexican GAAP as of and for the
years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000.

Years Ended on December 31,

1998 1999 2000
Majority interest net inCOME ..........coovvvrireeciere s er e Ps 7,887,146 9,163,422 9,304,851
Other comprehensive income: — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustment .............coceeevveervreennnes 5,822,899 (818,091) (781,332)
Foreign exchange gains (losses) accounted as a hedge of a net
INVESLMENE ..ot esee ettt en e tenae st sesenees (2,984,555) 590,969 (162,782)
Effects from holding non-monetary assets........c.ccocevveeervcricnnanne (3,788,256) (2,829,403) (2,836,308)
Other hedge derivative inStrUMENtS. ........c.eceeeverrnverenesrereerenns (278,643) (141,330) 82,699
Valuation of marketable SECUNItIES ......ocvvevveeriereeeereirerenrrreeeeane — 421,193 192,692
Deferred income tax of the year charged directly to
StOCKhOIAErs” EQUILY ...ecoirerireniiniirece e et — — 910,817
Cumulative initial deferred income tax effects .......ccevevvivenennnn — — (4,654,456)
Other comprehensive income (1088} .........ccccooovviieenninncnrnnn, (1,228,555) (2,776,661) (7,248,670)
Comprehensive income (loss) for the year...............ccccecenee. 6,658,591 6,386,761 2,056,181
Accumulated other comprehensive income:
Balance at beginning of Year......ccovvvveririnceineriice e (19,789,918) (21,018,473) (23,795.134)
Balance at end of Year............cccoceiiiinciniceeee e Ps(21,018,473) (23,795,134) 31,043,804)

For the six month periods ended June 30, 2000 and 2001, Other Comprehensive Income amounted to
income of Ps275,873 and Ps1,198,019 respectively (unaudited). Comprehensive Income for the six month
periods ended June 30, 2000 and 2001 was Ps4,820,951 and Ps7,448,741 respectively (unaudited).

The Company has not presented the individual components of the accumulated balance of other
comprehensive income disclosure requirements of SFAS 130 as it is impracticable to obtain this information.

For Mexican GAAP purposes, deficit in equity restatement includes (i) foreign currency translation
adjustments, (ii) foreign exchange losses derived from debt identified as hedge of a net investment, (iii) the
accumulated effect of holding non-monetary assets, (iv) certain other hedge derivative instruments and (v)
investments by subsidiaries in the Parent Company. For SFAS 130 purposes, all of the foregoing, except for
investments by subsidiaries in the Parent Company, are considered to be part of comprehensive income.
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements Of Changes In Financial Position
(Thousands of constant Mexican pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Operating activities

Majority interest NeL iNCOME .....cc.ccovriniiniiniisncenc e rsesiasinsees

Charges to operations which did not require resources:
Depreciation of property, machinery and equipment
Amortization of deferred charges and credits, net .... .
Impairment Of @8Sets.......cocvveiviieiiiiine s
Pensions and SeniOTity PrEMIBIM ..c.oivveiiivaseceinse e ssesssaeasenneas
Deferred income tax charged to results...
Equity in income of affiliates..........
Minority interest

Resources provided by operating activities ..................
Changes in working capital, excluding acquisition effects:
Trade accounts receivable, net ......
Other receivables and other assets
INVENIOMIES ...cviiiiieivetei b e
Trade accounts payable ...
Other accounts payable, and accrued XPenses..........ocovvveviavrmreeninnans

Net change in working capital

Net resources provided by operating activities....................

Financing activities
Proceeds from bank loans {repayments), Net .........ccccooccemrimcnccnnncs
Notes payable, net, excluding foreign exchange effect (note 2D} ...
INVEStMENt by SUBSIAIATIES ...........vveveesiveeressereecsseseseesssssssessssessensnes
Dividends paid ........cocoevvreeiniiiiiiens

Issuance of common stock from stock dividend .
Issuance of preferred stock by subsidianies...........oevcvvvevminiinicninns
Other financing activities, NEL ..o
Acquisition of shares under repurchase program..
Issuance of common StOCK ....covrciiinviniennins

Resources provided by (used in) financing activities...

Investing activities

Property, machinery and equipment, Nel.........coocoveieieiincmnnnnennnne
Acquisition of subsidiaries and affiliates
Disposal of assets .......ccocvuenene

Minority interest..
Deferred Charges ...t
Other investments and monetary foreign currency effect.................

Resources used in investing activities

\ {Decrease) increase in cash and temporary investments...
Cash and temporary investments at beginning of year .....

Cash and temporary investments at end of year..........

{Unaudited)
Six Months Ended
Years Ended December 31, June 30,
1998 1999 2000 2000 2001
Ps 7,887,146 9,163,422 9304851 4545079 6,250,722
2,975,615 3,272,424 3458906 1,623,747 2450854
882,642 812,659 1,094,094 540,527 968,865
_ 627,793 — — —
295,097 286.566 279,959 139,271 128.498
— — 538,481 — 296,017
(153,889) (234,402) (235,518) 90,611) (85,991)
387,526 531,004 725,888 239,217 1,029,573
12,274,137 14,459,466 15,166,661 6,997,230 11,038,538
(784,285) 483,396 602,781  (1,159,981) (1,312,504)
(310,847) 103,350 (65,090) 179,547 (570,680)
(512,589) 97,697 160,086 (183,295) (89.921)
373,332 313,405 843,939 658,278 8,027
914,033 (932,393) (549,055) 61,565 970,317
(320,356) 65,455 992,661 (443,886) (994.761)
11,953,781 14,524,921 16,159,322 6,553,344 10,043,777
3,017.415 (3,062,642) 7,378,213 (799,490} (5,160,214)
(6,903,313)  (4,065,024) 2,499,297 (1,750,029) 4,972,539
(2,443,721) 4,710,990  (1,582,904) (1,146,586) 63,240
(1,629,198)  (1,869,841) (2,137,194) (2,192,804) (2,729,956)
1,501,467 1,870,303 2,026,671 2,026,598 2,685,448
2,454,782 — 14,089,217 ~—  (3,895,800)
(420,662) (3,221,596) (2,612,094) 1,061,880 2,307,423
— — (117,356) — —
10,823 356,328 48,292 (75,210) 51,981
(4,412,407) (5,281.482) 19,592,142 (2,875.641) (1,705.339)
(3,201,544)  (2,504,911)  (3,708,377) (1.336,105) (2,198,862)
(2,492,046)  (9,310,235) (24,278,158)  (512.909) (394,830)
2,366,124 — 1,297,158  1,129.498 54,360
(849,639) (1,371,638)  (4,933,695) (39,387) (21,003)
(40,043) (866,802) (266,415) 219,477  (2,203,530)
(3,159,654) 3,890,839  (4,008,646) (3,037,460) (1,241,754)
(7,376,802) (10,162,747) (35,958,133) (3,576,886) (6,005,619)
164,572 (919,308) (206,669) 100,817 2,332,819
3,829,994 3,994,566 3,075,258 3,075,258 2,868,589
Ps 3,994,566 3,075,258 2,868,589 3,176,075 5,201,408

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Cemex, S.A. de C.V. (Cemex or the Company) is a Mexican controlling entity (parent), of companies
engaged in the production and marketing of cement and concrete in the construction industry.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A) BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND DISCLOSURE

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles in Mexico (Mexican GAAP), which include the recognition of the effects of inflation on
the financial information.

For purposes of disclosure, when reference is made to pesos or “Ps,” it means Mexican pesos; when
reference is made to dollars or U.S. dollars, it means currency of the United States of America. Except when
specific references are made to “millions of pesos,” “U.8.$,” “U.S. dollars thousand,” “earnings per share” and
“number of shares,” all amounts included in these notes are stated in thousands of constant pesos as of the
balance sheet date.

On September 14, 1999, the Company concluded an exchange offer and a stock split for new Ordinary
Participation Certificates (“CPO’s™), of its old series “A” and series “B” shares, as well as its old CPO’s. As a
result, holders of the old series “A” and “B” shares and old CPO’s, received for each of those securities a new
CPO, which represent the participation in two new series “A” shares and one new series “B” share of the
Company. The proportional equity interest participation of the shareholders in the Company’s common stock did
not change as a result of the exchange offer and the stock split mentioned above. Earnings per share, prices per
share, and the number of shares outstanding disclosed in these notes for the year ended December 31, 1998, as
well as the transactions, which occurred in 1999 prior to September 14, 1999, have been restated to give effect to
the stock split.

“ADSs” refers to the “American Depositary Shares” of the Company, listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (“NYSE”). Each ADS includes 5 CPO’s.

B) PRESENTATION OF COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In accordance with Bulletin B-15, “Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation of Foreign Currency
Financial Statements,” the inflation restatement factors applied to the financial statements of prior periods were
calculated based upon a weighted average index, which takes into consideration the inflation rates of the
countries in which the subsidiaries operate, and the fluctuation in the exchange rate of each country relative to
the Mexican peso.

December 31, June 30,

1998 1999 2000 2001
Inflation restatement factor using weighted average index ........c..ccivevercirennens 1.2581 1.0011 1.0236 0.9679
Inflation restatement factor for inflation in MexXico .....cc.ccveevcoinenneniiicrennes 1.1861 1.1232 1.0903 1.0213

Common stock and additional paid-in capital are restated by Mexican inflation. The weighted average index
was used for all other inflation restatement adjustments to stockholders’ equity.
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)
C) PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

As of December 31, 2000, the consolidated financial statements include those of Cemex and the subsidiary
companies in which Cemex holds a majority interest and/or has control.

All significant related parties’ balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The main operating subsidiaries, ordered by holding company, country of origin and percentage of equity
interest directly held, are as follows:

Subsidiary Country % equity interest

Cemex México, S. A.de C.V. e snranns 1 Mexico 974
Assiut Cement COMPANY .....ceevomiceriieeiriiercerercecreesere e essnans Egypt 929
Compaiifa Valenciana de Cementos Portland, S.A. ... 2 Spain 99.3
Cemex Venezuela, SAC.A. s Venezuela 759
CemeX USA, INC. oot raete e savessebesestaessnbe e eee 3 United States 100.0
Cementos del Pacifico, S.A. i Costa Rica 98.2
SOUthAOWN, INC. oottt vs e vaat s e e e sanns 3 United States 100.0
CEMEX Colombia, S.A. oot reene e ereseseeseeseineens 4 Colombia 98.2
Cemento Bayano, S.A. ..ot Panama 99.2
Cementos Nacionales, S.A. ..o e Dominican Republic 99.7
Cemex Asia Holdings Ltd. ... Singapore 774
Rizal Cement Company, Inc. ..o 5 Philippines 70.0

APO Cement COrporation ........ccvcueemeevinininnniensineneenennne 5 Philippines 99.9

Latin Networks Holding, N.V. ............ reeeetre teeebrerbaa e e st n e e e saaree e 6 Netherlands 100.0

1. Does not include an additional 2.5% equity interest held by a trust in benefit of the Company (see note
12G). During 1999, CEMEX México was created as a result of a merger of most of the cement subsidiaries
in Mexico, including Tolmex, S.A. de C.V. and Serto Construcciones, S.A. de C.V. Likewise, CEMEX
México holds a 99.9% equity interest of Empresas Tolteca de México, S.A. de C.V. (“ETM”). In January
2001, Centro Distribudor de Cemento, S.A. de C.V., the indirect parent company of Compaiiia Valenciana,
was sold by the Company to CEMEX Mexico. Therefore, as of June 30, 2001, Compaiifa Valenciana is an
indirect subsidiary of CEMEX Mexico (unaudited).

2. Compaiifa Valenciana is a subsidiary of New Sunward Holdings, B.V., a holding company in which the
Company holds a 90% equity interest. In addition, included is a 7.93% equity interest of Valenciana, related
to a financial transaction in which the Company holds 100% of the economic rights (see note 13A).

3. Represents ownership of Southdown after its merger into CENA Acquisition Corp. (see note 6). In March
2001, as part of a reorganization of the United States operations of the Company, Southdown changed its
name to CEMEX Inc., and became a direct subsidiary of CEMEX Corp. (unaudited).

4. Considers the Company’s ownership of 99.3% of total common stock ordinary shares.

Represents Cemex Asia Holdings’ economic interest in these companies.

6. Latin Networks Holding is the controlling entity of companies engaged in the development of the
Company’s Internet strategy.

hd

D) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rates prevalent on the dates of
their execution or liquidation. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are adjusted into
pesos at the exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. The resulting foreign exchange fluctuations are
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

reflected in the results of operations as part of the comprehensive financing income (cost) or as a charge directly
to stockholders’ equity when the indebtedness is directly related to the acquisition of a foreign subsidiary.

The financial statements of consolidated foreign subsidiaries are restated for inflation in their functional
currency based on the subsidiary countryis inflation rate and subsequently translated to pesos by using the foreign
exchange rate at the end of the corresponding reporting period for balance sheet and income statement accounts.

The exchange rate of the peso against the U.S. dollar used by the Company is based on a weighted average
of the free market rates available to settle its foreign currency transactions.

E) CASH AND TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS

Temporary investments include fixed-income securities with original maturities of three months or less, as
well as marketable securities easily convertible in to cash.

Investments in fixed-income securities are stated at cost plus accumulated interest. Investments in
marketable securities are stated at market value. Gains or losses resuiting from changes in market values, accrued
interest and the effects of inflation are included in the accompanying statements of income as part of the
comprehensive financing result.

F) INVENTORIES AND COST OF SALES (NOTE 4)

Inventories are stated at the lower of replacement cost or market value. Replacement cost is based upon the
latest purchase price or production cost. Cost of sales reflects replacement cost of inventories at the time of sale,
expressed in constant pesos as of the date of the latest balance sheet.

Land available for sale in the short-term held by real state subsidiaries is stated at estimated realizable value.

G) INVESTMENTS AND NONCURRENT RECEIVABLES (NOTE 6)

Investments in affiliated companies are accounted for by the equity method, when the Company holds
between 10% and 50% of the issuer’s capital stock and does not have effective control. Under the equity method,
after acquisition, the investments original cost are adjusted for the proportional interest of the holding company
in the affiliates’ equity and earnings, considering the inflation effects.

Investments available for sale, which the Company has no intention of selling in the short-term, are carried
at market value, and valuation effects are recognized in stockholders’ equity. The presentation of the
accumulated effect in the income statement will occur at the time of sale.

H) PROPERTY, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT (NOTE 7)

Property, machinery and equipment are presented at their restated values in accordance with the fifth
amendment to Bulletin B-10, which allows the restatement of the historical cost of fixed assets using the inflation
index of the assets’ origin country and the change in the foreign exchange rate between the country of origin
currency and the functional currency.

Net comprehensive financing cost incurred during the construction or installation period of fixed asset
additions is capitalized, as part of the value of the assets.
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Depreciation of property, machinery and equipment is provided on the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets less salvage value. The useful lives of the assets are as follows:

Years
Administrative BUIIAINES ....cocovirieiiiniieierenennee ettt s e e eb b b ssa e eas e e e siesanns 50
Industrial buildings, machinery and €qUIPMENt .........ccoceoerieririierincreseserertreseseenee e ressesenas 10 to 35

The Company continuously evaluates the physical state and performance of its machinery and equipment,
and analyzes the impact of its sales and production forecast over expected future cash flows for these assets, in
order to determine if there are judgment elements indicating that the book values of these assets need to be
adjusted for impairment. The provision for impairment is recorded in the income statement when determined.

I) DEFERRED CHARGES AND AMORTIZATION (NOTE 8)

Deferred charges are adjusted to reflect current values. Amortization of deferred charges is determined
using the straight-line method based on the current value of the assets.

The excess of cost over book value of subsidiaries acquired (goodwill) is amortized under the present worth
or sinking fund method, which is intended to provide a better matching of the goodwill amortization with the
revenues generated from the acquired companies. The amortization periods are as follows:

Years
Goodwill from years DEfOre 1992 ..ot et e esa e s 40
Goodwill generated starting January 1, 1992......cccooiiiiiiiii s 20

The Company evaluates the recoverability of goodwill when, in its judgment, circumstances warrant, such
as the occurrence of a significant adverse event, change in the environment in which the business operates and
expectations of operating results for each subsidiary. Such an evaluation would be made to determine if there are
judgment elements indicating that the goodwill balance may not be recovered. An impairment loss would be
recorded in the period when such determination is made.

Deferred financing costs associated with the Company’s financing operations are amortized as part of the

- effective interest rate of each transaction over its maturity. These costs include discounts in debt issuance, fees

paid to attorneys, printers and consultants, as well as commissions paid to banks in the credit approval process.
Deferred financing costs are adjusted to reflect current values.

J) PENSION PLANS, SENIORITY PREMIUM AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS
(NOTE 11)

The costs related to the benefits to which employees are entitled by pension plans, accumulated seniority
premium and other postretirement benefits legally or by Company grant, are recognized in the results of
-operations on the basis of the present value of the benefit determined under actuarial estimations, as services are
rendered. The amortization of unrecognized prior service cost, changes in assumptions and adjustments based on
experience that have not been recognized, is based on the employee’s estimated active service life.

As part of the established pension plans, in some cases, certain irrevocable trust funds have been created to
cover future benefit payments under these plans. The actuarial assumptions utilized in the determination of the

pension plan liability are based upon “real” rates (nominal rates discounted by inflation).
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Other benefits to which employees may be entitled, principally severance benefits and vacations, are
primarily recognized as an expense in the year in which they are paid. In some circumstances, however,
provisions have been made for these benefits.

K) INCOME TAX (“IT”), BUSINESS ASSETS TAX (“BAT”), EMPLOYEES’ STATUTORY PROFIT
SHARING (“ESPS”’) AND DEFERRED INCOME TAXES (NOTE 14)

IT, BAT and ESPS expense recognize the amounts incurred, and the effects of deferred IT and ESPS, in
accordance with the new Bulletin D-4, Accounting treatment of income tax, business assets tax and employees’
profit sharing (“Bulletin D-4"), effective beginning January 1, 2000.

The new Bulletin D-4 requires the determination of deferred IT by applying the enacted statutory income
tax rate to the total temporary differences resulting from comparing the book and taxable values of the assets and
liabilities, applying, when available, tax loss carryforwards, as well as recoverable taxes or other tax credits.
Likewise, it is required to determine the effect of deferred ESPS for those temporary differences arising from the
reconciliation of the net income of the period and the taxable income for ESPS, which are of a non-recurring
nature.

The cumulative initial deferred income tax effects, arising from the adoption of the new Bulletin, have to be
recognized in stockholders’ equity under the caption “Cumulative initial deferred income tax effects”. The effect
of a change in the statutory tax rate is recognized in the results of operations in the period the change occurs and
is officially declared.

L) MONETARY POSITION RESULT

The monetary position result, which represents the gain or loss from holding monetary assets and liabilities
in inflationary environments, is calculated by applying the inflation rate of each country in which the Company
has operations, to the net monetary position in that country.

M) DEFICIT IN EQUITY RESTATEMENT

The deficit in equity restatement includes the accumulated effect from holding non-monetary assets as well
as the foreign currencies translation effects from foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements. Such translation
effects consider the foreign exchange result arising from foreign currency debt related to the acquisition of
foreign subsidiaries (see note 12E).

N) DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (NOTE 13)

The Company uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate and currency swaps, forward
contracts, options and futures in order to reduce its exposure to market risks from changes in interest rates,
foreign exchange rates, the price of the Company’s shares, the price of energy, as well as to impact future cash
flows and/or as a financing alternative. Some financial instruments have been designated as hedges of the
Company’s cost, debt or equity and their economic effects are recognized as part of the cost of sales,
comprehensive financing result or in stockholders’ equity, according to their designation. Premiums paid or
received on derivative instruments are deferred and amortized to the income statement or stockholders’ equity,
according to their designation, over the life of the underlying hedged instrument or immediately when they are
settled.
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Equity derivatives on the Company’s common stock are recorded as equity instruments and their results are
recognized in stockholders’ equity at settlement. At maturity, these contracts provide for physical or net cash
settlement at the Company’s option.

Foreign currency forward instruments that have been designated as, and are effective as, a hedge of the
Company’s net investments in foreign subsidiaries are recorded at their estimate fair value in the balance sheets.
The realized or unrealized gains or losses are recognized in stockholders’ equity as part of the foreign currency
translation result.

The economic effects of interest rate swaps and/or foreign currency swaps negotiated over existing specific
financing transactions are recognized in the balance sheets as part of the specific financing, and in the income
statements within the financial expense, as part of the corresponding effective interest rate, and the currency
exchange effects as part of foreign exchange result.

The results of other derivative financial instruments acquired as part of a financial or business strategy are
accounted at settlement in the results of operations as financial income or expense.

0O) REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recorded upon shipment of the cement and ready-mix concrete to customers.

P) CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Obligations or material losses, related to contingencies and commitments, are recognized when present
obligations exist, as a result of past events, it is probable that the effects will materialize and there are reasonable
elements for quantification. If there are no reasonable elements for quantification, they are included as a
disclosure in the notes to the financial statements. The Company does not recognize contingent revenues, income
or assets.

Q) USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Mexican GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.

R) CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

The Company sells its products primarily to distributors in the construction industry, with no specific
geographic concentration within the countries in which the Company operates. No single customer accounted for
a significant amount of the Company’s sales and there were no significant account receivables from a single
customer at December 31, 1999 and 2000. The Company performs evaluations of its customers’ credit histories
and establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon the credit risk of specific customers and historical
trends. In addition, there is no concentration of suppliers from the purchase of raw material.

S) RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain amounts reported in the notes to the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 1998 and
1999 have been reclassified to conform to the December 31, 2000 presentation.
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)
3. OTHER RECEIVABLES

Other current receivables consist of:

(Unaudited)
December 31, June 30,
1999 2000 2001
NOD-trade rECeiVADIES. .cvuviiviirreiceieiccrriee et senbrer e e seaees Ps1,523,238 Ps1,797,506 1,925,066
Refundable INCOME tAX .. ..iiiiiiiiiiieiie ettt s ree s seveseeteee s 384,632 231,084 824,247
Other refundable taXes .....ccccceiiiiiiierceceerre et sees 306,927 72,694 28,784

Ps2,214,797 Ps2,101,284 2,778,097

As of December 31, 1999, 2000, and June 30, 2001 (unaudited) non-trade receivables primarily consist of
interest receivable, notes receivable, advances to employees for travel expenses, Joans made to employees and
receivables from the sale of assets.

4. INVENTORIES

Inventories are summarized as follows:

{(Unaudited)

December 31, June 30,

1999 2000 2001

(Unaudited)
Finished g00dS ..o Ps 737,732 Ps1,878,603 1,923,922
WOTK-I-PIOCESS ...overeniriniiiit sttt 581,042 840,233 572,932
RAW MALEIIALS .oevereeeecree ettt et e et e ebe e sabe s sens s re e saras 509,392 704,900 695,923
Supplies and SPAre PAItS ........ccoeereeriererrieriereerenieniisre e sreeie e reesres 2,728,878 2,818,099 2734919
Advances t0 SUPPHIETS ......cvviininiiiei e 414,538 193,959 400,935
INVENTOLY N ELANSIE ..veoveirueeierieereererieeteneseineieereeraereeressesrasiaesnessasesssessenses 116,724 148,636 136,870
Real estate held for SAle... .o 147,195 91,887 96,528

Ps5,235,501 Ps6,676,317 6,562,029

As of December 31, 1999, 2000, and June 30, 2001 (unaudited) real estate held for sale consisted of
undeveloped land in different tourist locations in Mexico, originally acquired by the Company for tourism
projects.

In June 2000, the Company sold real estate in Puerto Vallarta, Mexico for Ps28,250, resulting a net loss of
Ps(24,734), which was included in other expenses, net.

5. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Other current assets include Ps127,582, and Ps101,107, and Ps206,904, as of December 31, 1999, and 2000
and June 30, 2001 (unaudited), respectively, of non-cement related assets which are intended to be sold in the
short-term, and that are stated at their estimated realizable value. These assets include securities and assets for
lines of business other than the Company’s cement business, mainly originated from (i) non-cement related assets
acquired in the purchase of international subsidiaries, and (ii) assets held for sale including land and buildings
received from customers as payment of trade receivables.

During 1999, the Company recognized in other expenses, net, a loss of approximately Ps195.7 million, from
the partial sale of an uncompleted real estate project in Spain and a subsequent impairment provision of this
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asset, which at the time of sale had a book value of approximately Ps416.9 million. The remaining book value for

this asset was combined with the Companyis subsidiary in Spain and is presented under property, machinery and
equipment.

6. INVESTMENTS AND NONCURRENT RECEIVABLES

A) INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

Investments in shares of subsidiaries and affiliated companies are accounted for by the equity method,
which considers the results of operation and the stockholders’ equity of the investees. Investment in subsidiaries
and affiliated companies are summarized as follows:

(Unaudited)
December 31, June 30,
1999 2000 2001
Contribution or book value at acquisition date.............ccoccoeevrecrrerienns Ps4,221,835 Ps3,432,300 Ps3,340,757
Equity in income and other changes in stockholders’ equity of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies .......c.cccceeeinvccrercirinceccnenee. 1,570,280 1,529,588 1,538,743

Ps5,792,115 Ps4,961,888 Ps4,879,500

Investment held by subsidiaries in the Parent Company, amounting to Ps5,995,432 (113,625,709 CPO’s and
3,663,615 warrants) and Ps4,977,904 (147,777,454 CPO’s and 3,361,585 warrants) as of December 31, 1999 and
2000, respectively, and Ps7,381,971 (153,053,342 CPOs and 1,791,695 warrants) as of June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
are offset against majority interest stockholders’ equity in the accompanying financial statements. In 1999, as
part of a hedge transaction (see note 13A), a total of 105 million CPO’s held by subsidiaries in the Parent
Company were sold.

The Company’s principal acquisitions and divestitures during 1999, 2000 and for the first six months ended
June 30, 2001 (unaudited) are the following:

I.  In May 2001, the Company acquired, through a 77%-owned subsidiary, CEMEX Asia Holdings Ltd.
(CAH), a 100% of the economic rights in Saraburi Cement Company (*‘‘Saraburi’’), a Thai cement
producer, for approximately U.S.$73 million. During the second quarter of 2001, the Company has
consolidated Saraburi’s balance sheet and the results of operations for the two-month period ended
June 30, 2001 (unaudited).

II.  On October 5, 2000, through its indirect subsidiary CENA Acquisition Corp. (“CENA”), the Company
began a public tender offer to purchase the outstanding shares of Southdown, Inc. (*Southdown™), at
the cash offer price of U.S.$73.00 per share. On November 6, 2000, the Company successfully
completed its tender offer and accepted for purchase and payment 33,023,207 shares of the issued and
outstanding stock of Southdown, representing approximately 91.7% of the total outstanding shares. On
November 16, 2000, CENA merged into Southdown. As a result of the merger, any outstanding shares
of Southdown’s common stock not tendered for payment in the offer, by operation of law, were
converted into the right to receive U.S.$73.00 per share in cash, resulting in the Company owning
100% of the outstanding shares of the merged entity. The amount paid for Southdown shares was
approximately U.S.$2,628.3 million (Ps24,478 million), representing the purchase of the 91.7% and the
payment obligation arising from the remaining shares not tendered in the offer. As of December 31,
2000, the consolidated financial statements include the balance sheet of Southdown as of December 31,
2000 and its results of operations for the two-month period ended December 31, 2000.
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In October 2000, as part of the capitalization agreements with institutional investors in Asia, entered
into during 1999 to co-invest in Cemex Asia Holdings Ltd. (“CAH”™), a capital contribution of
approximately U.S.$324 million (Ps3,017 million) was made to CAH. These funds were utilized by
CAH principally to acquire from a subsidiary of the Company its 25.53% equity interest in PT Semen
Gresik (persero), Tbk. (“Gresik™), an Indonesian cement company, as well as other cement assets in
Asia. The equity interest of Gresik was originally acquired during 1999 and 1998 for approximately
U.S.$240.6 million. As a result of this transaction, the indirect participation of the Company in Gresik
through CAH decreased to approximately 19.76%.

During 1999, minority investors had contributed capital to CAH for approximately U.S.$142.9 million,
and the Company, through its subsidiaries, contributed to CAH its economic benefit participation of its
subsidiaries in the Philippines. Rizal Cement Inc. (“Rizal”), acquired during 1998 and 1997 for
approximately U.S.$223 million, representing 70% of Rizal’s economic benefits, and APO Cement
Corporation (“APQ"), acquired on February 1999 for approximately U.S.$400 million, representing 99.9%
of APO’s economic benefits. As a result of the minority investors’ contributions to CAH during 2000 and
1999, the indirect participation of the Company in the economic benefits of Rizal and APO decreased to
54.2% and 77.3%, respectively. As of December 31, 1999, the consolidated financial statements of the
Company included the balance sheet and results of APO for the year ended December 31, 1999.

In June 2000, the Company sold to Marriott International, for a total amount of U.S.$113 million,
properties in the tourism industry including its 100% equity interest in the Marriott Casa Magna hotels
in Cancun and Puerto Vallarta, resulting in a net loss of approximately Ps61.4 million, representing the
difference between the price received and the book value of these assets, which was recorded in other
expenses, net. As of December 31, 2000, the consolidated income statements of the Company include
the hotels’ results of operations for the five-month period ended May 31, 2000.

In June 2000, through the exercise of a call option agreement, the Company acquired a 13% equity
interest in Assiut Cement Company (“Assiut”), a subsidiary of the Company in Egypt. In November
1999, the Company acquired from the Egyptian government a 77% equity interest in Assiut for
approximately U.S.$318.8 million. In November 2000, an additional 2.9% equity interest was acquired
from Assiut’s employees, increasing the Company’s equity interest to 92.9%. The transactions carried
out during 2000 were for a total of approximately U.S.$66.8 million (Ps621.9 million). As of
December 31, 1999, the consolidated financial statements of the Company included the balance sheet
of Assiut as of November 30, 1999, and the results of operations for the one-month period ended
November 30, 1999.

In September 1999, through a public tender offer, a subsidiary of the Company acquired 79.5% of the
outstanding shares of Cementos del Pacifico, S.A. (“Cempasa”), a Costa Rican cement producer, for
approximately U.S.$72 million. As a result, the equity interest of the Company in Cempasa increased
to 95.3%. As of December 31, 1999, the consolidated financial statements of the Company, included
the balance sheet of Cempasa as of December 31, 1999, and its results of operations for its three-month
period ended December 31, 1999.

VIIL. In June 1999, the Company acquired an 11.92% equity interest in Cementos Bio Bio, S.A., Chile’s

largest cement producer. The total of this transaction amounted to approximately U.S.$34 million.
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Certain balance sheet and income statement condensed financial information of the companies acquired
during 1999 and 2000 is presented on a stand-alone basis. The financial information was consolidated in the
Companyis financial statements in the year of acquisition. The information is presented below:

2000 1999 1999 1999

Southdown Assiut Cempasa APO
TOLAl @SSELS oveveervirnrivereerecrestbesresrr s reetresaeebresaeesvenens Ps34,842,233  Ps4,033,386 Ps630,880 Ps3,550,553
Total Habilities ..........ccocvveiviivrerieenceer e 20,421,273 2,687,008 251,957 1,169,959
Stockholders’ equIty.......ccooevccrceinricrerenicniriesercreenen 14,420,960 1,346,378 378,923 2,380,594
SALES oottt e ere e etn s cenr e sar s Ps1,569,119 Psi36,411  Ps90,351 Ps611,331
Operating INCOME .........covvrirere ittt eee 239,568 15,249 19,913 110,041
Net InCOmME (JOSS) cevoiurireeeiee ettt (78,129) (7,133) (17,564) 72,539

As of December 31, 1999 and 2000, the main affiliated companies, the percentage of equity interest held by
their direct holding company, as well as the investment accounted for under the equity method was as follows:

% of
equity interest 1999 2000
PT Semen Gresik (persero), ThK......ccocoeiviiiinceeen 25.5 Ps2,690,639 Ps2,049,782
Control Administrativo Mexicano, S.A. de C. V..o 49.0 1,317,107 1,083,810
Cementos Bio BI0, S.A. oottt 11.9 291,403 301,557

In addition, the Company participates as investor in companies engaged in the incubation and development
of Internet projects in Latin America, through a commitment to invest in PuntoCom Holdings and PuntoCom
Investments, for approximately U.S.$20 and U.S.$30 million, respectively.

B) LONG-TERM ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

As of December 31, 1999 and 2000, the caption other investments in the balance sheets includes marketable
securities available for sale, which the Company has no intention of selling in the short-term.

On May 22, 2001, pursuant to Citigroup’s public tender offer launched in Mexico for the outstanding shares
of Grupo Financiero Banamex-Accival (“Banacci”), the Company announced its intention to participate in such
public tender offer with its Banacci shares, held as available for sale securities at December 31, 2000, according
to its terms and conditions. Consequently, at June 30, 2001, this investment has been reclassified to Cash and
Temporary Investments in the amount of approximately U.S$171.3 million, and a one-time gain of
approximately U.S$131 million has been recognized during the second quarter of 2001, of which approximately
U.S$61 million correspond to the reversal of unrealized holding gains accrued in equity (unaudited).

In addition, in relation to the equity forward contracts on the Company’s own shares, there are advance
payments against the final price of certain contracts that will be liquidated at maturity for an approximate amount
of Ps487,148 in 1999 and Ps1,238,602 in 2000 (see note 13A).

7. PROPERTIES, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT

During 1999, based on future sales projections and to avoid excess production, the Company decided to
cease operations in 4 cement assets located in Mexico and Colombia, as well as partially close 4 other cement
assets located in the same countries. As a result, the Company estimated that the expected cash flows to be
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generated by such assets would not be sufficient to recover their book value; therefore, an impairment provision
of approximately Ps627.7 million was determined, and is reflected in the consolidated income statement in other
net expenses. As of December 31, 2000, the assets subject to impairment described above are valued at their
estimated realizable value, net of the expenses estimated for their disposal, and their depreciation has been
suspended. The remaining book value of these assets is approximately Ps301.9 million and it is the Company’s
intention to dispose of those that were completely closed. The impact of having suspended depreciation of these
assets on 1999 and 2000 results was approximately Ps29.9 million and Ps32.9 million, respectively.

The Company continues with its assessment process of its subsidiaries’ fixed assets; therefore, the
possibility of future provisions for impairment of assets exists.

In 1998, the Company sold a cement plant and its related assets of its Spanish subsidiary, which included
the ready-mix conerete, mortar and aggregate operations, for approximately U.S.$260 million (Ps2,553 million),
resulting in a gain in the consolidated income statement of approximately Ps322.5 million.

8. DEFERRED CHARGES

Deferred charges are summarized as follows:

December 31, (Unaudited)
June 30,
1999 2000 2001
Excess of cost over book value of subsidiaries and affiliated
COMPANIES ACQUITED .....erveiniiriiiicrcie e e e e . Ps24,116,464 35,430,869 37,086,244
Terminal installation costs and other intangibles ........c.ccccovvieenieccnninnn 58,577 78,195 11,092
Deferred financing COSIS....ccoiveiviriiiierie ittt 527,735 934,598 631,771
Deferred INCOME tAXES ....coiiiiiiiieieeieeeee e et eeeee e e et eeeeereeeeeeeas — 1,806,661 1,385,941
OHEIS .otetiiiieeie et et steeere ettt b e ereetseaers b es b easseasae e s essaesnesssanssentnrerssnsnen 3,402,261 4,224005 5,893,724
Accumulated AMOITIZATION ....covvvivereerrireereerre it sereereresseaeeseseseosensens (5,049,686) (6,129,856) (7,689,150)

Ps23,055,351 36,344,472 37,319,622

As of December 31, 1999 and 2000, as a result of the acquisitions made by the Company (see note 6),
goodwill increased approximately U.S.$249 million (Ps2,346 million) and U.S.$1,132 million (Ps10,566
million), respectively, in relation to the prior year.

9. SHORT-TERM BANK LOANS AND NOTES PAYABLE

Short-term debt is summarized by currency as of December 31, 1999 and 2000, as follows:

Consolidated 1999 Rate - 2000 Rate
DOHAIS ..o Ps7,750,797 5.4% - 10.8% Ps18,018,188 5.5%-9.5%
BULOS ...ttt 1,056,376 3.5%-4.1% 9,042,525 54%-~-6.2%
Egyptian Pounds........ccecneeenverrnrnencoreninene 667,809 10.5% 396,361 11.4%
Philippine Pesos ......c.cccceeeevnrricninenerenereareens 224,612 13.0%-157% 57,863 16.8%
Other CUITENCIES ..ccovevveverireereeeereeceererreere e 5,388 19.8% 62,147 12.8% - 19.9%
Ps9,704,982 Ps27,577,584
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As of December 31, 2000, short-term dollar denominated debt includes, among others, Ps4,236,595 of
commercial paper programs, Ps2,514,023 of Euro-Notes and Ps5,121,159 of a bridge loan related to
Southdown’s acquisition. Likewise, Euro denominated debt includes Ps8,749,491 of a bridge loan acquired for

the liquidation of a syndicated loan.

10. LONG-TERM BANK LOANS AND NOTES PAYABLE

The consolidated long-term debt as of December 31, 1999 and 2000, is summarized as follows:

1999 Rate 2000 Rate
A) Bank Loans
1. Syndicated loans in foreign currency, due from
2001 10 2006 ....cvoirieieeierecceeee et Ps13,328960 4.1%-9.5% Ps 8,667,535 7.4%-8.2%
2. Bank loans in foreign currency, due from 2001
10 2007 oo e 4,742,590 3.5%-15.7% 3,281,676 5.4%-16.8%
3. Revolving line of credit in foreign currency, due
2000 .ottt e e neas 3,768,784 7.1% — —
21,840,334 11,949,211
B) Notes Payable
4. Euro medium-term Notes in foreign currency,
due from 2001 t0 2006.........coocvverienieenecnierenaes 13,988,013 8.5%-12.8% 14,001,096 3.2%-12.8%
5. Commercial paper in foreign currency with
revolving maturities every one or two years ........ 1,573,468 7.3% — —
6. Medium-term Notes programs, due from 2001
10 2007 .ot e 775,427 8.4% 2,074,371 2.7%-8.4%
7. Other notes payable in foreign currency, due
from 2001 t0 2009 .....cocovmvirrevrerrecmriincraee e 801,886 7.1%-8.9% 1,271,258 4.8%-11.5%
17,138,794 17,346,725
38,979,128 29,295,936
Current MatUIIties .. ...ccceeveeeiviiinieeecrreeres e reseesreeens (7,505,027) (4,071,185)

Ps31,474,101

Ps25,224,751

1. Syndicated loans denominated in foreign currency had a weighted average floating interest rate of 6.2% in
1999 and 7.9% in 2000. These loans had a weighted average spread based on London Interbank Offering
Rate (“LIBOR”) of 98 basis points (“bps”) in 1999 and 134 bps in 2000.

2. Bank loans denominated in foreign currency, of which 48% in 1999 and 94% in 2000 were floating rate
with a weighted average interest rate of 5.4% and 6.5%, respectively. These loans had a weighted average

spread based on LIBOR of 45 bps in 1999 and 71 bps in 2000.

3. Revolving line of credit in foreign currency with an average floating rate of 7.1% in 1999. This loan had a
spread based on LIBOR of 125 bps. This line of credit was paid in 2000.
4. Euro medium-term Notes programs denominated in foreign currency with a weighed average fixed rate of

10.3% in 1999 and 8% in 2000.

5. Commercial paper programs denominated in foreign currency with revolving maturities every one or two
years with a weighted average floating interest rate of 7.3% in 1999. These loans had a spread based on

LIBOR of 116 bps in 1999.

6. Medium-term notes programs and Yankee Notes, with a weighted fixed rate of 8.375% in 1999 and 3.4% in

2000.

7. Other notes payable denominated in foreign currency of Wthh Ps123,020 in 1999 and Ps75,476 in 2000
' were floating rate with a weighted average interest rate of 5.9% and 7.6%, respectively. These loans had a
weighted average spread based on LIBOR of 16 bps in 1999 and 131 bps in 2000, respectively. The
remaining Ps678,866 in 1999 and Ps1,195,780 in 2000 were fixed rate wuh a weighted average interest rate

of 6.4% and 6.3%, respectively.
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Long-term debt is summarized by currency as of December 31, 1999 and 2000, as follows:

December 31,

1999 2000
DIOMHAIS....cveiviiiiiieeicteiete e ere e ereereseae e e sse s ssaessersebaebaese s e seeseassessensesasrsnrentessansaseans Ps24,886,588 Ps16,674,146
JAPANESE YEM ..ooiiiiiiiiicct e e e e — 7,099,473
Egyptian POUNAS ..c.ooveriiiiieici ettt see e 1,545,681 999,351
FEUIOS 1cvtiicrreeeiierieiieieneeri e e ereessesaasaassenseesresasaeseessessssaessesesesssarnesnessesssssseersessessansons 4,807,880 428,708
PhiliPDINE PESOS ...vveervieereeiirieriiiiiicee ettt st sttt ne s ea et e rene s e ebenee st e ne e eaesaens 195,582 23,073
COlOMDBIAN PESOS ...cveiuriireerieeriiiti ettt et et s ieesaesant st eeerenesraessenessesasnanteens 38,370 —

Ps31,474,101 Ps25,224,751

The maturities of long-term debt as of December 31, 2000 are as follows:

Total
2002 ettt et e e b et b e e sab b e ke et s aesbaesanr e s e et o tbenaetesenta et s estrtseteaentesen Ps 4,583,294
2003 e et et ettt et e s taeste e s b e e b e s ae At henbneie st e e s eabet s et ae e raasenreeshesenat e tnenenneens 6,656,579
200 o et r bt et e b et ettt e r s et e r e s b e h bt a et st bR e e e este s ntan s b e e tesantes saraanen et esaentesen 6,558,014
200 ettt e eeee e eteree e eh b oo ts s ebat e tsear e aRaseeat bt e e tnr e e r s e e i et e sh et o taaenbee e bs e be e tnreererans 1,232,039
2000 ANA ThETEATIET ....vvviiie et ee et ettt e s aa e s esbes s et e essosanbetas st stabeesenneneesanssessasbesrenbeesssranaes 6,194,825
Ps25,224,751

During 2000, the Company entered into Cross Currency Swap contracts to convert the interest rate and the
underlying amount of U.S.$808.2 million (Ps7,322 million) of debt contracted in 2000, to the Japanese Yen.
From this amount, U.S.$208.2 million (Ps1,886 million) and U.S.$600 million (Ps5,436 million) were originally
contracted in pesos and dollars, respectively. The above is part of a strategy oriented to balance the currencies in
which debt is denominated with those of the countries were cash flows are generated, and the Company considers
that the Japanese Yen has a direct relation with Southeast Asia’s currencies, a region in which Cemex has
operations. The results of these derivative instruments are recognized in the balance sheet as part of long-term
debt, and in the income statement as part of the financial expense and the foreign exchange result, according to
its components. As of June 30, 2001, the notional amount of these contracts was U.S.$1,211.8 million and had an
approximated fair market value gain of U.S.$150.4 million (unaudited).

As of December 31, 1999 and 2000, the Company had negotiated interest rate swaps for up to U.S5.$450
million (Ps4,077 million), exchanging fixed for floating rate. Additionally, in 1999 the Company had negotiated
interest rate collars for 2,500 million pesetas (Ps130.1 million) and forward range swaps contracts for up to
U.S5.380 million (Ps724.8 million), in relation to debt negotiated at floating rates, which were terminated in 2000.
The Company holds these hedge and derivative instruments as part of its strategy to reduce the financial cost.
The results of these instruments are periodically recognized as part of the interest expense. As of June 30, 2001,
the notional amount of these contacts was U.S.$1,161 million and had an approximated fair market value loss of
U.S.$29.9 miltion (unaudited).

In addition, in December 2000, the Company sold to financial institutions, call options to exchange floating
for fixed interest rate for a notional amount of U.S.$800 million (Ps7,248 million), receiving a premium for the
sale of the call options of approximately U.S.$11 million (Ps99.7 million). These options have different
maturities between December 2001 and June 2002, and grant the counterparties the option to elect at maturity
and on market conditions, to receive from the Company interest fixed rates and pay the Company interest at
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variable rate for a five year period starting on the exchange date. Currently, the Company can not predict if
market conditions prevailing at maturity of these options would cause the counterparties to exercise them. As of
June 30, 2001, the notional amount of these contracts was US$1,605.9 million and had approximated fair market
value loss at U.S.$11.8 million (unaudited). :

As of December 31, 2000, the Company!s maturity dates, interest rates being hedged or exchanged, current
interest rates and estimated market value related to interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps are as follows:

Interest
rate Effective  Estimated
hedged or  interest market
Maturity date exchanged rate value
Interest rate swaps
Debt denominated in Dollars (U.S.$250 million) ................... June 2002 9.15% 10.28% Ps 14,893
Debt denominated in Dollars (U.S.$200 million) ................... October 2009 9.63% 9.4% 43,423
58,316
Cross currency swaps
Pesos to Yen (Ps1,004 million) .......ccocveeenvereninvercmncincneincnnns June 2005 8.65% 2.95% 30,699
Pesos to Yen (Ps1,000 million) .......ococveeeiciniin e December 2005 15.6% 2.68% (25,688)
Dollars to Yen (U.S.$100 million) .....cccccveeiimvinninecrincnecnnan June 2003 9.4% 5.18% 29,715
Dollars to Yen (U.S.$500 million) .....ccceecveniniinniecneiieninnennn. July 2003 8.75% 3.15% 437,767
472,493

Ps530,809

As of December 31, 1999, the estimated market value of the existing interest rate swaps showed a loss of
approximately Ps113,865.

The estimated market values of derivative instruments used for the exchange of interest rates and/or
currencies, will fluctuate over time and will be determined by the market future pricing of the rates and
currencies. These values should not be viewed in isolation, but rather in relation to the market values of the
underlying transactions, and as part of the overall Company exposure to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates. The notional amounts of derivative instruments do not necessarily represent amounts exchanged
by the parties and, consequently, there is no direct measure of the Company’s exposure for the use of these
derivatives. The amounts exchanged are calculated on the basis of the notional amounts and the other items
included in the derivatives instruments.
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As of December 31, 2000, the Company and its subsidiaries have the following lines of credit, both
committed and subject to the banks’ availability, at annual interest rates ranging from 3.2% to 12.8%, in
accordance with the negotiated currency:

Line of Credit Available

European commercial paper (U.S.$600 million).........ccccvrericririnnninrreericinrnnennnas Ps 5,586,719 —
Medium-term Notes programs (U.S.$520 million}...cccoocvirinencnenrceenrerenncnceesnnans 4839500 2,909,545
Euro medium-term Notes (U.S.$450 million) ........ccoooeiveeiieceiieee e, 4,190,039 1,676,016
Short-term lines of credit (U.S.$300 million) ......coooeerveoeeeieeee e, 2,793,359 2,607,135
U.S. commercial paper (U.S.3250 million) ....c.cccoeerierrmeneinneeenimencecmreeeseaeeeenns 2,327,799 325,892
Current line of credit (U.S.$250 MILON) ....ovivrieiiciireii ettt e rssan e 2,327,799 158,290
Lines of credit of foreign subsSidiaries......c..ocvvevieeeneninencnenicnren e 5,708,858 4,685,913
Other lines of credit from foreign banks ..........cccevevvuieervrniniiincncree s 4,108,580 1,850,520
Other lines of credit from Mexican DanKS ........oovccvvevvvereeieieeeccereereveereesseteseeseesearassan 1,582,903 931,119

Ps33,465,556 15,144,430

As of December 31, 1999 and 2000, CEMEX México, S.A. de C.V. and Empresas Tolteca de México, S.A.
de C.V. had jointly, fully and unconditionally guaranteed indebtedness of the Company for an aggregate amount
of U.S.$2,090 million and U.S.$1,770 million, respectively. The combined summarized financial information of
these guarantors as of December 31, 1999 and 2000 are as follows:

1999 2000
AALSSLS .t veretee e et e sttt ettt b et e r e R e b et e eEere Rt eE SRt ere et e bt et et en Ps49,153,357 44,873,752
LIADIIIES 1o e oottt sttt aeresae e 30,812,953 33,039,126
StOCKROIAEIS” EQUILY ..ottt s e et mr et sa e e s 18,340,404 11,834,626
INEU SALES . ...eeeeeeeieeeeee et ee ettt e e ettt ae e e e aatessaanstesas s e s esstnnseasasteeasreeesessessessaabensssessessesasns Ps20,320,497 20,619,104
OPErating INCOIME ....eveiiieetiteerreirtre e e et ss e e st reeseesea e na s s eabe e saesaesenenne 9,319,126 9,998,302
INEE INCOIMIE. 1.ttt ettt st see et bbb stb s sb s er et sab b et eberennaesureerens 6,585,136 2,915,520

In the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 1999, there were short-term debt transactions amounting
to U.S.$226 million, classified as long-term debt, due to the ability and intention of the Company to refinance
such indebtedness with the available amounts of the committed long-term lines of credit. In addition, there were
cash deposits established in trusts amounting to U.S.$120 million (Ps1,130.6 million), committed to repay certain
short-term and long-term indebtedness, which have been offset for presentation purposes. Of this amount,
U.S.$30 million was short-term and U.S.$90 million was long-term, deposited to partially cover the Yankee
Notes’ purchase offer which occurred in January 2000.

Certain credit agreements are guaranteed by the Company and/or some of its subsidiaries, and contain
restrictive covenants that limit the sale of assets, maintenance of controlling interest on certain subsidiaries, limit
the establishment of liens, and require the Company to comply with certain financial ratios. When a default event

“has occurred, the Company has obtained the respective waivers.
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11. PENSION PLANS, SENIORITY PREMIUM AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

The following table presents the net periodic cost of pension plans, seniority premium and other post-
retirement benefits, as of December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 (see note 2J), and are as follows:

1998 1999 2000
Components of net periodic cost:
BIVICE COSE . ereneeeeiieiirtieeirereiresereesesbeesensaesaenssre st sbessessabanesessrastessssnsessossanes Ps153,091 169,121 206,160
IO EIESE COSE.caneeeiie ittt et te e e e et e eeseebeesessar e s ssabeseesestntaeessabaesssasrennenns 125,668 112,590 145,647
Actuarial return on plan aSSELS ...t e e (5,548) (23,323) (97,721)
Amortization of prior service cost, changes in assumptions and experience
AAJUSHIIEIIES «...e.veeiveeeseteec e eteeeeseetsecree e enesesesaessasestessaesessasassannsesesensenes 21,886 28,178 25,873

Ps295,097 286,566 279,959

The following table represents the reconciliation of the present value of postretirement benefit obligations
and the funded status (see note 2J), including the acquired obligations as a result of the Southdown acquisition
(see note 6) as of December 31, 1999 and 2000:

1999 2000

Change in benefit obligation:

Projected benefit obligation (“PBO”) at beginning of year ..................... Ps1,308,758 1,640,404
SEIVICE COSturrrviiiiireriiicitreierisrerseseereesresrentsseenisneeseessressssresnssessssssssaessonnssenns 169,121 206,161
INEETESE COSL..uvvverererrrrenieiienretieretneirrereseresese et s b st s saseesess 112,590 145,647
AMENAMENES..c..eiiiriiei it ene e 1,028 —
Actuarial reSUlt ......coovriiee e e 79,141 350,413
ACUISILIONS 1..e ittt ene s sncne e ereeseseseans 3,874 2,097,297
Foreign exchange fluctuations and inflation adjustments .........c.cccoccnene. 46,963 51,717
Benefits Paid.....ccoooeciiciiiiiinicn e e (81,071) (156,089)

Projected benefit obligation (“PBO”) at end of year........ccoooevevccercnneciennens 1,640,404 4,335,550

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of Year ............cooeeeveviereieeeceneeeieee 182,359 718,078
Actuarial return On plam aSSELS ......ccocecererercniriiiieneere e ereeee e 23,323 97,720
Actuarial differences ..o 160,173 (293,744)
ACQUISIHOMS 1 ..cveeeaierenrene e ettt et e e be s e aenesneeeennaee 793 2,629,630
Foreign exchange fluctuations and inflation adjustments ..........ccocoveneven. 24,782 70,180
Employer contribution.........cccoveicimimiiiiie e 326,648 396,657
Benefits paid from the funds ... — (28,614)

Fair value of plan assets at end of Year .......ccocovimvcvicninici e, 718,078 3,589,907

Amounts recognized in the balance sheets consist of:

FUNAEd SEAUS ...couveriniieieniie et e oot 922,326 745,643

© Unrecognized prior SEIVICE COSt......ouivmierierierieterennrereeesseeressestessmessessessesnes (607,999) (616,276)

Unrecognized net actuarial feSUILS .........ccoocoeiimiiiiiiienieseees e e 79913  (619,077)
Accrued benefit liability (prepayment) .......ccooveveeienevcenincnnirenencnene 394,240  (489,710)
Additional minimum Hability ........ccccvvrevioieienrnnereec e 129,279 802,881

Net liability recognized in the consolidated balance sheet............... Ps 523,519 313,171

The actual benefit obligation (“ABO”), as of December 31, 1999 and 2000, amounted to Ps1,355,739 and
Ps3,610,586, respectively, of which the vested portion was Ps677,119 in 1999 and Ps2,762,928 in 2000.
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Prior service cost and net actuarial results are amortized over the estimated service life of the employees
under plan benefits. The estimated service life for pension plans is between 21.2 and 26.2 years, and for seniority
premium is 11.3 years (only in Mexico).

As of December 31, 1999 and 2000, the plan assets are mainly composed of fixed return instruments and
stock of companies traded in formal stock exchanges.

The most significant assumptions used in the determination of the net periodic costs were the following:

1998 1999 2000
Range of discount rates used to reflect the obligations’ present
VAU (.ot cecetr et tesenaee 4.5%-6.0% 4.5%-6.0% 3.5%-7.8%
Rate of retarn on plan asSets .......cceveeercrieceeiincnennnieneeseneons 7% 6% 8%

The Company applies real rates (nominal rates discounted for inflation) in the actuarial assumptions used to
determine the pension plan and seniority premium benefits. With the use of real rates, there is a decrease in the
difference between the ABO and the PBO. As a result of the use of real rates, the initial valuation in Mexico as of
January 1, 1998, and according to GAAP, the Company recognized a minimum liability against an intangible
asset, which as of December 31, 1999 and 2000 were Ps129,279 and Ps616,276, respectively, and a stockholders’
equity reduction in 2000 of Ps186,604.

As of June 30, 2001, deferred charges include a prepaid pension (approximately Ps923 million) of the
Company’s subsidiary in the United States (unaudited), which at December 31, 2000, was netted against the net
pension liability.

12. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

A) Capital Stock
The authorized capital stock of the Company as of December 31, 2000 is as follows:

Series A(1) Series B(2)
Subscribed and paid Shares ......c..ccoceerrrecerencnnie e e 3,074913,688 1,537,456,844
Treasury Shares(3) ..c..voeeeeece e ertereeres et eete e ssse e e ve et saebeeanns 188,134,004 94,067,002
Unissued shares authorized for Executive Stock Option Plans ............. 128,519,150 64,259,575

3,391,566,842 1,695,783,421

—

Series “A” or Mexican shares represent at least 64% of capital stock.
2 Series “B” or free subscription shares represent at most 36% of capital stock.
3 Includes the acquisition of shares under repurchase program.

Of the total amount of shares, 3,267,000,000 correspond to the fixed portion and 1,820,350,263 correspond
to the variable portion.

During 2000, at the annual shareholders’ meeting, a dividend program was established through which
shareholders approved a dividend of Ps0.50 (nominal amount) per share. Instead of receiving the dividend in
cash, shareholders were entitled to elect to receive a stock dividend per share of Ps0.50 of additional shares at a
price of Ps10.73 (nominal amount) per additional share. As a result of the program, a total of 118,037,996 series
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“A” shares and 59,018,998 series “B” shares were issued, generating an additional paid-in capital of Ps2,024,582,
and an aggregate of Ps253 million was paid in cash.

During 2001, at the annual shareholders’ meeting, a dividend program was established through which
shareholders approved a dividend of Ps0.60 (nominal amount) per share. Instead of receiving the dividend in
cash, shareholders were entitled to elect to receive a stock dividend per share of Ps0.59 of additional shares at a
price of Ps38.16 (nominal amount) per additional share. As a result of the program, a total of 140,749,888 series
“A” shares and 70,374,944 series “B” shares were issued, generating an additional paid-in capital of Ps2,683,105,
and an aggregate of Ps82 million was paid in cash (unaudited).

On September 15, 2000, the Company’s board of directors authorized a stock repurchase program through
the Mexican Stock Exchange (“MSE™), for up to U.S.$500 million. This program will be active, in accordance
with the procedures established by the Banking and Exchange National Commission, from October 2000 to
December 2001. The program will be funded with resources from the repurchase reserve. As of December 31,
2000, under this program, a total of 3,086,000 CPO’s have been acquired and cancelled, resulting in a reduction
in the capital stock and the repurchase reserve of Ps105 and Ps117,251, respectively.

B) EXECUTIVE STOCK OPTION PLAN

The Company has adopted an Executive Stock Option Plan (“ESOP”) for shares of the variable portion of
the capital stock. Through this program, the Company grants to eligible executives, designated by a Technical
Committee, stock option rights to subscribe up to 72,100,000 new CPO’s, subject to antidilution adjustments. As
of December 31, 1999 and 2000, the stock option balances are as follows:

1999 2000
Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
CPO’s price* CPO’s price*
Granted ..........oovviciiiietieerere e cee st s e s eeebeesae e neas 47,000,318 Ps33.79 64,364,683 Ps34.83
Canceled ..o et (55,608) 41.83 (55,608) 41383
EXEICISEd.....oiiiiviiiiiiiiii et rree e (5,924,788) 2535 (7,840,425) 27.01
OUSIANAING ...vvevreiiriererrereret ettt e 41,019,922 56,468,650

*  Weighted average exercise price per CPO

The option rights may be exercised up to 25% of the total number of options during the first four years after
having been granted. The option rights expire after a maximum of ten years or when the employee leaves the
Company. A portion of the options has an exercise maturity period of five years, which can be extended to ten -
years if certain conditions are met during the first five years. Under this type of program, the Company has no
obligation to recognize a liability for the amount of options.

During 1999 and 2000, the total number of options granted was 16,601,313 and 17,364,365 at a weighted
average price per CPO of Ps37.71 and Ps39.72, respectively; and the options exercised were 3,443,594 and

- 1,915,637 at a weighted average price per CPO of Ps24.46 and Ps33.96 in 1999 and 2000, respectively. The

balances of CPQO’s available for the ESOP as of December 31, 1999 and 2000 were 25,099,682 CPO’s and
7,735,317 CPQ’s, respectively. As of December 31, 2000, the outstanding options have a remaining average
exercise period of approximately 6.5 years. The CPO’s issued upon the exercise of options were paid at their
purchase price per CPO, generating an additional paid-in capital of Ps10,808, Ps98,052 and Ps48,225 in 1998,
1999 and 2000, respectively.
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The Company’s obligations under the ESOP include the issuance of CPO’s representing capital stock of the
Company on each exercise date, which will result in an increase in capital.

In addition, during 1998 and 1999, the Company established voluntary stock option plans through which
executives elected to purchase options for up to 7,293,675 ADS’s of the Company. These options are exercisable
quarterly over a period of 5 years, and have a predefined exercise price which increases quarterly in dollars,
taking into account the funding cost in the market. For the sale of the options, the Company received a premium
equivalent to a percentage of the ADS price at the beginning of the program. As of December 31, 2000, there are
options not exercised for 4,415,576 ADS’s.

C) RETAINED EARNINGS

Retained eamnings as of December 31, 2000, include Ps47,618,821 of earnings generated by subsidiaries and
affiliated companies, which may be distributed by the Company when the respective dividends are declared by

these companies. Furthermore, retained eamnings include the stock repurchase reserve in the amount of
Ps10,481,463.

Net income for the year is subject to a 5% allocation to constitute a legal reserve, until such reserve equals
one fifth of the capital stock. As of December 31, 2000, the legal reserve amounted to Ps1,221,519.

Earnings distributed as dividends in excess of tax eanings will be subject to tax as defined by the Mexican
Income Tax Law, in which case, only 65% of retained earnings may be distributed to the shareholders. Dividends
paid to national individuals or foreigners are subject to 5% income tax retention.

D) EFFECTS OF INFLATION

The effects of inflation on the majority interest stockholders’ equity as of December 31, 2000, and June 30,
2001 (unaudited) are summarized as follows:

December 31, 2000

Inflation
Historical cost adjustment Total
COMMON SLOCK ....veeeeereiirrcrereee e ernieeeressesesesssessesesservaaas Ps 51,238 3,054,114 3,105,352
Additional paid in capital ..........coeveevcrenenrerreenecereeeens 11,145,876 11,731,181 22,877,057
Deficit in equity reStatement .......c..o.ovvvevevenieereereneiseresrennes ‘ — (47,112,116) (46,112,116)
Cumulative initial deferred income tax effects ................... (4,697,947) 43,491  (4,654,456)
Retained amings .........cooveeerrireecieeiereecnrerinsesesrenniesiesenns 36,478,264 27,894,429 64,372,693
Net income Of the YEar ...c.cceevveereciiiiiiirecirienercree e e 9,395,778 (90,927) 9,304,851

June 30, 2001 (Unaudited)
Inflation

Historical cost adjustment Total
COmMMON STOCK ....cvereieceeectict e ree s see e Ps 53,642 3,054,114 3,107,756
Additional paid in capital ........ccccocevniiinnenc e 13,880,631 11,731,451 25,612,082
Deficit in equity restatement ...........ceeceercrervereenereeeneenenns — (47,641,359) (47,641,359)
Cumulative initial deferred income tax effects ................... (4,697,947) 43491 (4,654,456)
Retained armings . ..cocooveeeeerveereverirnreresinnsvecsesvnssessesesennes 43,105,889 27,841,699 70,947,588
Net income of the six-month period......c...ccccecvvericncnnnn. 6,356,791 (106,069) 6,250,722
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E) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The Company has recorded net foreign currency translation results in the stockholders’ equity amounting to
Ps2,838,344, Ps(227,121) and Ps(944,114) in 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively, and Ps1,301,59] and
Ps(2,287,319) as of June 30, 2000 and 2001 (unaudited), respectively, and are summarized as follows:

December 31, June 30, (Unaudited)
1998 1999 2000 2000 2001
Foreign currency translation adjustment............... Ps 5,822,899 (818,091) (781,332) 1,787,640 (3,143,820)
Foreign exchange gain (10s8)(1)....ccceccvemmvurernencns (2,984,555) (590,970) (162,782) (486,049) 856,501

Ps 2,838,344 (227,121) (944,114) 1,301,591 (2,287,319)

(1) Foreign exchange results from the financing identified with the acquisitions of foreign subsidiaries in
accordance with Bulletin B-15.

The foreign currency translation adjustment includes foreign exchange results from financing related to the
acquisition of foreign subsidiaries generated by the subsidiary of the Company in Spain of Ps448,784,
Ps(1,859,516) and Ps(591,046), in 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively, Ps(378,622) and Ps(72,522) as of June
2000 and 2001, (unaudited) respectively.

F) PREFERRED STOCK

In November 2000, a Dutch subsidiary of the Company issued preferred stock for an amount of U.S.$1,500
million in connection with the financing required for the Southdown acquisition (see note 6). The preferred stock
is mandatorily redeemable at the end of 18 months, and grants its holders 10% of the subsidiary’s voting rights,
as well as the right to receive a variable guaranteed preferred dividend. In accordance with the issuance terms,
the preferred stock must be redeemed for a total of U.S.$300 million, in three installments of U.S.$100 million
each, at the end of months 9, 12 and 15, and the balance at the end of month 18. As part of the shareholders’
agreements, holders of the preferred stock have the option, in certain circumstances, to subscribe additional
preferred or common shares for up to 51% of the voting interest of the subsidiary. This transaction is included as
minority interest.

In connection with the preferred stock transaction mentioned in the preceding paragraph, in June 2001, the
Company made an early redemption of preferred stock for a total of U.S.$430 million; this prepayment included
the three instaliments of U.S.$100 million each mentioned above. At June 30, 2001, the outstanding balance of
preferred stock is U.S.$1,070 million (unaudited).

In May 1998, a subsidiary of the Company in Spain issued U.S.$250 million of preferred shares at an annual
dividend rate of 9.66%. The Company has an option to repurchase the balance of the instrument on November
15, 2004, or on any other subsequent dividend payment date. Additionally, the holders of the instrument have the
right to seli the instrument to the Company on May 15, 2005. This transaction is recorded as minority interest.

G) OTHER EQUITY TRANSACTIONS

In December 1999, by means of a public offer in the MSE and the NYSE, the Company issued 105 million
warrants at a subscription cash price in pesos of Ps3.2808 per warrant. The warrants allow the holder to benefit
from the future increment in the market price of the Company’s CPO above the strike price, which originally was
U.S.$6.20 per warrant, within certain limits and subject to technical antidilution adjustments. The benefit, should
any exist, will be paid in CPO’s of the Company. The warrants were issued for a term of three years and their
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exercise is at maturity. The warrants were subscribed as American Depositary Warrants (“ADW’s”) in the
NYSE; each ADW is equivalent to 5 warrants. The premium received from the warrants issuance during 1999,
net of related expenses, was Ps244,647.

As of December 31, 1999 and 2000, there are financial transactions totaling U.S.$604.6 million (Ps5,696
million) and U.S.$100.7 million (Ps937.6 million), respectively, which include certain guarantees and that have
been offset for presentation purposes in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. These financial transactions
have been offset as follows: U.S.$500 million in 1999, for a minority interest without voting rights or dividends
rights of the subsidiary in Spain, and U.S.$104.6 and U.S.$100.7 million, in 1999 and 2000, respectively, for the
transfer of assets to a trust. Some of the contracts require certain collateral guarantees. The outstanding
transaction matures in 2007, and the Company has the option to reacquire the related assets at different dates.

As of December 31, 2000, the Company has recognized valuation effects in stockholders’ equity for
Ps711,260, related to investments available for sale (see note 2E).

13. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As of December 31, 2000, the Company has entered into various derivative financial instrument transactions
in order to reduce the risks resulting from changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates of negotiated debt
and as alternative to reduce its financial cost (see note 10). In addition, the Company had foreign exchange
derivative instruments to hedge its net investment in foreign subsidiaries, as well as equity forwards contracts to
hedge the price of its common shares and as a financing alternative. These instruments have been negotiated with
major domestic and international institutions and corporations, which have a solid financial capacity. Therefore,
the Company considers that the risk of non-compliance of the obligations agreed upon by such counterparties is
minimum. The notional amount, as well as the estimated fair value of the derivative instruments as of December
31, 1999 and 2000, is as follows:

U.S. dollars thousands

(Unaudited)

1999 2000 June 30, 2001
Notional  Estimated Notional Estimated Notional Estimated
amount  fair value amount air value amount fair value
A) Equity forward contracts .........c.ccceeneee. 828,724 © 212,340 1,088,819 (113,948) 1,154,399 142,265
B) Foreign exchange forward contracts ..... 410,000 12,423 421,000 6,826 775,000 27,068
C) Call optionS.....cevecieiererreniiiiiicnenes e 51,530 (15,791) — _— — —
D) Third party equity forwards .................. — - 62,411 14,870 98,304 (7,385)

A) As of December 31, 1999 and 2000, the Company had executed equity forward contracts related to its
outstanding common stock for a notional amount of U.S.$828.7 million and U.S.$1,088.8 million,
respectively, and as of June 30, 2001 had a notional amount of U.S.$1,154.4 million (unaudited). At
maturity, these agreements provide for physical or net cash settlement at the Company’s option, and the
gains or losses are recognized in stockholder’s equity.

The contracts described above include forwards executed in order to cover the voluntary executives’
stock option plans for up to U.S.$116 million and U.S.$105 million, in 1999 and 2000, respectively (see
note 12B). In addition, in 1999, a subsidiary of the Company, entered into forward contracts covering 105
million CPO’s and 33.8 million shares of the Company’s subsidiary in Spain, for a period of three years, to
hedge the future exercise of the warrants program transaction (see note 12G). The shares under this forward
were sold by the Company during 1999 for approximately U.S.$905.7 million, and simultaneously prepaid
toward the forward’s final price, approximately U.S.$439.9 million (Ps3,986 million). In the financial
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statements as of December 31, 1999 and 2000, the anticipated effect has been recorded related to the
liquidation of the forward for the portion corresponding to the Spanish’ subsidiary shares, due to the
prepayment and the withholding of all economic and voting rights over such shares.

B) The Company has entered into foreign exchange forward contracts in order to protect itself from variations
in foreign exchange rates. These contracts have been designated as a hedge on the Company’s net
investment in foreign subsidiaries for up to U.S.$410 million and U.S.$421 million as of December 31, 1999
and 2000, respectively, and for up to U.S.$775 million as of June 30, 2001 (unaudited). The fair value
effects arising from these instruments are recorded for as part of the transtation effect of foreign subsidiaries
(see note 12E).

C) AtDecember 31, 1999, the Company had outstanding call options on 1,229,260 of its ADS’s. The Company
exercised these call options during 2000.

D) At December 31, 2000, the Company had third party equity forward contracts for a notional amount of
U.S.$62.4 million (Ps565 million), with a fair value of U.S.$14.9 million (Ps135 million). At June 30, 2001,
the notional amount of third party equity forward contracts was U.S.$98.3 million, with a fair value of
U.S.$(7.4) million (unaudited).

The estimated fair values of derivative financial instruments used to hedge the Company’s risks will
fluctuate over time, and are based on estimated settlement costs or quoted market prices. Fair values should not
be viewed in isolation, but rather in relation to the fair values of the underlying instruments and the overail
reduction in the Company’s exposure to adverse fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and price of shares. The
notional amounts of derivatives summarized above do not necessarily represent amounts exchanged by the
parties and, therefore, are not a direct measure of the exposure of the Company though the use of its derivatives.
The amounts exchanged are calculated on the basis of the notional amounts and the other items of the
derivatives, which relate to interest rates, foreign exchange rates or other financial indexes.

14. INCOME TAX (IT), BUSINESS ASSETS TAX (BAT), EMPLOYEES’ STATUTORY PROFIT
SHARING (ESPS) AND DEFERRED INCOME TAXEs

In accordance with present tax legislation in Mexico, corporations must pay either income tax (“IT”) or
business assets tax (“BAT”") depending on which amount is greater for their operations in Mexico. Both taxes
recognize the effects of inflation, in a manner different from Mexican GAAP. Employees’ statutory profit
sharing (“ESPS”) is calculated on similar basis as IT, but without recognizing the effects of inflation.

A) IT, BAT AND ESPS

The Company and its subsidiaries in Mexico generate IT or BAT on a consolidated basis. Beginning in
1999, the determination of the consolidated IT for the Mexican companies considers 100% of holding company’s
taxable income or loss, and a maximum of 60% of the taxable income or loss of each of the subsidiaries. For the
period of 1999 and after, the taxable income of the subsidiaries that have tax loss carryforwards generated before
1999, will be included according to its equity participation at the end of the period. Therefore, the amounts of
these items included in the accompanying financial statements, with respect to the Mexican subsidiaries,
represent the consolidated result of these taxes. For ESPS purposes the amount presented is the sum of the
individual results of each company. .
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As of December 31, 1988, 1999 and 2000, IT (expense) benefit is summmarized as follows:

1998 1999 2000
CUTLTENE INCOITIE 18X co.vvevivieiveeeieraneeesiniesseeessseeesnreessassnseessnnesses Ps(1,644,108) (4,399,675) (983,591)
Deferre@ IT ...ttt ettt s e ee et — (5,752) (538,482)
Tax loss carryforwards amortized .........cccveereveverccriicerinnnnnnns 1,037,577 3,681,279 —
Effects of inflation (Note 2B).....c.ecveiecicnniineniesireee e, 152,830 79,847 51,428

Ps (453,701) (644,301) (1,470,645)

Total consolidated IT includes Ps278,543, Ps319,976 and Ps1,089,063 from foreign subsidiaries, and
Ps175,158, Ps324,325 and Ps381,582 from Mexican subsidiaries, for 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively. The
Company, as a holding company, prepares its IT and BAT returns on a consolidated basis for its operations in
Mexico, which resulted in tax benefits of Ps1,960,889 in 1998, Ps72,162 in 1999 and Ps287,031 in 2000, without
including deferred taxes.

For its operations in Mexico, the Company has accumulated IT loss carryforwards which, restated for
inflation, can be amortized against taxable income in the succeeding ten years according to Income Tax Law:

Amount of Year of
Carryforwards expiration

Year in which tax loss occurred

1005 st Ps1,623,728 2005
2000 .o e s 10,702 2010
Ps1,634,430

The Company and its subsidiaries in Mexico must generate taxable income to preserve the benefit of the tax
loss carryforwards generated beginning in 1999.

The BAT law establishes a 1.8% tax levy on assets, indexed for inflation in the case of inventory, property,
plant and equipment after deducting certain liabilities. BAT levied in excess of IT for the period may be
recovered, restated for inflation, in any of the succeeding ten years, provided that the IT incurred exceeds BAT in
such period.

The recoverable BAT as of December 31, 2000 is as follows:

Amount of Year of
Carryforwards expiration

Year in which BAT exceeded IT

1007 e b Ps148,420 2007

TOOD et bbb bbb 53,590 2009

2000 ... b 426,372 2010
Ps628,382

B) DEFERRED IT AND ESPS

Starting January 1, 2000, deferred income taxes are determined under the asset and liability method in
accordance with the new Bulletin D-4 (see note 2K). The cumulative initial deferred income tax effects derived
from the adoption of the Bulletin D-4, are recognized in stockholders’ equity under the caption “Cumulative
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initial deferred income tax effects”. The deferred income tax charged or credited to the income statement is
determined by the difference between the beginning of year balance and the year end balance of the deferred
asset or liability, and is recognized in nominal pesos.

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and
liabilities at December 31, 2000 are presented below:

Consolidated
Deferred tax assets:
Tax loss carryforwards and other tax Credits........oooveeiiniieicceninieninn e Ps 1,966,684
Accounts payable and aCCTUEd EXPENSES .....cueiuiriiririereeiiicree ettt et see e nees 247,540
Trade acCOUNS FECEIVADIES ... ...coviiriiiicrer ittt cerres s ab e s eserraeesse e ntasoeseanessanmeeeesennaneerenne s 24,350
Property, plant and QUIPIMENL ..ottt e e e benes 130,309
OLREIS .. oviicterccieieieeere ettt e s e s e e ass e be st bee s s beesesaanbeesreaesnsasanssssebenanneeessstessestennesesstrsentassebbsensnesares (137,304)
Total defEITEA tAX ASSELS .oiiccirerieiicceieieitriesceinreesrseesierteeeesteeseebbeesivsn s nsaseantssessonbrsesosneeseesmeneanns 2,231,579
Less—valuation allOWANCE ........cc.eioviiiirii ettt e s e reeneses e e be e s st e aae s e sbeeneereonss (424,918)
INEt AEfEITEA tAX ASSELS....civireiereeririersiantie st eseerieseereesaesseseeee e st sasesse e eseas s assessansearestssssensansansssstssssn 1,806,661
_Consolidated
Deferred tax liability:
Tax loss carry forwards and other tax credits.......ooceveiiiineeec e e 1,365,406
Accounts payable and acCrued EXPENSES .......coveeriiiirieirire sttt et et e 380,019
Trade aCCOUNLS FECEIVADIES ... ...ooivireiieiieceieierre e eeeeete ettt e et e sebess s seenteneese sanrsaessaensesssreeneenertaeesermeeens 34,138
OthEr INVESTIMEIILS «..vviieeviesieieiee st ceeseb e sareeessesetbeesestesbessesernsesrereessnress snsssnsasassressassereseestnsssstenens 6,468
Property, plant and eqUIPMIENT.......c.cccoviiiirmeiiiri ettt che sttt sre et (12,954,866)
Inventories (1,230,704)
Others ...cocvevveeiiercnreererieees 178,826
Total deferred tax HabIIIHIES ......ovvieeeeeieee et eee ettt ere st aene s saesesaaes (12,220,713)
LesS—valuation AHlOWANCE .......c..vi ittt et et st ee e erre et ere et saee et e snesaeanns (146,262)
INet deferTed taX TADIIIHES ...veevvcre i ettt sree s e stassessesonbaesrteesesessessaneesssssaneesasnesissssoraenss (12,366,975)
NEU Qe EITEA 1K 1eiiieiiiicee ettt e e e e e e s b e e s n e s s baeatree s e esteeestresstssarbessatnessbensnneeres (10,560,314)
Less—deferred income taxes of acquired subsidiaries at date of acquisition.........c.cccccevvenenne. (5,240,882)
Total effect of deferred income tax in stockholders’ equity ...........cooveeiieieneiinencnncenecerene (5,319,432)
Less—net deferred income tax recognized as of December 31, 1999 .......cocivvniniiceininennn (1,037,311)
Less—accumulated initial effect of deferred income taxes in stockholders’ equity................. (4,654,456)
Change in deferred income tax for the Period..........ccoveeeniniicinireineccrececc et Ps 372,335

Bulletin D-4 does not allow the offsetting of deferred tax assets and liabilities relating to different tax
jurisdictions:.

As of December 31, 1999, the Company had recorded a deferred income tax provision for the temporary
differences, over which it was reasonably estimated that in a defined period, a benefit or liability for tax purposes
would be originated, in the amount of Ps1,037,311. The Company considered this provision, which had already
been accounted for in retained earnings, as part of the amount determined in accordance with the new
methodology. As a result, the cumnulative initial deferred income tax effects presented in the table above are net
of this amount.
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Management considers that there is existing evidence that, in the future, it will generate sufficient taxable
income to realize the tax benefit associated with deferred income tax assets and operating tax loss carryforwards
prior to their expiration. In the event that present conditions change, and it is determined that future operations
would not generate enough taxable income, or that tax strategies are no longer viable, the deferred tax assets’
valuation allowance would be charged against net income.

As of December 31, 2000, the components of consolidated deferred income tax for the period are as follows:

2000
Deferred income tax charged to the iNCOME STALEMENL ......ccververreerirrereeriirrieierrererseeste e reersessessesreeraenns Ps(538,482)
Deferred income tax applied directly to stockholders’ equity ..........ccococveircerinerenenceienenereeeneee e 910,817
Ps 372,335

Bulletin D-4 states that the deferred tax effects of temporary differences related to transactions whose
effects are recorded directly in stockholders’ equity, must be recorded net of this effect.

The effects of inflation are not recognized for income tax purposes in some countries in which the Company
operates or are recognized differently from the methodology used for financial reporting. These effects, as well
as other differences between the book and the income tax basis, arising from the several income tax rates and
laws to which the Company is subject in the countries in which it has operations, give rise to temporary and
permanent differences in 1998 and 1999, and permanent differences starting in 2000, between the statutory tax
rate and the effective tax rate presented in the income statement, as follows:

December 31,
1998 1999 2000

% % %
Approximated consolidated Statutory tax FAte............ccecririiiiiicnioiiiei et 340 350 350
Utilization of tax 105 CarTyfOrwards.........ccoooi i s sve e ase s e enssaaans (149 279 —

" Additional deductions and tax credits for inCOME taX PUIPOSES ...vvvrvevcrerrecrereeresenrennes (2000 80 (19
Expenses and other non-deductible items ..........ccccoviicimirnrininiiccc e 59 (1) 34
Non-taxable sale of marketable securities and fixed assets .........c.ccevevvrrevvreecnrerrernenes 04 (24 02
Difference between book and tax inflation ........c.ccoecimiiviii e, 69) 24 (15.0)
IMITHITIUIN £BXES 11 ueeurrrreiteetiereereriesaeeaeetasssessaaeaesssee st eseassessassasassessesssasssesssessansessssarseses 2.1 37 (0.1
DEPIECIALION ..ottt ettt s st seer e e es et eee e ebe e bensreesensneenes 2.8 35 0.3
TVEILOTIES .....cveeeeieetietie et et et e et et e be s e beeteeeteeeeraessesss e aeenseeseesansseaessesseesbessaaanbesnseens (15 6.6) 02
IT effect on Stockholders’ EqUILY ... — — (5.0
OHBIETS ..ottt et b et e o b bbb en e et sre e no 33 (04) 4.4

Effective cOnSOHAated taX FAt ......ccvveeiiiiieieeiiererecieiereecereeresirreesssreeesenbesesesinrnnssernessessssnnssenen 52 62 127

Additionally, as of December 31, 2000, temporary differences between net income of the period and taxable
income for ESPS generated a deferred ESPS expense of Ps44,253, presented in the income statement.

15. FOREIGN CURRENCY POSITION

The exchange rate of the Mexican peso to the dollar as of December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 was Ps9.90,
Ps9.51 and Ps9.62 pesos per dollar, respectively. As of January 17, 2001, the exchange rate was Ps9.89 pesos per
dollar. As of June 30, 2001 the exchange rate was Ps9.06 pesos per dollar.
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For the year ending December 31, 2000 and six months ended June 30, 2001, the principal balances
denominated in foreign currencies, as well as non-monetary assets in Mexico of foreign origin are presented as
follows:

U.S. dollars thousands

December 31, 2000 June 30, 2001 (Unaudited)
Mexico Foreign Total Mexico Foreign Total
Current assets .......cceeevverveenee 226,740 1,503,515 1,730,255 197,213 1,448,128 1,645,341
Non current assets ................ 719.235(1) 9,420,978 10,140,213  728,407(1) 9,976,491 10,704,898
Total assets .......cceeerreen. 945,975 10,924,493 11,870,468 925,620 11,424,619 12,350,239
Current liabilities.................. 1,267,150 2,631,940 3,899,090 1,756,751 1,407,546 3,164,297
Long-term liabilities............. 1,656,155 1,457,740 3,113,895 1,688,314 2,132,067 3,820,381
Total liabilities ............. 2,923,305 4,089,680 7,012,985 3,445,065 3,539,613 6,984,678

(1) Non-monetary assets in Mexico of foreign origin.

Additionally, the Company’s Mexican operations in foreign currencies during 1998, 1999 and 2000 and
during the first six months of 2000 and 2001 are summarized as follows:

(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended
Years Ended December 31 June 30,
1998 1999 2000 2000 2001
U.S. dollars thousands
EXPOIt SAlES .coveiiiiiicccci $ 92,170 - 83,190 105,101 55,938 47,733
IMPOrt PUICRASES ...covveieiiiccccrcte e 36,563 29954 18,577 9,907 125,056
INterest INCOIME .....vviiciivrieeeiie et et e nnaeenes 24,035 14,575 17,433 11,069 2,584
INTErest EXPENSE ....ovverrerriereeenicierreret ettt 202,748 221,057 191,305 92,053 11475
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16. GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENT DATA

The Company is engaged principally in the construction industry segment through the production and
marketing of cement and concrete. For operating analysis purposes, the Company’s management has considered
that concrete operations are an integrated part of the cement distribution process. The following table presents in
accordance with the information analyzed for decision making by the Company’s management, selected
condensed financial information of the Company by geographic area for the years ended December 31, 1998,
1999 and 2000; and for the six months ended June 30, 2000 and 2001.

Net Sales
(Unaudited)
Years Ended December 31, Six Months Ended June 30,
1998 1999 2000 2000 2001

MEXICO cnrenrererretrrcne ettt Ps19,141,886 21,972,396 25,161,342 11,978,827 12,140,198
SPAIN c.eveeieccricreniene ettt renereneen 8,827,414 7,267,418 8,001,591 4,229,640 3,658,226
United States........coovveverveerienececeenieee e 5,307,985 5,625,054 7,251,558 2,102,625 8,808,003
Venezuela ....oovvevvveecieeiciieecceeceeecreeeine s 5,125,128 4,528,253 4,375,309 2,717,000 2,116,248
COoloMDIA ..ccuvrerriirerrreterecenee et 2,588,198 1,584,195 1,958,130 942,189 990,636
Caribbean and Central America................. 2,592,608 3,476,648 4,381,684 2,143,696 2,105,557
Philippines ......c.ccoevveverivicenirere e — 1,153,694 1,319,741 726,317 788,922
EYPLcceioiicci e — 136,411 1,607,874 807,643 685,459
Other...ccoviiiie et res 2,720,351 3,666,371  3,434915 1,850,124 3,873,761

46,303,570 49,410,440 57,492,144 27,498,061 35,167,010
Elmiinations. .........veeviveciereeieeeesienieseevennceens (3,932,052) (3,921,545) (5,155,553) (2,325,101) (4.093,528)
Consolidated .........occocevviriverrerernieeneeieinnens Ps42,371,518 45,488,895 52,336,591 25,172,960 31,073,482

Operating Income
(Unaudited)
Year Ended December 31, Six Months Ended June 30,
1998 1999 2000 2000 2001

MEXICO .eveirieriieiriirereererresee et ee s e Ps 7,733,576 9,730,755 10,786,050 5,302,098 4,963,244
SPAIN .ot 2,400,991 2,364,917 2,256,881 1,244,799 959,812
United States.....ccocvveerverirreveeniirereeserenieenees 745,875 1,161,312 1,093,348 478,526 1,178,343
Venezuela.....vcicieieniinienieices e 1,720,309 . 1,235,968 1,214,959 4771477 660,603
Colombia ...ccveeveieiceee e 109,654 375,255 791,085 364,864 424,276
Caribbean and Central America.................. 434,450 636,144 701,291 368,598 384,059
PhIlIPPINES ..ot — 23,658 115,702 117,118 52,365
Egypt..m o — 15,249 596,293 297,565 135,966
Other ..o (1,579,953) (2,008,663) (2,156,462) (1,031,754) (991,071)

11,564,902 13,534,595 15,399,147 7,619,291 7,767,597
ElMinations.......coeveeereeeecrenenreeniecnersononsees — —_ — — —
Consolidated .........ccccveveeirneecennnensinenens Ps11,564,902 13,534,595 15,399,147 7,619,291 7,767,597
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Depreciation and Amortization

(Unaudited)
Years Ended December 31, Six Months Ended June 30,
1998 1999 2000 2000 2001
MEXICO ..o ieirieiiicie e et Ps1,429,223 1,434,822 1,171,074 594,013 754,547
SPAIN ..ottt e 769,983 557,896 466,231 253,029 218,806
United States....cccvevvieieeceeireeciee e seeeecreeenens 199,336 215,602 596,132 296,278 1,165,188
VENEZULLA ..ot scre e e sabeee s 513,682 548,289 594,119 112,041 271,792
Colombia ...vvocievie e e 515,912 301,048 404,570 211,259 219,753
Caribbean and Central America .........ccccevvvvennen 169,997 183,740 204,189 79,920 103,606
Philippines ......coeveicviviniiinienn, — 228,290 209,809 110,945 98,646
8 OO — 20,126 187249 107,780 97,626
OtheEr ...ttt 260,124 595,270 719,627 399,010 489,755
Consolidated ........cocorirceerinieciriiicenene e, Ps3,858,257 4,085,083 4,553,000 2,164,275 3,419,719

In order to present integrally the operations of each operating unit, net sales between operating units are
presented under the caption “eliminations”.

Total Assets
(Unaudited)
December 31, June 30,
1999 2000 2001

MEXICO i it ettt e et et e e e tae st e s sta e st e sssbessaeeesaseernananenn Ps 46,288,806 45,815,777 54,547,295
SPAIN e e s 19,978,464 19,061,451 14,674,136
UNItEd STALES . ....eieeetiei e cerrtieeeeee e eve e ere e e e seeesne e e e ssn e e e sbaensaseen 6,614,421 41,166,491 43,608,613
VENEZUECIA ..ot rer et e sr e e etee e s e e s ssbeaae s erere s rasaaaenan 10,517,629 10,310,037 10,902,099
COIOMBIA ... tiiiticteciearie e eereesseere et easeseraas e ansesaseesseeseansanssrassansansssenes 8,096,137 7,353,125 7,583,687
Caribbean and Central AMEICA ..ovvvevverorrieireeiesirieereereeseenreeseeeeenes 5,501,741 6,256,285 6,162,813
Philippines ... 7,652,888 7,155,192 7,269,036
Other ASIAN......ccceiiiiiiieeer ettt esae s srresessbesaresesbaeeseesasens 2,227,808 2,138,238 2,175,900
By Dt et et e e 5,945,749 5,931,431 7,316,059
OLELS(1) . uaeiiireneeriicre ettt et crter st e tesaee e st asaae s e resesveasraenes 27,595,363 36,729,243 90,391,687

140,419,006 181,917,270 244,631,325
ElIMINAtIONS . .....covieiiiavriecieeietie e eeeteeeaeesrveeerneeeesteeesaresaassesrnesssnassees (28,634,177) (35,178,748) (94,813,763)
ConSOHAAEd ... .eoeoreiieii et cee e eveeeare s sbe s beeerae s Ps111,784,829 146,738,522 149,817,562
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Investment in Fixed Assets(2)

(Unaudited)
December 31, June 30,
1999 2000 2000 2001

MEXICO .ottt et et et ea e e s e aae et as Ps 851,673 828,766 382,416 409,866
SPAIN ¢ 316,747 426,314 131,606 145,786
VENEZUELA ..eoinivieierceeee ettt s iae e s a e tss s e stesesbe s s as e 152,989 602,399 66,636 124,677
UNIEA SLALES . eviiiiiieririreiirieeirreesreseve e esreenreseree e snsesbessrvaeas 349,362 217,282 44,074 901,939
COlOMDIA 1.ccvveecnrieiir ettt e eest e e e e sebresbee e sane s beeaens 72,128 81,542 12,266 14,239
Caribbean and Central America .......ccccvuvvceeeeenivesreccenrreneenenn 236,316 468,085 213,841 235,750
Philippines c....cocuveeiiiiviiimctiiineci s 171,069 234,605 156,779 72,179
Other ASIAN.ccooiiiviieiiie e et eseeeeaeseeres e e e arerebesssnressaaesntes — 131,782 — 80,189
Egypt..covcnniiis T T erreeearteesee s aeaae s nteebas e st e et bararsraetaninresnrtaerns — 428,314 166,126 167,428
Others(1) ..ottt e e sr e s sve s nne e 233,809 271,455 148,864 85,597

2,384,593 3,690,544 1,322,608 2,237,650
ElMINations....ccoccviiereciecreoricieiereneie e sreresseernsessssses sneseenss —_ — — —_
ConsOlAALEd ....occvviiicieeiicerecie st e re e ne e e Ps2,384,593 3,690,544 1,322,608 2,237,650

(1) Includes, in addition to trade maritime operating assets and other assets, related party balances of the Parent
Company of Ps24,523,620 and Ps24,001,964 in 1999 and 2000, respectively, which are eliminated in
consolidation.

(2) Corresponds to fixed assets’ investments not considering the effects of inflation. As a result, this balance
differs from the amount presented as investing activities in the Statement of Changes in the Financial
Position in “Property, machinery and equipment, net”, which considers the inflation effects in accordance
with Bulletin B-10.

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing majority interest net income for the period by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects,
on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, the effects of any transaction carried out by the
Company, which have a potentially diluting effect in such number of shares.

The weighted average number of shares utilized in the calculation is as follows:

Basic(1) Diluted
June 30, 2000 (2) unaudited ..........cccoueviirirrieiecieere ettt eeaa e 4,073,005,495 4,097,328,615
June 30, 2001 (2) UNAUAited ........c.ooevrieiiiiirireeie e erte e er e ebe e 4,187,055,419  4,214,543,349
December 31, 1998 ...t ettt et s ra e nes 3,786,281,775  3,797,376,945
DECEMBET 31, 1999 .....oieeeeeeeeeerees s e eeee s eeseeseessesesesesseseosaseessessesrsees 3,767,646,462  3,787,200,759
December 31, 2000 .........ocovvvveieiievien e, e eere e ererr et et ebeeabe st e entaaraan 4,123,703,259  4,143,760,773

(1) 1In 1998, the number of shares includes 118,919,607 shares, deposited in a trust in guaranty of a financial
transaction of U.S. dollars 80 million, which for accounting purposes were considered owned by third
parties. This transaction was liquidated during 1999.

(2) For purposes of calculating earnings per share as of June 30, 2000 and 2001, net income for twelve month
period was determined, amounting to Ps8,479,228 and Ps11,009,898 (unaudited), respectively.
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The difference between the basic and diluted number of shares in 1998, 1999 and 2000 and in the six-
months ended June 30, 2000, and 2001 is attributable to the additional shares issued under the Company’s
executive stock option plan (see note 12B).

18. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

A) GUARANTEES

As of December 31, 2000, CEMEX, S.A. de C.V. has signed as guarantor of loans made to certain
subsidiaries for approximately U.S.$80 million.

B) TAX ASSESSMENTS

As of December 31, 2000, the Company and some of its subsidiaries in Mexico have been notified of
several tax assessments determined by the tax authorities related to years prior to 1996. These tax assessments
total approximately Ps3,396 million. The tax assessments result primarily from: (i) disallowed deductions
resulting from social security expenses; and (ii) recalculation of the inflationary tax deduction, since the tax
authorities purport that “Advance Payments to Suppliers” are not by their nature credits. The companies involved
are using all the available defense actions granted by law in order to cancel the tax claims.

On January 26, 2000, the Company obtained a favorable resolution by the Domestic Taxes and Customs
Office of Colombia (“DIAN"), dismissing special tax assessments, which at year end 1999 amounted to
approximately U.S.$143 million, and that were received during 1998 by three indirect subsidiaries of the
Company in Colombia, corresponding to the 1995 fiscal year.

In June 2001, the Company obtained, from the Mexican tax authorities, a favorable resolution in respect to a
tax assessment related to the fiscal year 1992. This tax assessment amounted to approximately Ps938 million
(unaudited).

In March and April 2001, a subsidiary of the Company in Mexico was notified of two tax assessments
determined by the tax authorities related to the fiscal year 1995. In March 2001, a tax assessment in the amount
of Ps303 million was received resulting primarily from disallowed financial expenses and computation of the
inflationary gain. In April 2001, the subsidiary received a second tax assessment in the amount of Ps99 million,
resulting primarily from a disallowed inflationary restatement of tax loss carryforwards with respect to the first
tax assessment, the subsidiary of the Company has.completed the response procedure, and a resolution from the
~ courts is pending. In respect to the second proceeding, the response period has not yet terminated (unaudited).

C) ANTI-DUMPING DUTIES

In 1990, the United States Department of Commerce (“DOC”) imposed an anti-dumping duty order on
imports of gray Portland cement and clinker from Mexico. As a result, certain subsidiaries of the Company, as
importers of record, have been subject to payment of anti-dumping duty deposits estimated on imports of gray
Portland cement and clinker from Mexico since April 1990. The order is likely to continue for an indefinite
period, until the United States government determines, taking into consideration the World Trade Organization
new rules, that the conditions for imposing the order no longer exist and the cancellation or suspension of the
order would follow. In the last quarter of 2000, the United States government determined the order’s
continuation, a resolution that will prevail until a new review is made by it, which is expected to occur during
2001. As of the date of the financial statements, the Company cannot assure that this new review will take place,
or what the resolution would be. .
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As of December 31, 2000, the Company has accrued a liability of U.S.$52.4 million, including accrued
interest, for the difference between the amount of anti-dumping duties paid on imports and the latest findings by
the DOC in its administrative reviews for all of the reviewed periods.

As of December 31, 2000, the Company is in the tenth administrative review period by the DOC, and
expects a preliminary resolution in the second half of 2001. With respect to the first four review periods, the
DOC has issued a final resolution of the anti-dumping duties. With respect to the remaining review periods, the
final resolutions are suspended until all the procedures before the NAFTA Panel have been concluded. As a
result, the final amounts may be different from those recorded in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. The Company and its subsidiaries have defended their position in this matter and will continue to do
so through all available means in order to determine the actual dumping margins within each period of the
administration reviews carried out by the DOC.

Five Taiwanese cement producers—Asia Cement Corporation, Taiwan Cement Corporation, Lucky Cement
Corporation, Hsing Ta Cement Corporation and China Rebar—filed before the Tariff Commission under the
Ministry of Finance (MOF) of Taiwan an anti-dumping case involving imported gray Portland cement and
clinker from the Philippines and Korea.

In a letter dated July 19, 2001, the MOF informed the petitioners and the respondent producers in exporting
countries that a formal investigation has been initiated. Among the respondents in the petition are APO Cement
Corporation, Rizal Cement Co., Inc. and Solid Cement Corporation, indirect subsidiaries of CEMEX, which
received their anti-dumping questionnaires from the International Trade Commission under the Ministry of
Economic Affairs ITC-MOEA) on August 2, 2001, and from the MOF on August 16, 2001.

Rizal and Solid replied to the ITC-MOEA by confirming that they have not been exporting cement/clinker
during the covered period. On the other hand, in its position paper filed on August 18, 2001 and in the public
hearing held on August 20, 2001, APO contested the allegation of “injury” in the anti-dumping proceedings
before the ITC-MOEA. APO is expected to file by September 10, 2001 its reply to the MOF questionnaire to
contest the allegation of “dumping” in the anti-dumping proceedings before the MOF. Currently, CEMEX cannot
predict if its subsidiaries’ allegations in the anti-dumping case will succeed, nor what the conclusions of the MOF
will be nor when they will be released (unaudited).

D) LEASES

The Company has entered into various non-cancelable operating leases, primarily for the lease of operating
facilities, cement storage and distribution facilities and certain transportation and other equipment, which require
annual rental payments plus the payment of certain operating expenses. Future minimum rental payments due
under such leases are summarized as follows:

U.S. dollars
Year Ending December 31, t_htm
200T e et s e s taa e b e S re b bae s e s e e e e bt e s e btaeeaer b et eaee et e eeesanhrareresrrasesestarrenres $ 68,663
2002 et e e ae e e e e be e ettt e e S re e et e e bt astreea Rt e aesbaaarsbees srareeabraesateennreeraeans 54,803
2003 e e et b bt e b e et e bbe b e e e et s et b ennseasea st s e beeenneanet et seesaesseessesresrennes 46,489
200G . et e e a et e s bbb es e s e b e e e e st e s ba e iR rte sentesabre eanreeiaraseshesanbaennneren 40,342
20005 e e r et ee e e e it e s b e e e b e e e e st e e e bt e ear s e neesante e e e beenenaesasteeanbeaarnte s reeereaean 33,459
2006 ANA LhETEAITET ....eovevviieieeeeieeeter st et bt s esrrr e e vr e s seessessrsraseesesarntesssaanteseeressnssnnes 150,666

$394,422
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Rental expense for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999, and 2000 was approximately U.S.$25,
U.S.$41 million and U.S.$52 million, respectively.

E) PLEDGE ASSETS

At December 31, 2000, there are liabilities amounting to U.S.$52.8 million secured by property, plant and
equipment.

F) COMMITMENTS

As of December 31, 2000, subsidiaries of the Company have future commitments for the purchase of raw
materials for an approximate amount of U.S.$75.8 million.

As of December 31, 1999, the Company had entered into agreements with an international partnership,
which will build and operate an electrical energy generating plant. These agreements establish that when the
plant begins operations, the Company will purchase, starting in the second half of 2002, all of the energy
generated by the plant for a term of no less than 20 years. As part of these agreements, the Company will supply
the plant with all fuel necessary for its operation. This commitment will be covered by a 20-year agreement that
the Company has with Petréleos Mexicanos. Through these agreements, the Company expects to have significant
decreases in its electrical energy costs, and the supply will provide approximately 60% of the electrical energy
needs of 12 cement plants in Mexico. The Company is not required to make any capital investment in the project.

Under the terms of the agreement between the Company and the Indonesian govemment in connection with
its investment in Gresik, the Indonesian government has an option until October 2001 to require the Company to
purchase its 51% interest in Gresik for approximately U.S.$418 million (Ps3,892 million), plus accrued interest
from October 1998 at 8.2% per annum.

G) OTHER CONTINGENCIES

As of December 31, 2000, CEMEX, Inc. (formerly Southdown, Inc.), a newly acquired subsidiary of the
Company based in the United States of America (see note 6), has accrued liabilities specifically relating to
environmental matters in the aggregate amount of U.S.$22 million. The environmental matters relate to a) in the
past, in accordance with industry practice, disposing of various materials, which might be categorized as
hazardous substances or wastes, and b) the cleanup of sites used for or operated by the Company, including
discontinued operations, in regard to the disposal of hazardous substances or wastes, either individually or jointly
with other parties. Most of the proceedings are in the preliminary stage, and a final resolution might take several
years. For purposes of recording the provision, the subsidiary considers that it is probable that a liability has been
incurred and the amount of the liability is reasonably estimable, whether or not claims have been asserted, and
without giving effect to any possible future recoveries. Based on information developed to date, the subsidiary
does not believe it will be required to spend significant sums on these matters in excess of the amounts
previously recorded. Until all environmental studies, investigations, remediation work, and negotiations with or
litigation against potential sources of recovery have been completed, however, the ultimate cost that might be
incurred to resolve these environmental issues cannot be assured.

In February 2000, a subsidiary of Southdown received two claims from the general contractor for the
expansion project of its cement plant located in Victorville, California. The contractor has requested additional
compensation in excess of the guaranteed contract amount to cover costs associated with structural steel and
related items. The original amount of the claims was approximately U.S.$5 million, but has been increased to
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over U.S.$14 million. The subsidiary has rejected the claims based on its belief that it is not responsible for the
increased costs. Any payments as a result of the claim would be included as part of the capitalized cost of the
project and amortized over the life of the project. The Company believes that any payments made as a result of
the claim would not have a material effect on its financial condition or results of operation.

In October 2000, a subsidiary of Southdown received a claim from the general contractor for the recent
expansion of its cement plant located in Louisville, Kentucky. At December 31, 2001, the contractor is claiming
approximately U.S.$18.5 million in additional compensation in excess of the guaranteed contract amount. The
Company is only beginning its evaluation of the claim, and at this time is unable to predict how much, if any, it
may have to pay with respect to the claim. Any payments as a result of the claim would be included as part of the
capitalized cost of the project and amortized over the life of the project. The Company believes that any
payments made as a result of the claim would not have a material effect on its financial condition or results of
operations.

In connection with the contingency disclosed in the preceding paragraph, on June 18, 2001, CEMEX, Inc.
and BE&K Construction Company (“BE&K”), the general contractor, entered into a Settlement Agreement,
whereby Kosmos agreed to pay BE&K U.S.$7.4 million to resolve all claims and disputes between the parties
arising out of or relating to the work performed by BE&K in connection with the expansion project in Louisville,
Kentucky (unaudited).

In May 2001, a subsidiary of the Company in Colombia received a civil liability suit from 42 transporters,
alleging that this subsidiary is responsible for the supposed damages caused with the breach of provision of raw
material contracts. The plaintiffs have asked for relief in the amount of U.S.$60 million (Ps589.5 million). The
Company filed a prompt defense response. This proceeding is in the preliminary stage (unaudited).

19. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Starting January 1, 2001, Bulletin C-2, Financial Instruments (“Bulletin C-2), is mandatory for all public
companies, which report under Mexican GAAP. Among the most relevant issues of Bulletin C-2, is the
requirement to recognize the fair values of all financial derivative instruments as assets or liabilities in the
balance sheet. Changes in valuation of these instruments must be recorded in the income statement. Likewise, the
effects originated by a financial instrument, which in substance is an equity transaction, must be recorded in the
stockholders’ equity. As of June 30, 2001, resulting from the fair value recognition required by Bulletin C-2, the
Company has recorded an increase in assets or a decrease in liabilities, with a net effect of U.S.$128 million, of
which approximately U.S5.$109.5 million has been credited to the Comprehensive Financing Income as part of
the interest expense or income and the foreign currency fluctuations, and approximately U.S.$18.5 million has
been credited to equity, depending on the underlying hedged items.

20. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN MEXICAN AND UNITED STATES ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in Mexico (Mexican GAAP), which differ in certain significant respects from those applicable
in the United States (U.S. GAAP).

The Mexican GAAP consolidated financial statements include the effects of inflation as provided for under
Bulletin B-10 and Bulletin B-15, whereas financial statements prepared under U.S. GAAP are presented on a
historical cost basis. The reconciliation to U.S. GAAP includes (i) a reconciling item for the reversal of the effect
of applying Bulletin B-15 for the restatement to constant pesos for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1999,
and (ii) a reconciling item to reflect the difference in the carrying value of machinery and equipment of foreign
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origin and related depreciation between the methodology set forth by the fifth amendment to Bulletin B-10
{modified) and the amounts that would be determined by using the historical cost/constant currency method. As
described below, these provisions of inflation accounting under Mexican GAAP do not meet the requirement of
Rule 3-20 of Regulation S-X of the Securities and Exchange Commission. The reconciliation does not include
the reversal of other Mexican GAAP inflation accounting adjustments as these adjustments represent a
comprehensive measure of the effects of price level changes in the inflationary Mexican economy and, as such, is
considered a more meaningful presentation than historical cost-based financial reporting for both Mexican and
U.S. accounting purposes.

The other principal differences between Mexican GAAP and U.S. GAAP and the effect on consolidated net
income and consolidated stockholders’ equity are presented below, with an explanation of the adjustments.

(Unaudited)

Six Months Ended
Year Ended December 31, June 30,
1998 1999 2000 2000 2001
Net income as reported under Mexican GAAP...... Ps 7,887,146 9,163,422 9,304,851 4,545,079 6,250,722
NCPI inflation adjustment............ccoooreecevecenicnencne. 2,058,617 1,135,606 513,357 488,018 —
Net income as reported under Mexican GAAP
after NCPI—adjustments .........coveeneereerireenen, 9,945,763 10,299,028 9,818,208 5,033,097 6,250,722
Approximate U.S. GAAP adjustments:
1. Amortization of goodwill (see 20(a))..... 430,799 (68,924)  (64,483) 31,426  (20,341)
2. Deferred income taxes (see 20(b)) ......... (2,251,744) (3,559,786)  (92,227)  (13,132) (390,194)
3. Deferred employees’ statutory profit
sharing (see 20(b))..ccceovemreirericcienes (481,055) (372,777)  (70,521) (137918)  (5,005)
4. Other employee benefits (see 20(c)) ...... 6,944 (79,425) (41,801) (45,449) (24,704)
5. Marketable securities (see 20(d)) ........... 346,079 — — — —
6. Capitalized interest (see 20(e))............... (4,533) 86,324 (74,767) (4,547) 4,045
7. Minority interest (see 20(f)):
a) Financing Transactions ..........cccovvies (224,767) 237,440 67,123 11,958 275,455
b) Effect of U.S. GAAP adjustments...... 36,658 (25,136) 179,896 53,744 31,871
8. Hedge accounting (see 20(m)) ............... (3,472,366) (1,861,088) (1,435,323) (1,221,246) 687,846
9. Depreciation (see 20(g))........ ereenvrreeenens 61,714 154,544 (52,028) 110,563  (18,902)
10. Accruals for Contingencies (see 20(h)).. (36,719) (2,926) (113,360} (1,0100  (4,661)
11. Equity in net income of affiliated
companies (5 20(1)) .covvveeerirnrenvnnenen (65,451) (25,012) (57,679 —_ 1,768
12. Inflation adjustment of machinery and
equipment (8€€ 20())..c.ccoriccacnnnnniinne (97,731) (425,544) (414,626) (218,929) (201,698)
13. Temporary equity from forward
contracts (see 20(K)) ...covverevvreiireenreenene. — —  (452,008) (236,611) (468,329)
14. Derivative Financial Instruments—
(5€€ 20(IM)).rivrirerienrenrereereenresieseeieereees — — — —  (228,570)
15. Other U.S. GAAP adjustments
c (88 201 e 116,531 (120,958) 177,725 40,192  (53,168)
16. Monetary effect of U.S. GAAP
AdJUSUMENLS «..eeveeveeeveree e 1,947,356 1,735,330 1,108,005 719,177 192,925
Total approximate U.S. GAAP adjustments .......... (3,688,285) (4,327,938) (1,336,074) (911,782) (221,662)
Approximate net income under U.S. GAAP.......... Ps 6,257,478 5,971,000 8,482,134 4,121,315 6,029,060
Basic U.S. GAAP eamings per share ..........c........ Ps 1.65 1.58 2.05 1.01 1.44
Diluted U.S. GAAP earnings per share.................. Ps 1.64 1.57 2.04 1.00 1.43
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(Unaundited)
December 31, June 30,
1999 2000 2001
Total stockholders’ equity reported under Mexican GAAP.............. Ps 60,626,906 71,218,809 71,875,444
NCPI inflation adjustMent ..........ccveeeieireeeinnmerereeneeieieeereenereeese s 7,513,382 3929212 —
Total stockholders’ equity after NCPI adjustment........ccc.occovnnenen. 68,140,288 75,148,021 71,875,444
Approximate U.S. GAAP adjustments:
1. Goodwill net (see 20(2)) .....ccoererurveeninrrreerenmerrernneneeaene (3,232,515) (3,561,243) (3,616,179)
2. Deferred income taxes (se€ 20(b)) coevvvieriiiieieriivirenieinne (9,366,248) (3,561,688) (3,039,886)
3. Deferred employees’ statutory profit sharing (see 20(b)) .. (3,134,200) (2,900,095) (2,844,727)
4.  Other employee benefits (see 20(€)) ...oovvvrevrvvrrncrernvrnne. (265,540) (283,621) (303,254)
5. Capitalized interest (s€€ 20(€)) ....covurueereerenrenireneernrennnn. (489,212) (434,816) (386,064)
6. Minority interest—effect of financing transactions
(S€8 20(F)) 1eeveeeeie ettt (6,402,736) (989,614) (872,228)
7. Minority interest—U.S. GAAP presentation (see 20(f)).... (9,723,875) (24,036,971) (18,688,819)
8. Depreciation (S€€ 20(Z)) . .cccererermereerereereereerenrerrcrcasamrennens 167,668 (117,746) 4451
9.  Accruals for contingencies (see 20(1))....cccocoveverrerencnnnnn. 249,057 100,235 79,810
10. Investment in net assets of affiliated companies
(SEE 20(1)).cv ettt ettt ettt et (530,437) (81,483) (66,785)
11. Inflation adjustment for machinery and equipment
(SEE 20()).cvvvrereriimisritsirrrereeece et 9,031,826 8,407,229 9,172,682
12. Temporary equity from forward contracts (see 20(k))..‘ ..... (5,453,266) (5,508,010) (5,540,544)
13. Other U.S. GAAP adjustments (see 20(1)) .........occoenvrrvunnee. 317,331 439,767 347,690
Total approximate U.S. GAAP adjustments ............cccoceeinincccnnnen. (28,832,147) (32,528,056) (25,753,853)
Total approximate stockholdersi equity under U.S. GAAP ............... Ps 39,308,141 42,619,965 46,121,591

For purposes of the following notes, the Mexican GAAP prior years amounts have been restated using the
Mexican inflation rate instead of the weighted average index described in note 2B. Therefore, the amounts shown

for prior years in these notes, in respect to constant pesos, do not agree with the amounts shown in footnotes 1 to
19.

The term “SFAS” as used herein refers to Statements of Financial Accounting Standards.

(a) Goodwill

The Company’s goodwill recognized under Mexican GAAP has been adjusted for U.S. GAAP purposes for
(1) the effect of the U.S. GAAP adjustments as of the dates of acquisition on the goodwill of the subsidiaries
acquired (ii) the difference between sinking fund amortization of goodwill over 20 to 40 years for Mexican
GAAP purposes (see note 21) and the straight line method over 40 years for U.S. GAAP purposes and (ii1) the
conversion of goodwill applicable to foreign subsidiaries in accordance with SFAS 52, utilizing inflation of each
country to restate the goodwill for inflation purposes. In addition, amortization of goodwill is reflected as an
operating expense for U.S. GAAP purposes versus other income and expense for Mexican GAAP purposes.

For U.S. GAAP purposes, the Company assesses the recoverability of goodwill by determining whether the
amortization of the goodwill balance over its remaining life can be recovered through undiscounted future
operating cash flows of the acquired operation. The amount of goodwill impairment, if any, is measured based on
projected discounted future operating cash flows using a discount rate reflecting the Company’s average cost of
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funds. The assessment of the recoverability of goodwill will be impacted if estimated future operating cash flows
are not achieved.

(b) Deferred Income Taxes and Employees’ Statutory Profit Sharing

Until December 31, 1999, Mexican GAAP provided that deferred taxes should not be recorded for those
temporary differences whose origin is not specifically identifiable or whose realization is not presently
determinable because upon turnaround they will be replaced by other temporary differences of a similar nature
and amount.

For U.S. GAAP purposes, the Company accounts for income taxes utilizing SFAS 109 “Accounting for
Income Taxes”, which requires the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the asset and
liability method, deferred tax asset and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of “temporary
differences” by applying enacted statutory tax rates applicable in future years to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of existing assets and liabilities and operating loss carryforwards.
The amount of deferred income taxes charged or credited to operations in each period for U.S. GAAP is based
upon the difference between the beginning and ending balances of the deferred tax assets or liabilities for each
period, expressed in nominal pesos. A monetary position gain or loss of the deferred tax assets or liabilities was
also recognized. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that
includes the enactment date.

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities under U.S. GAAP at December 31, 1999 and 2000 are presented below.

December 31,

1999 2000
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss and assets tax carryforwards ........cccocceveevieirennencenenrennnieniennens Ps2,563,681 3,515,923
Trade acCOUNES TECEIVADIE .....ooovvieiiiii ittt et ar e besareeen 444,967 103,860
Investment in affiliated COMPANIES......ceoeeiriieiriene ettt ee et v 511 6,824
Accounts payable and accrued EXpenSes.........ocvvvriiriiinienees berenine 547,380 750,531
ODET .ttt e e e be et st b e e e sr e s st et et s eate st enr e s taenseeneseens 171,580 144,668
Total gross deferred tax aSSelS.....coivirieiereneren s 3,728,119 4,521,806
Less valuation allOWanCe.......couvieeerieiriecrriiiiiiese i eeeereeceveesva et ssereeseete s senee s 208,602 602,692
Net deferred tax assets under U.S. GAAP............ ST 3,519,517 3,919,114
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment...........oo 15,691,529 19,768,931
TV EIIOIIES ettt ettt ettt e et eevr e en v er e e tareebebe s seraean 448427 1,298,603
OURET ...ttt et cte et r e s et e s e e te e sa e asersesabeebeesteeas et svrsenseasesnenesneerreans 172,958 390,685
Total gross deferred tax liability under U.S. GAAP ........ ettt en st 16,312,914 21,458,219
Net deferred tax liability under U.S. GAAP......ccooiiierceececeen et 12,793,397 17,539,105

Deferred tax recognized under Mexican GAAP affecting equity (see note 14B).. 1,037,311 5,319,432
Excess of liability recognized under U.S. GAAP over that recognized under

MEeXICAN GAAP ..ottt 11,756,086 12,219,673
Less—U.S. GAAP deferred income taxes of acquired subsidiaries at date of

ACGUISIEION 1viveieiieesctesietese et ettt st et ses et s bt sa s i e 2,261,284 8,364,505
Inflation adjustment (NOLE 2B) ...c..couiireieiieciieiieie e mte e eneeeer e e (128,554)  (293,480)
U.S. GAAP adjustment to stockholders’ equity.........cooovcevermvnnrireceeiernneenrinens Ps9,366,248 3,561,688
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As of June 30, 2000 and 2001 (unaudited), deferred income tax expense amounts to Ps13,132 and
Ps390,194, respectively, with a net effect on stockholders’ equity under U.S. GAAP of Ps(3,039,886) at June 30,
2001 (unaudited).

Management believes that it is more likely than not that it will generate taxable income sufficient to realize
the tax benefit associated with future deductible temporary differences and operating tax loss carryforwards prior
to their expiration. If the Company is unable to generate sufficient taxable income in the future through operating
results, or alternative tax strategies are no longer viable, a valuation allowance will be required through a charge
to expense.

The Company recorded a valuation allowance for the estimated amount of the recoverable tax on assets,
which may not be realized due to their expiration during the carryforwards period. Through the continuous
evaluation of the effects of tax strategies, among other economic factors, during 2000 the Company increased a
net effect on the valuation allowance of approximately Ps412 million.

Effective December 31, 1998, the income tax rate increased from 34% to 35% for temporary differences in
Mexico to give effect to the enactment of the new income tax law in Mexico. This resulted in an additional
deferred tax expense of Ps274,840 for U.S. GAAP purposes in 1998.

Additionally, as is mentioned in note 14B, beginning in 2000, new Bulletin D-4 requires the determination
of deferred income tax through the balance sheet methodology, in a manner similar to U.S. GAAP. Nonetheless,
there are certain specific differences in the application of Bulletin D-4 in the Company as compared to the
calculation under SFAS 109 that will lead to differences in the reconciliation to U.S. GAAP. These differences
arise from i) the recognition of the accumulated initial balance as of January 1, 2000 which is recorded directly to
stockholders’ equity, therefore does not consider the provisions of APB Opinion 16 for the deferred tax
consequences in business combinations made before January 1, 2000, ii) some adjustments to Mexican GAAP
recorded in the foreign subsidiaries for consolidation purposes are to be treated as permanent differences, and
ii1) for Mexican GA AP presentation purposes, deferred tax assets and liabilities should be considered as long-
term items. ‘

As of December 31, 2000, a net deferred tax liability under Bulletin D-4 of Ps5,319,432, after considering a
deferred income tax liability of acquired subsidiaries during 2000 recognized in Goodwill, has been reversed for
purposes of the U.S. GAAP reconciliation of stockholders’ equity. In the reconciliation of net income as of
December 31, 2000, a deferred tax expense of Ps538,482 arising from Bulletin D-4 was eliminated.

F-44




CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

The Company also recorded a deferred liability for U.S. GAAP purposes, related to employees’ statutory
profit sharing (“ESPS”) in Mexico under the asset and liability method at the statutory rate of 10%. The principal
effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred ESPS liabilities at
December 31, 1999 and 2000 are presented below:

December 31,
1999 2000

Deferred assets:

Employee benefits ..o Ps 47,022 66,990

Trade aCCOUNtS TECEIVADIE ..o.cvvviiivie it r e cree e s esesneaees 12,347 11,506

(01117 QTR U SO SU O OSSO U RO TP — 21,360
Gross deferred assets under U.S. GAAP ........ocoviieeeeeeeee el 59,369 99,856
Deferred liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment...........occcooiieiiiinicini e 3,029,967 2,797,448

IIIVENLOTIES 1urvveieiererrinirreesieereessiureenrserertrnesrsteessseseerssassnanesrennsssesssnsesnsnnes 143,688 140,208

(@111 7 (OO ROUTTO STUUUO TR 19914 62,295
Gross deferred liabilities under U.S. GAAP ....ooovvvivirviree i 3,193,569 2,999,951
Net deferred liabilities under U.S. GAAP ... Ps3,134,200 2,900,095

As of June 30, 2000 and 2001 (unaudited), deferred employees’ statutory profit sharing expense amounts to
Ps137,918 and Ps5,003, respectively, with a net effect on stockholders’ equity under U.S. GAAP of
Ps(2,844,727) at June 30, 2001 (unaudited).

For purposes of the condensed financial information presented under U.S. GAAP in note 20(p), employees’
statutory profit sharing expense, both current and deferred, is deducted in the determination of operating income.
For Mexican GAAP presentation, ESPS expense, both current and deferred, is considered as a separate line item
equivalent to income tax.

Under new Bulletin D-4, for Mexican GAAP purposes, it is required to determine the effect of deferred
ESPS for those temporary differences arising from the reconciliation of the net income of the period and the
taxable income for ESPS, of a non-recurring nature. As of December 31, 2000, in the reconciliation of net
income to U.S. GAAP, a deferred ESPS expense of Ps44,253, determined under Mexican GAAP, was reversed.

(c) Other Employee Benefits

Vacations

Under Mexican GAAP, vacation expense is recognized when taken rather than during the period the
employees earn it. In order to comply with SFAS 43, as of December 31, 1998, 1999, 2000 and as of June 30,
2000 and 2001 (unaudited), the vacation expense recorded for U.S. GAAP purposes was Ps9,707, Ps9,065 and
Ps8,330, Ps8,123 and Ps4,415, respectively, with accruals of Ps46,457 and Ps50,745 at December 31, 1999, 2000
and Ps54,200 at June 30, 2001 (unaudited), respectively.

Severance

Before 1997, under Mexican GAAP, post-employment benefit expenses other than pension benefits were
recorded when retirement occurred, and the Company did not provide for any severance benefits. Beginning in.
1997, in accordance with Mexican GAAP (Circular 50), SFAS 112 is the supplementary accounting standard for
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post-employment benefits. As of December 31, 1999, 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited), the Company did not
accrue a provision for these benefits for Mexican GAAP due to their insignificance. However, under U.S. GAAP,
post-employment benefits for former or inactive employees, excluding retirement benefits, are accounted for
under the provisions of SFAS 112, which requires the Company to accrue the cost of certain benefits, including
severance, over an employee’s service life. As of December 31, 1998, 1999, 2000 and as of June 30, 2000 and
2001 (unaudited), the severance provisions recorded for U.S. GAAP purposes were an expense of Ps44,606,
Ps41,656, Ps38,274, Ps37,326 and Ps20,289, respectively, with an accrual of Ps213,472, Ps233,180 and
Ps249,054 at December 31, 1999, 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited), respectively. Severance payments relating
to any specific event or restructuring are excluded from the SFAS 112 calculation.

Pension and other benefits

The Company accounts for employee pension benefits based on the net present value of the obligations
determined by independent actuaries (see notes 2J and 11), in a manner similar to SFAS 87 under U.S. GAAP.
Nonetheless, certain differences in assumptions led to minor differences between the amounts recognized under
Mexican GAAP and their corresponding equivalents under U.S. GAAP. These discrepancies were eliminated in
the actuarial computations of 2000. For purposes of the U.S. GAAP reconciliation of net income, the Company
recognized income of Ps61,257 in 1998, expense of Ps28,704 in 1999 and income of Ps4,803 in 2000, and was
required to reverse the adjustment, with an additional liability in the balance sheet under U.S. GAAP of Ps5,611
at December 31, 1999.

In addition, as a result of the Company’s acquisition of Southdown (see note 6A), a package of employee
benefits, including postretirement benefits, was assumed. At December 31, 2000, these benefits are summarized
as follows:

1.  Pension—Southdown has a defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all employees. The
benefits are based on years of service and the employee’s compensation is integrated with Social
Security. External actuaries in accordance with SFAS 87 determine the funded status of the pension
plan.

2.  Retirement Savings Plan—Southdown maintains a retirement savings plan designed to qualify under
Sections 401(a) and 401(k) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code, in which substantially all employees are
eligible to participate. Southdown contributes an amount to the savings plan equal to 75% of an
employee’s contributions, subject to certain limitations. Southdown’s matching contributions do not
vest until the employee’s fifth anniversary with the company. All employee contributions are fully
vested when made. .

3. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan—Southdown has a non-qualified plan for a group of senior
line and staff management personnel. Under this plan, participants will receive an additional monthly
retirement benefit, equal to the difference between the Southdown’s qualified pension plan and the
amount that would be calculated assuming there were no limitations imposed by the U.S. Internal
Revenue Code on compensation. The plan is unfunded.

4.  Supplemental Pension Liabilities—A small number of former employees, directors and retirees of
Southdown are eligible for payments under non-qualified pension agreements, for which Southdown
accrued the present value of probable future cash outlays during the expected service life of the
employee and charged that amount against earnings for financial reporting purposes.

5. Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits—Southdown offers health care benefits to active employees
and their dependents. Certain retirees under the age of sixty-five and their dependents are also offered
health care benefits, which consist primarily of medical and life insurance benefits. However,
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Southdown reduces benefit payments for covered retirees sixty-five years of age or older by benefits
paid by Medicare.

The benefit obligation at December 31, 2000, and the benefit (income) expense for the two-month period
ended December 31, 2000, arising from Southdown’s employee benefits mentioned above, are included in the

Company’s pension plans, seniority premium and other postretirement benefits consolidated information
included in note 11.

Southdown’s pension plan had a prepaid benefit cost of U.S.$99.6 million at December 31, 2000, with a net
periodic benefit income of U.S.$(0.9) million for the two-month period ended December 31, 2000. All other
Southdown benefits had an accrued benefit cost of U.S.$40.5 million at December 31, 2000, with a net periodic
benefit expense of U.S.$0.6 million for the two-month period ended December 31, 2000.

Most of the Company’s health care benefits, including Southdown’s, are self-insured and administered on
cost plus fee arrangements with major insurance companies or provided through health maintenance
organizations. The Company also provides life insurance benefits to its active and retired employees. Generally,
life insurance benefits for retired employees are reduced over a number of years from the date of retirement to a
minimum level.

(d) Marketable Securities

Included in other investments, the Company holds an investment in common stock of a third party company.
This investment is recorded at market value based upon its quoted price. Although the Company does not have
the intention to sell these shares, this investment has been classified as available-for-sale for purposes of
complying with SFAS 115. Unrealized holding gain of Ps346,079 (gain of Ps242,961, after the related deferred
income tax effect which has been credited directly to stockholders’ equity) for the year ended December 31,
1998, was reclassified from income and included as a component of stockholders’ equity for purposes of the
Company’s reconciliation to U.S. GAAP. Beginning in January 1, 1999, the Company adopted the provisions of
SFAS 115 under Mexican GAAP, therefore, no additional reclassification is needed for purposes of the net
income reconciliation. See note 20 (x) for recent developments related to this investment after December 31,
2000.

(e). Capitalized Interest

Under Mexican GAAP, the Company is allowed, but not required, to capitalize interest on assets under
construction. Mexican GAAP states that the amount of financing cost to be capitalized during the construction
period of property, machinery and equipment must be comprehensively measured in order to include properly the
effects of inflation. Therefore, the amount capitalized includes: (i) the interest cost of the debt incurred, plus (ii)
any foreign currency exchange loss that results from the related debt, and less (iii) the related monetary position
result recognized on the debt incurred to finance the construction project. Under U.S. GAAP, interest must be
considered an additional cost of constructed assets to be capitalized in property, machinery and equipment and
depreciated over the lives of the related assets.

The U.S. GAAP reconciliation removes the foreign currency gain or loss capitalized for Mexican GAAP
derived from borrowings denominated in foreign currency.
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(f) Minority Interest

Financing Transactions

For purposes of U.S. GAAP presentation, Preferred stock described in note 12F for an amount of
U.S.$1,500 million (Ps14,737 million) is presented as a separate component of mezzanine items. Under Mexican
GAAP these instruments are presented as part of the minority interest in stockholders’ equity. Preferred
dividends declared in 2000 of U.S.317 million are recorded as part of the minority interest in the consolidated
statements of income under both Mexican GAAP and U.S. GAAP.

As of December 31, 1999, the Company had U.S.$500 million outstanding under an equity financing
transaction involving shares of its Spanish subsidiary. The transferred shares represented 24.8% of the
outstanding capital stock of this subsidiary. During the life of the transaction, the Company considered the shares
involved as if those were owned by a third party and therefore, recorded a minority interest in the consolidated
balance sheet under Mexican GAAP. For U.S. GAAP purposes, this financing transaction was classified as debt
in the amount of Ps5,294.8 million at December 31, 1999. This transaction was terminated on August 31, 2000.
For Mexican GAAP purposes, the costs related to this transaction were recorded as part of the net financing cost
in the income statement. Differences between the amount of minority interest recognized for Mexican GAAP
purposes and the amount of debt for U.S. GAAP purposes for this financing transaction were reflected in the
reconciliation of stockholders” equity to U.S. GAAP.

The financing transaction mentioned above bore interest at 3 month-LIBOR plus 100 basis points
(approximately 7.0% and 8.0% at December 31, 1999 and June 30, 2000 (unaudited), respectively), and had an
original maturity schedule of U.S.$125 million of the principal due in June 2000, U.S.$125 million in December
2000, and the remaining U.S.$250 million due in June 2001.

For purposes of U.S. GAAP presentation, Putable Capital Securities described in note 12(F) are presented as
a separate component of mezzanine items. Under Mexican GAAP these instruments are presented as part of the
minority interest in stockholders’ equity. Dividends declared are recorded as part of the minority interest in the
consolidated statements of income under both Mexican GAAP and U.S. GAAP.

In December 1995, the Company entered into a financial transaction in which a subsidiary transferred some
of its cement assets to a trust, while simultaneously a third party purchased a beneficial interest in the trust for
approximately U.S.$123.5 million in exchange for notes issued by the trust. The Company has the right to
reacquire these assets on various dates until 2007. As of December 31, 1999, 2000 and June 30, 2001
(unaudited), U.S.$104.6 million (Ps1,107.9 million), U.S.$100.7 million (Ps989.6 million) and $96.3 million
(Ps872.2 million), respectively, were outstanding under this transaction. For U.S. GAAP purposes the amount
outstanding under this arrangement is treated as debt. Under Mexican GAAP this transaction has been treated as
minority interest (see note 12G).

U.S. GAAP adjustments

Under Mexican GAAP the minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries is presented as a separate
component within the stockholders’ equity section in the consolidated balance sheets. According to U.S. GAAP,
minority interest is excluded from consolidated stockholders’ equity and classified as a separate component
between total liabilities and stockholders’ equity in the consolidated balance sheets. The U.S. GAAP adjustment
to stockholders’ equity included herein represents the minority interests in the Company’s subsidiaries
determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
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(g) Depreciation

One of the Company’s subsidiaries in Colombia records depreciation expense utilizing the sinking fund
method. This methodology for depreciation was in place before Cemex acquired the subsidiary in 1997. For
Mexican GAAP purposes, the Company has decided to maintain this accounting practice due to tax
consequences in Colombia arising from a change in methodology, and the immateriality of the effects in the
Company’s consolidated results. For U.S. GAAP purposes, depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of the assets. As a result of this accounting difference, as of December 31, 1998, 1999,
2000 and as of June 30, 2000 and 2001 (unaudited), an income of Ps61,714 and Ps130,152, an expense of
Ps77,661, an income of Ps99,392 and an expense of Ps29,465, respectively, have been adjusted to income in the
U.S. GAAP reconciliation.

Additionally, as a result of the application of APB 16 in the acquisition of Rizal, one of the Company’s
subsidiaries in the Philippines, for U.S. GAAP purposes the Company had reduced the value of its fixed assets by
Ps281,694 in 1999, Ps242,746 in 2000 and Ps203,193 in June 30, 2001 (unaudited), net of depreciation,
corresponding to the portion of the appraisal value related to the minority owners. The change in the fixed assets’
amount for under U.S. GAAP arising from this concept led to a decrease in the depreciation expense under U.S.
GAAP of Ps24,392 during 1999, Ps25,633 during 2000, Ps11,171 as of June 30, 2000 (unaudited) and Ps10,563
as of June 30, 2001 (unaudited).

(h} Accruals for Contingencies

For Mexican GAAP purposes, the Company has recorded accruals for certain contingencies that do not meet
the accrual criteria of SFAS 5 of U.S. GAAP. Our Spanish subsidiary has recorded a liability for guarantees
given to third parties by former subsidiaries and other general accruals. At the balance sheet dates the likelihood
of a loss occurring is considered to be possible but not probable. Therefore, the Company does not consider that
the criteria of SFAS 3 for accrual were met, and the recorded liabilities were reversed for U.S. GAAP purposes.

In addition, with respect to the contingencies described in note 18B and G, the Company believes that while
it is reasonably possible for a loss to occur as a result of these assessments, the likelihood of a loss is not
probable. Therefore, the Company does not consider that the criteria of SFAS 3 for accrual were met (see also
note 20(v)).

(i) Aﬁiliated Companies

The Company has adjusted its investment and equity in the earnings of affiliated companies for the
Company’s share of the approximate U.S. GAAP adjustments applicable to these affiliates.

(j) Inflation Adjustment of Machinery and Equipment

On December 2, 1997, the Intemational Practices Task Force of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants encouraged Mexican companies to restate their fixed assets of foreign origin by applying the
inflation rate of each country in which the Company operates, instead of using the methodology included in the
fifth amendment to Bulletin B-10, which consists of restating the fixed assets of foreign origin on the basis of the
devaluation of the functional currency against the currency of origin and applying a factor of inflation in such
foreign country. For purposes of the U.S. GAAP reconciliation, fixed assets of foreign origin were restated using
the inflation factor arising from the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) of each country, and depreciation is based
upon the revised amounts.
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(k) Temporary Equity from Forward Contracts

As mentioned in notes 12G and 13 A to the financial statements, the Company has entered into forward
contracts in connection with its warrant offering transaction. According to EITF 96-13, forward contracts
involving the Company’s own stock that will be physically settled by delivering cash should be initially
measured at fair value and recorded in permanent equity, and an amount equivalent to the cash redemption at the
date of reporting, should be reclassified to temporary equity, which is to be considered as a mezzanine item for
the balance sheet presentation under U.S. GAAP. As a result, for purposes of reconciliation the Company
presents an adjustment to its stockholders ‘equity under Mexican GAAP of Ps5,453,266 in 1999, Ps5,508,010 in
2000 and Ps5,540,544 at June 30, 2001 (unaudited), which represents the cash obligation of the Company under
the forward contracts at the reporting date. This amount is presented as a mezzanine item for purposes of
note 20(p).

In addition, pursuant to the forward contracts, the Company sold to a group of banks in December 1999
21 million ADSs (105 million CPOs)and agreed to repurchase the ADSs at an original specified forward price of
approximately U.S8.8$651] million (approximately Ps5,898 million)in December 2002 For purposes of the
reconciliation of net income under U.S. GAAP as of and for the year ended December 31, 2000 and for the six
month periods ended June 30, 2000 and 2001 (unaudited), the difference between the original proceeds of the
sale and the forward price has been considered as a preferred dividend, in a manner similar to a mandatorily
redeemable preferred stock dividend, and has been charged to the comprehensive financing result in the income
statement, resulting in an expense of approximately Ps452,008, Ps236,611 and Ps468,329, respectively
(Ps381,401, Ps204,202 and Ps390,610, respectively, after the related deferred income tax effect).

(1) Other U.S.GAAP Adjustments

Inventory costs —As permitted by Mexican GAAP, certain inventories are valued under the direct cost
systemn, which includes material, labor and other direct costs. For purposes of complying with U.S. GAAP,
inventories have been valued under the full absorption cost method, including all costs and expenses necessary
for the manufacturing process. At December 31, 1998 and 1999, the Company recognized income of Ps18,594
and expense of Ps138,669, respectively, in the net income reconciliation to U.S. GAAP. Beginning January 1,
2000, the Company has adopted the full absorption cost method in all its producing facilities; therefore, as of
December 31, 2000, the reconciling item arising from this concept has been cancelled, recognizing an expense of
Ps64,288 in the net income reconciliation to U.S. GAAP.

Capitalization of costs of computer development Under U.S. GAAP —Statement of Position 98-1,
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”, provides guidance on
accounting for the costs of computer software developed or obtained for internal use. SOP 98-1 requires that
certain costs related to the development or purchase of internal-use software be capitalized and amortized over
the estimated useful life of the software and that costs related to the preliminary project stage and the post-
implementation/operations stage (as defined in SOP 98-1)in an internal-use computer software development
project be expensed as incurred. SOP 98-1 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 1998.The estimated average useful lives period to amortize these capitalized costs is between
3 and S years. As of December 31, 1998, 1999, 2000 and June 30, 2000 and 2001 (unaudited), the effect of
capitalizing this costs in the reconciliation of net income to U.S. GAAP, net of amortization, led to an income of
Ps207,005, Ps218,876, Ps116,220, and Ps109,982 and an expense of Ps111,167, respectively, with a cumulative
effect of income in the stockholders "equity reconciliation to U.S. GAAP at December 31, 1999, 2000 and June
30, 2000 and 2001 (unaudited) of Ps547,990, Ps634,407, and Ps478,991, respectively.
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Deferred charges—For U.S. GAAP purposes other deferred charges net of accumulated amortization, that
did not qualify for deferral under U.S. GAAP had been charged to expense in the year or period incurred for
Ps109,068 in 1998, Ps201,165 in 1999, credited to income for Ps125,793 in 2000. The net effect in the
stockholders’ equity reconciliation to U.S. GAAP is an expense of Ps346,193, Ps194,640 and Ps131,301 at
December 31, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited), respectively. Mexican GAAP allowed the deferral
of these expenses.

Monetary position result—Monetary position result of the U.S. GAAP adjustments is determined by (i)
applying the annual inflation factor to the net monetary position of the U.S. GAAP adjustments at the beginning
of the period, plus (ii) the monetary position effect of the adjustments during the period, determined with a
weighted average inflation factor for the period.

Reclassifications—Real estate held for sale amounting to Ps147,195 in 1999, Ps91,887 in 2000 and
Ps93,340 at June 30, 2001 and non-cement related assets amounting to Ps127,582 in 1999, Ps101,107 in 2000
and Ps206,904 at June 30, 2001, have been reclassified to long-term assets for purposes of U.S. GAAP
presentation in note 20(p). These assets are stated at their estimated fair value. Estimated costs to sell these assets
are not significant.

{m) Financial Instruments

Derivative Financial Instruments (see notes 2N, 10 and 13) (unaudited)

Effective January 1, 2001, companies reporting under U.S. GAAP adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”), as amended, which establishes that all derivative
instruments (including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) should be recognized in the
balance sheet as assets or liabilites at their fair values and changes in fair value are recognized immediately in
earnings, unless the derivatives qualify as hedges of future cash flows. For derivatives qualifying as hedges of
future cash flows, the effective portion of changes in fair value is recorded temporarily in equity, then recognized
in earnings along with the related effects of the hedged items. Any ineffective portion of a hedge is reported in
earnings as it occurs.

 Under Mexican GAAP, beginning January 1, 2001, the Company adopted Bulletin C-2 “Financial
Instruments”. Bulletin C-2 provides that all derivative financial instruments should be recognized in the balance
sheet as assets or liabilities at their fair values and changes in fair value should be recognized immediately in
earnings, unless such derivative instruments were entered into as a hedge of an underlying hedged item, in which
case the results of the derivative instruments should be recognized offsetting the effects generated by the
underlying hedged item.

The main difference between SFAS 133 and Bulletin C-2 are the rules for hedge accounting. SFAS 133 is
very specific in the rules for qualifying for hedge accounting and is also precise as to which transactions are
outside the scope of the document, while under Bulletin C-2, hedge accounting is based solely on the Company’s
intention and designation. Bulletin C-2 does not provide any guidance for own equity derivative instruments nor
for risk management instruments entered into to protect the value of the Company’s net investment in foreign
subsidiaries; therefore, such contracts are being accounted for in accordance with other U.S. GAAP accounting
pronouncements as appropriate.

As of June 30, 2001, the difference in derivative instruments hedge accounting between Mexican and U.S.
GAAP, as it relates to the Company, is immaterial and did not result in any material adjustment in the
reconciliation of stockholders’ equity nor in the reconciliation of net income to U.S. GAAP.
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Until December 31, 2000, for Mexican GAAP puposes, the Company had a partial recognition of a portion
of its derivative instruments portfolio, based on the economic results that were identified at the balance sheet
date. These results were recognized as part of the cost of sales, comprehensive financing result or in
stockholders’ equity, according to the derivative instruments’ hedge designation. The effects of the Company’s
own equity forward contracts were recognized at settlement as an adjustment to stockholders’ equity.

As mentioned in note 2N, 10 and 13, pursuant to its global operating and financing activities and under
procedures and controls established by the financial risk management team, the Company has entered into
various derivative financial instrument transactions primarily to manage exposure to market risks resulting from
changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and the price of the Company’s common stock.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is based on estimated settlement costs or quoted market
prices. The notional amounts of derivative financial instrument agreements are used to measure interest to be
paid or received and do not represent the amount of exposure to credit loss. As of June 30, 2001, the notional
amounts and estimated fair values of the Companyis derivative instruments are as follows:

(Thousands of U.S. Dollars)

At June 30, 2001

Notional Estimated
Derivative Instruments amount fair value Maturity Date
a) Equity forward contracts .........cccooeercrneercnesnencnenens 1,154,399 142,265 July 2001—May 2003
b) Foreign exchange forward contracts............c..coocervcennine 775,000 27,068 August 2003
€) Interest rate SWaps ......ccccocoircericricnnrneree e 1,161,000 (29,908) June 2002—October 2009
d) Cross CUITENCY SWAPS.....ccouviiiirimsiieeccsencenemeresesnsescnsnses 1,211,832 150,440 June 2003—December 2005
e) Interest rate SWap OptioNS ......ccococvoveverceerncreiceeecnae 1,605,932 (11,780) December 2001 —June 2002
f) Third party equity forwards ..o 98,304 (7,385) July 2001

As of June 30, 2001, the Company’s accounting for each group of its derivative instruments and the effects
recognized in the financial statements are as follows:

a) Equity forward contracts (see note 13} are accounted for as equity instruments, in accordance to EITF
abstract 00-19 (“Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled
in, a Company’s Own Stock”, and gains and losses are recognized as an adjustment to stockholders’
equity upon settlement.

b) Foreign exchange forward contracts (see note 13), entered to protect the value of the Company’s net
investment in foreign subsidiaries, are accounted for at fair value as assets or liabilities with offset in
equity as part of the reiated foreign currency translation adjustment under Mexican GAAP. As of June
30, 2001, the Company has recorded an asset of approximately U.S.$27.1 million against stockholders’
equity. There is no adjustment from these contracts for purposes of the reconciliation of stockholders’
equity or the reconciliation of net income to U.S. GAAP.

¢) Interest rate swaps (see note 10), for a notional amount of U.S.$711million, were entered as hedges in
order to reduce the financial expense on a portion of the Company!s fixed debt. Under Mexican GAAP,
these contracts are recorded at their estimated fair market value in the balance sheet with an offset in
equity, and periodic cash flows on swaps are treated as adjustment of interest expense. As of June 30,
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2001, the Company recorded a gain of approximately U.S.$4.9 million in the interest expense from the
periodic cash flows on the swaps and a loss of approximately U.S.$20.4 million from the fair value
recognition in equity. For purposes of the reconciliation of net income for the six months ended June
30, 2001 to U.S. GAAP, approximately U.S.$20.4 million (Ps192.2 million) were charged to earnings
as part of the Comprehensive Financing Result with offset in equity, of which a gain of approximately
U.S.56.3 million (Ps57.9 million) corresponds to the initial effect for the adoption of SFAS 133 and a
loss of approximately U.S.$26.6 million (Ps244.5 million) relates to changes in fair value for the six
months ended June 30, 2001,

In addition, as of June 30, 2001, there are other interest rate swaps for a notional amount of US$450
million, entered to swap the interest rate of forecasted new debt. Under Mexican GAAP, the fair value
recognition of these contracts led to a loss of approximately U.S.$9.5 million, recorded in eamings as
part of the Comprehensive Financing Result for the six months ended June 30, 2001. There is no
adjustment to U.S. GAAP from these contracts.

d) Cross currency swaps (see note 10), for a notional amount of approximately U.S.$911.8 million at June
30, 2001, were entered as hedges on debt denominated in foreign currencies to reduce the overall
interest expense of such debt. Under Mexican GAAP, at June 30, 2001, the Company had recognized a
fair value gain from these contracts of approximately U.S.$149.3 million in earnings as part of the
Comprehensive Financing Result with an offset in the underlying hedged debt, of which approximately
U.5.598.5 million (Ps905.9 million) correspond to the changes in fair value for the six months ended
June 30, 2001, and approximately U.S.$50.8 million (Ps467.2 million), correspond to the fair value
recognition in the year 2000, which is included in retained earnings. For purposes of the reconciliation
of net income for the six months ended June 30, 2001 to U.S. GAAP, a gain of approximately
U.S.$50.8 million (Ps467.2 million) has been reclassified from equity to the accumulated initial effect
from the adoption of SFAS 133.

In addition, other cross currency swaps for a notional amount of U.S.$300 million at June 30, 2001 had
been entered to swap interest rate and currency of forecasted new debt. Under Mexican GAAP, for the
six months ended June 30, 2001, the fair value recognition led to a gain of approximately U.S5.51.2
million that was recorded in earnings as part of the Comprehensive Financing Result with an offset in
the balance sheet.

e) Interest rate swap options (see note 10), for a notional amount of approximately U.S.$1,605.9 million
at June 30, 2001 had been entered into as a strategy to swap the interest rate of forecasted new debt, at
the counterparties’ option, have been recorded at their estimated fair market value in the balance sheet.
For the six months ended June 30, 2001, the Company recognized a loss of approximately U.S.$11.8
million in the income statement as part of the Comprehensive Financing Result.

f)  For the six months ended June 30, 2001, third party equity forward contracts (see note 13) had an
estimated fair market value loss of approximately U.S.$7.4 million, which was recorded in the income
statement as part of the Comprehensive Financing Result under Mexican GAAP. There is no
adjustment under U.S. GAAP.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of cash, trade accounts receivable, other accounts receivable, trade accounts payable,
other accounts payable and accrued expenses and short-term debt, approximates fair value because of the short-
term maturity of these financial assets and liabilities.
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Marketable securities and long-term investments are accounted for at fair value, which is based on quoted
market prices for these or similar instruments.

The carrying value of the Company’s long-term debt and the related fair value based on the quoted market
prices for the same or similar issues or on the current rates offered to the Company for debt of the same
remaining maturities (or determined by discounting future cash flows using borrowing rates currently available to
the Company) at December 31, 2000 is summarized as follows:

Carrying Estimated

Amount Fair value
Bank Joans ..o s ae e s eebeae e s e nraesens Ps11,949,211 11,936,555
NOtES PAYADIE ..ottt et 17,346,725 17,631,898

As discussed in notes 2D and 12E, the Company has designated certain debt as hedges of its investment in
foreign subsidiaries and, for Mexican GAAP purposes, records foreign exchange fluctuations on such debt in
equity. For purposes of the U.S. GAAP net income reconciliation, expense of Ps3,472,366 in 1998, Ps1,861,088
in 1999, Ps1,435,323 in 2000 and Ps1,221,246 and an income of Ps687,846 as of June 30, 2000 and 2001,
respectively, was recognized as foreign exchange losses since the related debt does not meet the conditions set
forth in SFAS 52 for hedge accounting purposes, given that the currencies involved do not move in tandem.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company sells its products primarily to distributors for the construction industry with no specific
geographic concentration within the countries in which the Company operates. No single customer accounted for
a significant amount of the Company’s sales, and there were no significant accounts receivable from a single
customer at December 31, 1999, 2000 and June 30, 2001. The Company performs evaluations of its customers’
credit histories and establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon the credit risk of specific
customers and historical trends. In addition, there is no concentration of suppliers for the purchases of raw
materials. '
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(n) Stock Option Programs

As described in note 12B, pursuant to the Company’s Stock Option Plan to which eligible officers and key
employees are entitled to participate in, the Company’s Boards of Directors may grant stock options for up to
216,300,000 shares (72,100,000 CPOs) of authorized but unissued Series “A” and “B” common stock. Stock
option activity during the periods is indicated in note 12B.

The Company applies APB Opinion No. 25 (“APB 257} in accounting for its Plan under U.S. GAAP.
According to APB 25, the Company’s Plan fulfills the type of a compensatory for services plan, where the price
required from the employee at the measurement date is materially equal to the quoted market price of the stock;
therefore, no compensation cost has been recognized for its stock options in the financial statements. Had the
Company determined compensation cost based on the fair value at the grant date for its stock options under
SFAS 123, using the Black-Scholes pricing model, the Company’s net income would have been reduced to the
pro forma amounts indicated below:

1998 1999 2000
Net income, as reported (Mexican GAAP) ........c.ccoveeveceernennene. Ps7,887,146 9,163,422 9,304,851
Net income, proforma..........ccocoeeiiieneierncennrcnereseeecrre s 7,637,028 8,973,798 9,115,952
Basic earnings per share, as reported .......c..ccccceceenreniinnnncnencnnans 2.08 243 2.26
Basic earnings per share, proforma..........ccocoveievvvinneineniennn, Ps 2.01 2.38 221
* See note 2A.
The assumptions for the Black-Scholes model were:
1998 1999 2000
Expected dividend yield.........cccoieiniiiiceeiieececreee e 2% 2% 2%
VOLALIHEY ©.vvevviierieiieeetecceree oot estesteseseab et saesre sreebeebeesensbrs s nsrebnannns 30% 30% 30%
Risk free INEreSt TALE .....covveviviicieiecener et e 22% 15%  12.5%
TEIUIE .ttt ettt et et e e 10 years 10 years 10 years

(o) Supplemental Cash Flow Information Under U.S. GAAP

The Company presents a consolidated statement of changes in financial position under Mexican GAAP in
accordance with Bulletin B-12, which identifies the sources and uses of resources determined based upon the
differences between beginning and ending financial statements balances in constant pesos. It also requires
monetary position result and unrealized foreign exchange gain and loss to be treated as cash items in the
determination of resources provided by operations. U.S. GAAP requires a statement of cash flow presenting only
cash movements and excluding non-cash items. SFAS 95 does not provide any specific guidance with respect to
inflation-adjusted financial statements.

The classifications of cash flows under Mexican GAAP and U.S. GAAP are basically the same, in respect to
the transactions presented under each caption. The nature of the differences between Mexican GAAP and U.S.
GAAP in the amounts reported is mainly due to (i) the elimination of inflationary effects of monetary assets and
liabilities from financing and investing activities variations, against the corresponding monetary position result in
operating activities, (ii) the elimination of exchange rate fluctuations from financing and investing activities
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variations, against the corresponding unrealized foreign exchange gain or loss included in operating activities,
and (iii) the recognition in operating, financing and investing activities of the U.S. GAAP adjustments.

The following table summarizes the cash flow items as required under SFAS 95 provided by (used in)
operating, financing and investing activities for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999, 2000 and of June 30,
2001, giving effect to the U.S. GAAP adjustments, excluding the effects of inflation required by Bulletin B-10
and Bulletin B-15. The following information is presented on a historical peso basis and is not presented in pesos
of constant purchasing power.

1998 1999 2000
(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended
Years Ended December 31, June 30,
1998 1999 2000 2000 2001

Net cash provided by operating activities..... Ps11,779,184 10,275,197 9,651,375 5,438,583 8,095,875
Net cash provided by (used in) financing

ACHVILIES 1ovveeviieiereiveieer e rve e ees (2,821,576) 148,447 19,136,615 (3,572,379) (1,592,845)
Net cash used in investing activities ............. (8,027,317) (10,351,043) (26,767,096) (2,911,897) (5,716,201)

Net cash flow from operating activities reflects cash payments for interest and income taxes as follows:

(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended
Years Ended December 31, June 30,
1998 1999 2000 2000 2001
Interest paid........cceciviiininin Ps3,652,444 3,291,193 4,491,268 2,277,346 2,069,294
Income taxes paid......c.cccvviniiiiiccnic 321,372 431,144 1,106,300 551,629 326,160

Non-cash activities are comprised of the following:

*  Acquisition of property and equipment through capital leases amounted to Ps24,150 in 1998,
Ps159,480 in 1999 and Ps749,835 in 2000.

+  Liabilities assumed through the acquisition of businesses (see note 6) was Ps498,834 in 1998,
Ps4,147,318 in 1999 and Ps5,984,602 in 2000.
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{p) Condensed Financial Statements under U.S. GAAP

The following table presents consolidated condensed balance sheets at December 31, 1999 and 2000 and at
June 30, 2001 (unaudited) and statements of income for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and
for the six months ended June 30, 2001 (unaudited) of the Company as prepared under U.S. GAAP. This
summarized financial information includes all differences described in this footnote as well as certain other
reclassifications required for purposes of U.S. GAAP:

(Unaudited)
At December 31, At June 30,
1999 2000 2001
Balance sheets
CULTENE BSSCLS. veviervirerteeirrereererireresseestseieessssessrsssesesssnsssstesssesssssans Ps 18,925,698 19,266,199 22,916,386
Investments and NON-CUITENT @SSEIS ..vviiiiiirrrriereeieeiiiiiieiereeeensseneneens 8,070,391 8,378,922 6,964,459
Property, machinery and equipment.........occvevvieiiicneecinennennnnnaens 81,645,183 95,959,708 90,729,710
Deferred Charges.....cccoeerimieincrinereineseeenene e 25,462,317 37,096,246 35,782,354
TOLAl SSELS 1eviveeiiinrienrecerereeteeereerire e e st eeebeerstssenbeserreseeaaeas 134,103,589 160,701,075 156,392,909
CUrrent LabIlItIES c.vvververeeieeereesrercnr e it e erieeser e ereesntssebe s sereesbbeeas 25,101,560 38,958,701 31,234,829
Long-term debt .o.ooveeiieiene e e 37,649,930 27,561,179 33,057,108
Other non-current Habilities ... e 17,172,028 22,258,995 21,953,210
Total Habilities......occvoviiviiecre e 79,923,518 88,778,875 86,245,147
Mezzanine items:
Putable capital securities (see note 12F) ... 2,647,402 2,456,227 2,265,000
TEemMPOrary EQUILY .....occcieriree et e 5,453,266 5,508,010 5,540,545
Preferred equity (see note 12F) c...cccccccveininienencencieine e — 14,737,359 9,694,200
MENOTILY INEETEST ..ottt sae e s 6,771,262 6,600,639 6,526,426
Total MEZZANINE TLEMS ..c.ociveeeevriireiriieeecvieeeeeerarrreeeereree i 14,871,930 29,302,235 24,026,171
Stockholders” €qUILY .....coceueiirrerericeriticr e 39,308,141 42,619,965 46,121,591
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ........ccccceeerriene. Ps134,103,589 160,701,075 156,392,909
(Unaudited)
Six Months
As of December 31, Ended June 30,
1998 1999 2000 2000 2001
Statements of income
Net sales....cooiimminnicniiieneeiereens Ps52,729,166 50,446,141 54,614,773 27,548,218 30,792,701
Gross Profit ......ceeeecrecenencereerinecne 21,663,118 20,653,935 23,199,634 11,949,401 13,170,500

Operating income
Comprehensive financial income

11,812,061 11,184,016 13,293,096 7,172,130 6,043,839

(<101} 3 N PRI (3,284,841) (321,104) (2,592,702) (1,745,181) 2,128,571
Other expenses, Net.........ccc.cccoemeienne 561,806 (679,207) (405,916) (284,549) (154,323)
Income tax (including deferred)............. (2,752,588) (4,236,627) (1,656,234) (1,053,794) (1,361,926)
Equity in income of affiliates ............. 325,419 454,224 351,223 195,551 147,894
Consolidated net income ..........cevee. 6,661,857 6,401,302 8980470 4,284,157 6,804,055
‘Minority interest net income .............. 404,379 430,212 507,336 162,842 774,995
Majority interest net income............... Ps 6,257,478 5,971,090 8,482,134 4,121,315 6,029,060
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For purposes of the consolidated condensed financial statements, the December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000
and June 30, 2000 figures were restated to constant pesos at June 30, 2001 using the Mexican inflation rate, in
order to comply with current requirements of Regulation S-X.

(g) Resratement to Constant Pesos of Prior Years

The following table presents summarized financial information under Mexican GAAP of the consolidated
statements of income for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and for the six months ended
June 30, 2000, in Mexican pesos of equivalent constant purchasing power of June 30, 2001 using the Mexican
inflation rate:

(Unaudited)
Six Months
Ended June 30,
1998 1999 2000 2000
SAlES ..ot Ps53,430,869 Ps 51,126,252 Ps 55,224,052 Ps27,875,851
Gross profit......c..cccceceeneeecrvieneenenn. 22,537,461 22,641,116 24,365,519 12,459,861
Operating inCome .....ooecvvcereercriorrenne 14,583,446 15,211,913 16,248,733 8,437,395
Majority interest net income ............. 9,945,763 10,299,028 9,818,208 5,033,097
CUITENL ASSEIS o.oovvverereereeveeescvenreeeen 18,090,666 19,697,250
NON-Current assetS......oovvveerrerieaennnne 107,547,456 135,136,981
Current liabilities.....c..coceeeverrivenvnene. 19,339,283 38,516,011
Non-current liabilitieS ......ccovvvvvennnen. 38,158,551 41,170,199
Majority interest stockholders’
C BQUILY et 54,876,283 51,590,877
Minority interest stockholders’ ‘
EQUILY oot ereceeree e ereees 13,264,005 .23,557,144

(r) Environmental Costs

Environmental expenditures related to current operations are expensed or capitalized, as appropriate.
Remediation costs related to an existing condition caused by past operations are accrued when it is probable that
these costs will be incurred and can be reasonably estimated. The Company accrues for losses associated with
environmental remediation obligations when such losses are probable and reasonably estimable. Costs of future
expenditures for environmental remediation obligations are not discounted to their present value. Recoveries of
environmental remediation costs from other parties are recorded as assets when their receipt is deemed probable.
Prior to its acquisition in 1989, one subsidiary of the Company in the United States employed the use of
underground storage tanks in their operations. Subsequently, the use of those tanks resulted in environmental
remediation liabilities for several of the subsidiary’s plant sites. Pursuant to a 1996 settlement agreement with the
former owners, the subsidiary is responsible for 10% of remediation costs at one of the plant sites and 100% of
remediation costs for the remaining sites.

As of December 31, 1999 and 2000, the subsidiary had accrued its best estimate of its obligation with
respect to the sites of approximately Ps7.7 million in 1999 and Ps6.7 million in 2000, which are included in
accrued liabilities.

In May 1999, several companies filed a civil liability suit against two of our Colombian subsidiaries,
alleging that these subsidiaries were responsible for deterioration in the rice producing capacity of certain land of
the plaintiffs, caused by pollution emanating from our cement plants located in Ibagué, Colombia. The plaintiffs
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have asked for relief in the amount of U.S.$12.6 million. This proceeding has not yet reached the evidentiary
stage, since both parties have appealed the court’s evidentiary decree. Upon resolution of the appeals, the
evidentiary stage will begin. We estimate that this proceeding will continue for approximately six years before
final resolution. For accounting purposes under both Mexican and U.S. GAAP, the Company believes that the
accrual criteria have not been met in connection with this civil action.

In addition to the contingencies disclosed in note 18G, the Company is not currently facing other situation
as those described above which might result in the recognition of an environmental remediation liability.

(s) Supplemental Debt Information

Classification of Short-term debt Expected to be Refinanced-—In accordance with U.S. GAAP, and for
purposes of the condensed information of note 20(p), at December 31, 1999, U.S.$226 million (Ps2,268 million)
of debt was reclassified from long-term debt to short-term.

(t) Impairment of Long Lived Assets

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 121 “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and
for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of,” long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable,

Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of an asset
to future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the
impairment to be recognized is the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of
the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value, less costs to sell
(see note 7).

For Mexican GAAP purposes the impairment provisions are reported in other income and expense. For
purposes of note 20(p), these provisions are reported as a component of operating income.

(u) Business combinations

As mentioned in note 6, during November 2000, the Company acquired a majority equity interest in
Southdown. For purposes of disclosure under U.S. GAAP according to APB 16, companies must provide on a
pro forma basis, the effects of certain information as if consolidating the acquired companies since the beginning
of the reported period. Therefore, for purposes of compliance with APB 16 disclosure requirement, the Company
is providing pro forma selected income statement amounts for the consolidation of Southdown, as if it had been
consolidated for the full year 2000.
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The approximated amounts are as follows:

As of December 31, 1999
Southdown Southdown
Year-end Year end 1999
Cemex as 1999 as Pro forma Inflation Cemex
Reported Reported(2) adjustments(3) Adjustments’ Proforma
Net SAlES..uiireeiiiiccrcrire e rereereneeesinnes Ps45,488,895 13,467,863 —_ 5,637,358 64,594,116
Operating inCome .........cocoovevenievieninnrenniene 13,534,595 3,465,979 (588,781) 1,677,318 18,089,111
Majority interest net income (loss)........... 9,163,422 2,259,822 (3,027,568) 1,135,607 9,531,283
Basic earnings per share .........cccoevennnenne Ps 2.43 2.53
Diluted earnings per share ........cc.coccveeerene Ps 242 252
As of December 31, 2000
Southdown
Southdown Ten-Months
Cemex as Ten-Months Proforma Inflation Cemex
Reported(1) as Reported(2) adjustments(3) Adjustments Pro forma

NEt SAIES...ccvieeviereereeecricrrreee e e ecveeaeens Ps52,336,591 10,957,718 — 2,887.461 66,181,770
Operating inCome ........oceeeveevrrerenecennens 15,399,147 2,777,501 (455,221) 849,586 18,571,013
Majority interest net income (loss)......... 9,304,851 1,233,026  (2,405,465) 513,358 8,645,770
Basic earnings per share .........ococveeeae Ps 2.26 2.10
Diluted earnings per share...................... Ps 2.25 2.09

1) Includes Southdown results of operations for the two-month period ended December 31, 2000 (see note 6A).

2) Southdown year ended December 31, 1999 and ten-month period ended October 31, 2000, respectively, as
reported in Southdown’s annual audited financial statements.

3) For purposes of the pro forma information presented in the tables above, “Southdown year ended 1999 pro
forma adjustments” and “Southdown ten-months pro forma adjustments” columns, reflect the acquisition of
Southdown for the year ended December 31, 1999 and the ten months ended, October 31, 2000, as if
occurred at the beginning of such periods. The summmary of adjustments is as foilows:

3.1) The anticipated interest expense of U.5.$106.2 million in 1999 and U.S.$88.5 million in 2000, resulting
from the U.S.$1,328 million debt financing assumed by CENA in connection with Southdown
acquisition, which was determined with a weighted average interest rate of 8%, representative of the
borrowing conditions.

3.2) The estimated amortization expense of U.S.$64.7 million in 1999 and U.S.$53.8 million in 2000,
arising from the U.S.$1,161.9 million goodwill recorded in the acquisition, resulting from the
allocation of the net purchase price of U.S.$2,720.3 million, including adjusting assets and liabilities to
fair value at the date of the acquisition. The purchase price includes approximately U.S.$2,628.3
million to acquire 100% of the outstanding shares of common stock and approximately U.S.$48 million
to liquidate stock options of Southdown, while the remainder relates primarily to change of control
payments, investment banking fees and other transaction costs.

3.3) The additional estimated depreciation expense of U.S.$55.6 million in 1999 and U.S.$46.3 million in
2000, resulting from the revaluation of property, plant and equipment.

3.4) The income tax benefit at the statutory rate of U.S5.$56.6 million in 1999 and U.S.$47.2 million in 2000,
resulting from the additional depreciation and interest expense.

3.5) The anticipated preferred dividends of U.S5.$116.0 million in 1999 and U.S.$103.3 million in 2000,
resulting from U.S.$1.5 billion preferred equity financing transaction used by CEMEX for the
acquisition (see note 12F).
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(v) Guaranteed debt

In June 2000, the Company concluded the issuance of up to U.S.$200 million aggregate principal amount of
9.625% Exchange Notes due 2009 in a registered public offering in the United States of America in exchange for
U.S.$200 million aggregate principal amount of its outstanding 9.625% Notes due 2009. The Exchange Notes are
fully and unconditionally guaranteed, on a joint and several basis, as to payment of principal and interest by two
of the Company’s Mexican subsidiaries: CEMEX México, S.A. de C.V. (formerly, TOLMEX, S.A. de C.V.), and
Empresas Tolteca de México, S.A. de C.V. (formerly, CEMEX Control, S.A. de C.V.). These two companies,
together with their subsidiaries, account for substantially all the revenues and operating income of the
Company’s Mexican operations.

During 1999, through a series of mergers, the cement and ready-mix concrete operations of the Company in
Mexico were integrated into CEMEX México, S.A. de C.V. (“CEMEX Mexico™). Prior to these mergers,
Tolmex, S.A. de C.V., Serto Construcciones, S.A. de C.V., Cemento Portland Nacional, S.A. de C.V., Cementos
Mexicanos, S.A. de C.V. and CEMEX Control, S.A. de C.V. were the guarantors of part of the indebtedness of
the Company (the “Guarantors”). Concurrent with this merging process, the legal name of CEMEX Control, S.A.
de C.V. was changed to Empresas Tolteca de México, S.A. de C.V. (this subsidiary was not part of the merging
process described above).

As mentioned in note 10, as of December 31, 1999 and 2000, indebtedness of the Company in an aggregate
amount of U.S.$2,090 million and U.S.$1,770 million, respectively, is fully and unconditionally guaranteed, on a
joint and several basis, by CEMEX Mexico and Empresas Tolteca de México, S.A. de C.V. (“ETM”). The
Company'’s indebtedness guaranteed by these two subsidiaries did not increase as a result of the exchange offer
described above.

As of December 31, 2000, the Company owned a 99.9% equity interest in CEMEX Mexico, including a
2.5% equity interest held by a Mexican trust in connection with an equity financing transaction due in 2007 (see
note 12G), and CEMEX Mexico owned a 99.9% equity interest in ETM. The current “General Law of
Commercial Corporations” in Mexico prescribes a minimum participation of two shareholders on the equity of a
Mexican corporation; therefore, no single company or person can own 100% equity interest of another entity.

For purposes of the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets, income statements and
statements of changes in financial position under Mexican GAAP, the first column, “CEMEX,” corresponds to
the parent company issuer, which has no material operations other than its investments in subsidiaries and
affiliated companies. The second column, “Combined Guarantors”, represents the combined amounts of CEMEX
Mexico and ETM, after adjustments and eliminations relating to their consolidation. As mentioned above, the
Guarantors represent substantially all the Company’s Mexican operations. The third column, “Combined non-
guarantors”, represents the amounts of the international subsidiaries of the Company, CEMEX Mexico and ETM
non-Guarantor subsidiaries, and other immaterial Mexican non-guarantor subsidiaries of the Company. The
fourth column, “Adjustments and eliminations”, includes all the amounts resulting from consolidation of the
Company, the Guarantors and the non-guarantor subsidiaries, as well as the corresponding constant pesos
adjustment as of June 30, 2001, for the periods ended December 31, 1998 and 1999 described below. The fifth
column, “CEMEX Consolidated”, represents the Company’s consolidated amounts as reported in the audited
consolidated financial statements. Additionally, all the amounts presented under the line item “Investments in
affiliates” for both the balance sheet and the income statement are accounted for by the equity method.

The accompanying condensed consolidating financial information as of December 31, 1998 and for the year
ended December 31, 1998, reflects the total combined equity of the Guarantors and related transactions as if the
mergers described in the previous paragraphs had been completed on January 1, 1997, as a reorganization of
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entities under common control (similar to pooling of interest). All significant related parties balances and
transactions between the Guarantors and the merged entities have been eliminated in the “Combined Guarantors”
column. Such information is presented in Mexican GAAP, and net income and stockholders’ equity have also

been reconciled to US GAAP.

As mentioned in note 2B, according to Mexican GAAP Bulletin B-15, the financial statements of those
entities with foreign consolidated subsidiaries should be presented in constant pesos as of the latest balance sheet
presented, considering the inflation of each country in which the entity operates, as well as the changes in the
exchange rate between the functional currency of each country vis-a-vis the reporting currency (in this case, the
Mexican Peso). As a result of the aforementioned, for comparability purposes the condensed financial
information of CEMEX, the “Combined Guarantors” and the “Combined non-guarantors” amounts have been
adjusted to reflect constant pesos as of June 30, 2001, using the Mexican inflation index arising from the NCPI.
Therefore, the corresponding inflation adjustment derived from the application of Bulletin B-15 in the

consolidated amounts is presented within the “Adjustments and eliminations” column.

Pursuant to the acquisition of Centro Distribudor de Cemento, S.A. de C.V., the parent company of
substantially all of the international operations of CEMEX, by CEMEX Mexico in January 2001 (see note 2C),
the acquisition made by CEMEX Mexico from CEMEX is presented as a reorganization of entities under
common control (similar to pooling of interest). (unaudited)

The information is as follows:

Condensed consolidating balance sheets:

CUITENL ASSEIS covevirrerirvverecrreeeiessrtervenevees
Investment in affiliates.......oovvwoverevceennn.
Other non-current assets........cccceevvereereens
Property, machinery and equipment .......
Deferred charges ........ccoeoeereoveiiirsecreccens

Total SSEtS . vriirirriiiiie e st cere e e

Current liabilities......cccccoeevnrrveiiriireennenn,
Long-term debt.........c.cccceveeennne. e
Other non-current liabilities ....................

Total liabilities .........ccccoevieeeveencrccriinnneee
Majority interest stockholders’ equity ....
Minority interest.......coceevcvemverccreniennnns

Stockholders’ equity under
Mexican GAAP......evcvncnen,

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Combined Adjustments
Combined non- and CEMEX

CEMEX Guarantors guarantors Eliminations  Consolidated

Ps 835,498 10,043,119 18,253,589 (13,036,279) 16,095,927
43,442919 5,480,876 4,682,989 (47,814,669) 5,792,115
25,135,805 548,038 1,435,795 (25,494,087) 1,625,551
1,582,356 27,392,583 44,328,627 (8,087,681) 65,215,885
4,771,754 5,419,296 17,781,347 (4917,046) 23,055,351
75,768,332 48,883,912 86,482,347 (99,349,762) 111,784,829
10,019,542 4,025,567 16,091,276 (12,929,519) 17,206,866
16,900,222 314,745 17,513,544  (3,254,410) 31,474,101
23,133 26,329,079 1,868,150 (25,743,406) 2,476,956
26,942,897 30,669,391 35,472,970 (41,927,335) 51,157,923
48,825,435 18,214,521 39,128,140 (57,342,661) 48,825,435
— — 11,881,237 (79,766) 11,801,471
48,825,435 18,214,521 51,009,377 (57,422,427) 60,626,906
Ps75,768,332 48,883,912 86,482,347 (99,349,762) 111,784,829
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CUurrent aSSetS....ccceevveeeercirverervreerninnes
Investment in affiliates ..........c...........
Other non-current assets .........c....o.....
Property, machinery and equipment ..
Deferred charges.......ccceveveiierennene

Total asSets....cccevereecereerreeverrerenenens
Current liabilities ......c.covvvveveeeeeericnennns

Long-term debt ......cocoerverrinmiecencenes
Other non-current liabilities...............

Total liabilities ......cccoveerencrevcnreerennes

Majority interest stockholders’
EUILY .voveriirreireieeteetses e renee
Minority interest .......ccoccoimviicrciennns

Stockholders’ equity under Mexican

June 30, 2001

CUITent aSSELS ...covververeerrreeererereerrveianes
Investment in affiliates..............c........
Other non-current assets........c..cverveenee
Property, machinery and equipment ...
Deferred charges ........cccceevvvervevveneniene

Total aSSELS...vvvvverrermeireireiriiieeeireesreees

Current liabilitieS.....cocerueeereverreeererrneens
Long-term debt.........cccovininiinecnnn
Other non-current liabilities.................

Total liabilities .....covvevniniicnniiinis

Majority interest stockholders’ equity
Minority interest.......ccecevvvcnererionenes

Stockholders’ equity under

Total liabilities and stockholders’
EQUILY ..eveererenrcecenercneres e rere bt s

Adjustments

Combined Combined and CEMEX
CEMEX Guarantors  non-guarantors  Eliminations Consolidated
Ps 6,488,828 5,429,925 22,827,632 (16,079,031) 18,667,354
47,253,722 7,251,730 5,933,454 (55,477,018) 4,961,888
19,505,473 3,925,183 8,194,123  (28,978,375) 2,646,404
1,577,885 25,345,837 61,009,855 (3,815,173) 84,118,404
5,243,582 5,392,550 30,724,195 (5,015,855) 36,344,472
80,069,490 47,345,225 128,689,259 (109,365,452) 146,738,522
12,209,323 6,405,006 29,066,753 (11,178,930 36,502,152
18,913,879 248207 11,040,089 (4,977,424) 25,224,751
52,907 28,205,554 11,453,444  (25,919,095) 13,792,810
31,176,109 34,858,767 51,560,286  (42,075,449) 75,519,713
48,893,381 12,486,458 53,833,447  (66,319,905) 48,893,381
—_ — 23,295,526 (970,098) 22,325,428
43,893,381 12,486,458 77,128,973 (67,290,003) 71,218,809
Ps80,069,490 47,345,225 128,689,259 (109,365,452) 146,738,522

Combined Adjustments

Combined non- and CEMEX
CEMEX Guarantors guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
Ps16,389,718 9,907,145 35,742,777 (38,620,998) 23,418,642
13,252,961 57,390,495 5,617,276  (71,381,232) 4,879,500
53,051,922 1,186,157 3,599,058  (56,035,305) 1,801,832
1,544,061 24,209,988 56,492,309 151,608 82,397,966
5,859,744 5,286,899 28,770,273 (2,597,294) 37,319,622
90,098,406 - 97,980,684 130,221,693 (168,483,221) 149,817,562
19,279,476 17,335,071 19,666,811 (25,653,948) 30,627,410
13,220,388 227,716 — 18,788,421 32,236,525
3,976,209 64,183,330 27,267,373  (80,348,729) 15,078,183
36,476,073 81,746,117 46,934,184  (87,214,256) 77,942,118
53,622,333 16,234,567 61,586,362  (77,820,929) 53,622,333
— 21,701,147 (3,448,036) 18,253,111
53,622,333 16,234,567 83,287,509  (81,268,965) 71,875,444
Ps90,098,406 97.980,684 130,221,693 (168,483,221) 149,817,562
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
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Condensed consolidating income statements:

Adjustments
Combined Combined and CEMEX
LS’S CEMEX Guarantors  non-guarantors eliminations Consolidated
SAlES .. Ps — 21,281,676 32,826,960 (11,737,118) 42,371,518
Operating iNCOMe.........ccccveerereieuecinrnrneene (129,578) 9,119,989 4,902,101 (2,327,610) 11,564,902
Comprehensive financing result .............. (632,399) (538,859) 143,005 (269,788) (1,298,041)
Other income (expense), Net........cownee.. 815,213 (1,411,668) 116,103 (1,013,470) (1,493,822)
INCOINE LAX . crveirreieriiriieeenieeerreerereceeeaeeneees 1,960,889 (2,227,840) (769,885) 384,580 (652,256)
Equity in income of affiliates .................. 5,873,021 87,380 (465,738)  (5,340,774) 153,889
Consolidated net income..........ooevcereriinnnne 7,887,146 5,029,002 3,925,586 (8,567,062) 8,274,672
Minority interest .....oveeeveeeeercricecvcnrenniens — — 422,320 (34,794) 387,526
Majority net inCoOme.......coenerervineinennens Ps7,887,146 5,029,002 3,503,266 (8,532,268) 7,887,146
Combined Adjustments
Combined non- and CEMEX
29_ CEMEX Guarantors guarantors eliminations  Consolidated
SAlES it Ps — 21,441,599 33,830,576 (9,783,280) 45,488,895
Operating iNCOME .......vvvevierereerecrninsrinieee (119,062) 9,830,335 5,647,092  (1,823,770) 13,534,595
Comprehensive financing result.................. 953,039 5,344,645 2,795,830 (9.,366,080) (272,566)
Other income (expense), net .........c.c.cceveeeee. 899,288 (4,067,389) (1,328,160) 1,699,272 (2,796,989)
INCOME taX c..oviivveieriree e e 72,162 (520,367) (713,114) 156,302 (1,005,017)
Equity in income of affiliates...................... 7,357,995 541,668 (282,701) (7,382,560) 234,402
Consolidated net income.............ccccouvvenneen. 9,163,422 11,128,892 6,118,947 (16,716,836) 9,694,425
MinOority interest.......cocevvvereerenerierceicnrereennns — — 369,931 161,072 531,003
Majority net inCome .........coceeverarcireneerenens Ps9,163,422 11,128,892 5,749,016 (16,877,908) 9,163,422
Combined  Adjustments
Combined non- and CEMEX
220_ CEMEX Guarantors guarantors eliminations Consolidated
SAIES .ot e Ps — 21,756,680 39,429,845 (8,849,934) 52,336,591
_Operating iNCOME .........ocvvrercrremiiivereenreneaene (93,563 5,849,690 5,832,668 3,810,352 15,399,147
Comprehensive financing result..........coeveee. 101,617 (1,617,152) (2,884,822) 2,781,971 (1,618,386)
Other income (expense), Net .........c.ocereereennen. 2,971,936 (806,861)  (817,347) (3,529,218) (2,181,490)
INCOME tAX cevvieiiieecvecreere e 870,155 (123,646) (2,427,392) (123,167) (1,804,050)
Equity in income of affiliates..........ccccccnun... 5,454,706 (226,624) 95,768 (5,088,332) 235,518
Consolidated net inCome..........ccoceeeevvvverennnans 9,304,851 3,075,407 (201,125) (2,148,394) 10,030,739
Minority Interest.........ccoeervervvervrenrenieniecsninns —_ —_ (702,908) 1,428,796 725,888
Majority net inCome.......cocvvvivrvernrecenrenerenns Ps9,304,851 3,075,407 501,783 (3,577,190) 9,304,851




CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)

(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Combined Adjustments
Combined non- and CEMEX

Mm__ CEMEX Guarantors guarantors eliminations Consolidated
SaAlES vt e Ps — 10,977,769 19,055,642 (4,860,451) 25,172,960
Operating INCOME .........ccocecuerirrcererencenns (33,490) 5,487,850 3,354,817 (1,189,886) 7,619,291
Comprehensive financing result............... 351,401 (1,354,330) (279,912) 426,238 (856,603)
Other income (expense), Net...........cucunee. 370,558 (1,741,515) (263,006) 685,066 (948,897)
INCOME tAX coovvvreeee e e re e e —_ (322,136) (728,024) (69,946) (1,120,106)
Equity in income of affiliates.................... 3,856,610 (144,501) (86,918) (3,534,581 90,610
Consolidated net income ......cceccvveeerveenneen. 4,545,079 1,925,368 1,996,957 (3,683,109) 4,784,295
Minority Interest..........c.cooevenenriniiiniecene. — — — 239,216 239,216
Majority net inCome .......cocceveeecrrecerennens Ps 4,545,079 1,925,368 1,996,957 (3,922,325) 4,545,079

Combined Adjustments
Combined non- and CEMEX

w CEMEX Guarantors guarantors eliminations Consolidated
SAIES ot Ps — 10,193,432 24,094,561 (3,214,511) 31,073,482
Operating inCome ..........coouviimvncnivececnnne. (38,424) 3,817,450 2,127,604 1,860,967 7,767,597
Comprehensive financing result............... (1,445,783) 2,909,032 3,149,507 (2,721,857) 1,890,899
Other income (expense), NEt.............en.... 112,940 (423,575) 20972  (1,113,426) (1,403,089)
Income taX cvvovcvvveerree et —  (1,314,866) (804,372) 1,058,134  (1,061,104)
Equity in income of affiliates.................. 7,621,989 768,078 11,542 (8,315,617) 85,992
Consolidated net income .........coovvvvevennnnes 6,250,722 5,756,119 4,505,253  (9,231,799) 7,280,295
Minority Interest.......coveererveeerreeserrrennnne — — (719,803) 1,749,376 1,029,573
Majority net inCOME .....o.ccoeveerereereerenencnnes Ps 6,250,722 5,756,119 5,225,056 (10,981,175) 6,250,722
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Condensed consolidating statements of changes in financial position:

Combined Adjustments

Combined Non- and CEMEX
1998 CEMEX Guarantors guarantors Eliminations  Consolidated
Operating activities:
Majority net inCOME ......ccovrvrvevererieeiseens Ps 7,887,146 5,029,002 3,503,266  (8,532,268) 7,887,146
Non-cash tems .......coocervrenrnrecrenenens (6,209,145) 1,498,512 3,374,442 5,723,182 4,386,991
Resources provided by operating
ACHIVILIES . cvvevereercee e 1,678,001 6,527,514 6,877,708  (2,809,086) 12,274,137
Net change in working capital................ (1,759,909) (1,335,902) (1,051,465) 3,826,920 (320,356)
Resources provided by operating
activities, Net.......cccveverrinicnnernenes (81,908) 5,191,612 5,826,243 1,017,834 11,953,781
Financing activities:
Bank loans and notes payable, net.......... (4,501,568) (1,244,474) 845,892 1,014,252  (3,885,898)
Dividends paid........ccccoocevrveeriiiinnncnnene. (1,629,198) (3,237,213) — 3,237,213 (1,629,198)
Issuance (repurchase) of common stock 1,512,290 — —_ — 1,512,290
Ohers ....oovvviieireetetee e (130,654) 999,282 733,403  (2,011,632) (409,601)
Resources used in financing
ACHVILIES cveereererrrercrerererens (4,749,130) (3,482,405) 1,579,295 2,239,833  (4,412,407)
Investing activities:
Property, machinery and equipment, net — (543,202) (510,271) 218,053 (835,420)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired.......... 6,679,112 —  (3,142,495) (6,028,663) (2,492,046)
Dividends received........cccooceeinierianinnne — — — — —
Minority Interest......coeveeverenecrenrerssiennes —_ —  (1,071,403) 221,764 (849,639)
Deferred charges.....c...coeeeeeneerecicirceanne (409,098) (513,177) 518,674 363,558 (40,043)
Ohers oo (1,219,087) —  (3,589,636) 1,649,069  (3,159,654)
Resources used in investing
ACHVILIES .eueoveeereerrrrrrreeeencereeneeans 5,050,927 (1,056,379) (7,795,131) (3,576,219) (7.,376,802)
Change in cash and temporary
INVESIMENES ....cveneerrnrrereerenieaeenae 219,889 652,828 (389,593) (318,552) 164,572
Cash and temporary investments
initial balance .........ccocooceveevennne 12,704 634,549 3,911,160 (728,419) 3,829,994
Cash and temporary investments
ending balance ............cocevconvnenes Ps 232,593 1,287,377 3,521,567  (1,046,971) 3,994,566
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
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Condensed consolidating statements of changes in financial position:

Adjustments
Combined Combined and CEMEX
1999 CEMEX Guarantors  Non-guarantors  Eliminations  Consolidated
Operating activities:
Majority net inCOME ..c..couvveerirrcecrnnns Ps 9,163,422 11,128,892 5,749,016  (16,877,908) 9,163,422
Non-cash items........oceevveceenrrnereerenens (7,791,815) 1,981,193  (4,927,150) 16,033,816 5,296,044
Resources provided by
operating activities ................ 1,371,607 13,110,085 821,866 (844,092) 14,459,466
Net change in working capital........... (7,406,366) 12,345,621 1,834,191 (6,707,991) 65,455
Resources provided by
operating activities, net ......... (6,034,759) 25,455,706 2,656,057 (7,552,083) 14,524,921
Financing activities:
Bank loans and notes payable, net .... (71.430,452) (2,245,345) 1,664,813 883,318  (7,127,666)
Dividends paid........c.ccoeovereeecrcrenieene (1,869,841) (12,967,758) — 12,967,758  (1,869,841)
Issuance (repurchase) of common
STOCK Loovireeereririr et 2,226,631 — — —_ 2,226,631
OLhErs ....o.veereeireiiere e 7,506  (7,037,565) 1,235,559 7,283,894 1,489,394
Resources used in financing
ACtIVILIES ...ooveeeieieieeie e (7,066,156) (22,250,668) 2,900,372 21,134970  (5,281,482)
Investing activities:
Property, machinery and equipment,

NEL.ueeriiiireereerierieseereereeserranrseesrestanes — (425,467) (2,389,873) 310,429  (2,504,911)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired .... 25,746,354 —  (6,692,611) (28,363,978) (9,310,235)
Dividends received.......ccoeoveevrerrnnnnee. 13,496,734 — (528,976) (12,967,758) —
Minority Interest........ovevvevecvrreereeenecns — —  (1,541,623) 169,985  (1,371,638)
Deferred charges ......ccoooeveeeeeereennnnnn. (2,407,196) 446,617 832,005 261,772 (866,802)
Ohers ..o (23,906,483) (2,174464) 3,926,373 26,045,413 3,890,839

Resources used in investing

ACHVILIES ..vvvveveveeeirnr e 12,929,409  (2,153,314) (6,394,705) (14,544,137) (10,162,747)
Change in cash and temporary

INVEStMENntS.....c.covveveereveereennes (171,506) 1,051,724 (838,276) (961,250) (919,308)
Cash and temporary

investments initial balance .... 232,593 1,287,377 3,521,567 (1,046,971) 3,994,566
Cash and temporary

investments ending balance... Ps 61,087 2,339,101 2,683,291 (2,008,221) 3,075,258
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Condensed consolidating statements of changes in financial position:

2000

Operating activities:
Majority net inCOMeE.....cccevvvrverrrerivunnnnn,
Non-cash ems ......ccevvrrereerirerieiniennes

Resources provided by operating
ACHIVILIES ...ceveeeceeicecieciiiceece
Net change in working capital...............

Resources provided by operating
ACHVILIES, NEL...veceveecareereieereneenn
Financing activities:
Bank loans and notes payable, net........
Dividends paid.....c..c.ccovveincriicicenens
Issuance (repurchase) of common

Issuance of preferred stock
by subsidiaries ..........cccveevrieienanns

Resources used in financing
ACHVIHES ..ot
Investing activities:
Property, machinery and equipment,

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired........
Dividends received .......c.coocreinennennn.
Minority interest ..........c.ccoeieviiiiiicnnees
Deferred charges....c.cocceeviicicnincnnnn,
Others.....cocveeeveniiieiiic e

Resources used in
investing activities ...................

Change in cash and
temporary investments.............
Cash and temporary investments
initial balance.........ccccevenerenen.

Cash and temporary investments
ending balance .......c..ocevinucnnnne

Adjustments
Combined Combined and CEMEX
CEMEX Guarantors Non-guarantors  Eliminations  Consolidated
Ps 9,304,851 3,075,407 501,783 (3,577,190) 9,304,851
(6,387,539) 721,570 7,249,509 4,278,270 5,861,810
2,917,312 3,796,977 7,751,292 701,080 15,166,661
(8,252,939) 4,142,667 5,570,751 (467,818) 992,661
(5,335,627) 7,939,644 13,322,043 233,262 16,159,322
1,948,770  (720,275) 9,954,781 (1,305,766) 9,877,510
(2,137,194) — (473,219) 473219  (2,137,194)
1,957,607 —_ — — 1,957,607
—_— — — 14,089,217 14,089,217
(28,766) (760,814) 14,423,794 (17,829,212) (4,194,998)
1,740,417 (1,481,089) 23,905,356 (4,572,542) 19,592,142
— (484,042)  (2,060,206) 133,029 (2,411,219)
(8,265,033) (3,715,703) (16,963,598) 4,666,176 (24,278,158)
473,219 —_ — (473,219) —
— — (5,205,892) 272,197  (4,933,695)
889,415 (152,136)  (1,018,393) 14,699 (266,415)
10,492,462 (2,754,383) (12,155,952) 349,227  (4,068,646)
3,590,063 (7,106,264) (37,404,041) 4,962,109 (35,958,133)
(5,147)  (647,709)  (176,642) 622,829  (206,669)
61,087 2,339,101 2,683,291 (2,008,221) 3,075,258
55,940 1,691,392 2,506,649 (1,385,392) 2,868,589
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Condensed consolidating statements of changes in financial position:

Six Months Ended June 30, 2001

Operating activities:
Majority net income........ccccoveveevrrecernnene
Non-cash tems ......cceceeeerenririnicccenconennnes

Resources provided by
operating activities..........c..cceenee.
Net change in working capital ..................

Resources provided by
operating activities, net................

Financing activities:
Bank loans and notes payable, net............
Dividends paid.......cocovviiiiovrecnniineae
Issuance (repurchase) of common stock...
Issuance of preferred stock

by subsidiaries ......c.ccovvrcniiirrcecrenrennnn

Resources used in financing

ACHVILES ..o
Investing activities:
Property, machinery and equipment, net..
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired............
Dividends received .........coovevevevriniennnee
Minority interest ...,
Deferred charges........coooeevvencnnnenies s
Others......c.oocceicniiincccceiee

Resources used in investing
ACHVILIES oeeneiniieiirenee e e

Change in cash and

temporary investments.................
Cash and temporary

investments initial balance ..........

Cash and temporary
investments ending balance.........

Adjustments

Combined Combined and CEMEX
CEMEX Guarantors  Non-guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
Ps 4,545,079 1,925,368 1,996,957  (3,922,325) 4,545,079
(4,056,415) 664,679 1,888,454 3,955,433 2,452,151
488,664 2,590,047 3,885,411 33,108 6,997,230
(2,133,042) 2,246,617 82,826 (640,287)  (443,886)
(1,644,378) 4,836,664 3,968,237 (607,179) 6,553,344
(2,189,913) (687,569) 54,214 (872,837) (3.696,105)
(2,192,804) — (470,988) 470,988 (2,192,804)
1,951,388 —_ — — 1,951,388
(302) (3,528,689) 4,663,828 (72,957) 1,061,880
(2,431,631) (4,216,258) 4,247,054 (474,806) (2,875,641)
— (235,069) 6,278 22,184 (206,607)
(148,497) — (567,982) 203,570 (512,909)
470,988 — — (470,988) —
-_ — (43,616) 4,229 (39,387)
(154,756)  (474,954) 396,411 452,776 219,477
3,658,429 (203,003) (7,765,546) 1,272,660 (3,037,460)
3,826,164 (913,026) (7,974,455) 1,484,431 (3,576,886)
(249,845)  (292,620) 240,836 402,446 100,817
61,087 2,339,101 2,683,291  (2,008,221) 3,075,258

Ps (188,758) 2,046,481 2,924,127  (1,605,775) 3,176,075
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Condensed consolidating statements of changes in financial position:

Adjustments
Combined Combined and CEMEX
Six Months Ended June 30, 2001 CEMEX Guarantors  Non-guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
Operating activities: .
Majority net iInCoOme...........covceeeuerrccnnnn. Ps 6,250,722 5,756,119 5,225,056 (10,981,175) 6,250,722
Non-cash items..........cceevveveerereresveenrinenne (7,677,569 719,546 2,563,584 9,182,255 4,787,816
Resources provided by
operating activities...........c....... (1,426,847) 6,475,665 7,788,640 (1,798,920) 11,038,538
Net change in working capital ................ (308,869) 7,530,074 (7,043,382) (1,172,584) (994,761)
Resources provided by
operating activities, net.............. (1,735,716) 14,005,739 745,258 (2,971,504) 10,043,777
Financing activities:
Bank loans and notes payable, net.......... 5,790,296 1,260,159  (7,238,130) — (187,675)
Dividends paid........ccceeveerevncecicrininnennnn (2,729,956) — —_ —  (2,729,956)
Issuance (repurchase) of common stock. 51,981 — — — 51,981
Issuance of preferred stock by
SULSIAIATIES ..oeeirre e e — — —_ — —_
OthErS ..ot (36,127,457) — 4,435,769 32,851,999 1,160,311
Resources used in financing
ACHVILIES oeiniereeeciieircii e (33,015,136) 1,260,159  (2,802,361) 32,851,999 (1,705,339)
Investing activities:
Property, machinery and equipment, net (747,213) (12,374) (1,439,275) —  (2,198,862)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired .......... 35,116,459 (50,080,944) 14,569,655 — (394,830)
Dividends received.......cccovmeevreeiienneenenes — —_ — _— —_
Minority interest.......ooevereneerenerenreerenee — —_ (21,003) — (21,003)
Deferred charges.......ccocevenneecicnnennennns —_ (260,448) (1,943,082) —  (2,203,530)
Others.......cooericeeeeeeete e e 386,753 36,242,891  (5,876,626) (31,940,412) (1,187,394)
Resources used in
investing activities ............cccoou... 34,755,999 (14,110,875) 5,289,669 (31,940,412) (6,005,619)
Change in cash and
temporary investments............... 5,147 1,155,023 3,232,566 (2,059,917) 2,332,819
Cash and temporary
investments initial balance......... 55,940 1,691,392 2,506,649 (1,385,392) 2,868,589
Cash and temporary
investments ending balance ....... Ps 61,087 2,846,415 5,739,215 (3,445,309) 5,201,408

In addition to the information presented above, the tables below present consolidating balance sheets as of
December 31, 1999 and 2000 and as of June 30, 2000, and income statements and statements of changes in
financial position for each year of the three-year period ended December 31, 2000 and for the six months ended
June 30, 2000 and 2001 for the Guarantors. Such information presents in separate columns each individual
Guarantor on a Parent Company only basis, consolidation adjustments and eliminations, and the combined
Guarantors. All significant Related parties balances and transactions between the Guarantors and the merged
entities have been eliminated in the “Combined Guarantors” column.

The amounts presented in the column “Combined Guarantors” are readily comparable with the information
on the Guarantors included in the condensed consolidating financial information. As previously described,
amounts presented under the line item “Investments in affiliates” for both the balance sheets and income
.statements, include the net investment in affiliates accounted for by the equity method. In addition, the
Guarantors’ reconciliation of net income and stockholders’ equity to U.S. GAAP are presented below:
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Guarantors’ Combined Balance Sheets

Year Ended December 31, 1999

Guarantors
(Parent Company Only)
Adjustments
and Combined
CEMEX Mexico ETM eliminations Guarantors
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and temporary Investments.........coovcvververvieivinieneene Ps 696,511 1,642,590 — 2,339,101
Trade accounts receivable, Net.....cccooeveverrivenieiveesieennenne 1,525,053 — -— 1,525,053
Other receivables and other current assets .........cceveurene 817,218 98,386 — 915,604
Related parties receivables .......oociuerineinncrniiecincinnnne. 3,314,855 7,604,432 (7,588,163) 3,331,124
INVENLOTIES .veeevviiiiiiceeecieecre e et ss e s e e e s e neneaas 1,932,237 — — 1,932,237
Total CUITENt aSSELS .ovivieiieeveieeee e teererresar e e esraeans 8,285,874 9,345408 (7,588,163) 10,043,119
Other Investments.
Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates........cccoecvvecreen. 18,919,906 17,663,084 (31,102,114) 5,480,876
Long-term Related parties receivables .. — 476,481 (476,481) —
Other INVESUMENTS .....cccvevvieciieieeeeietecieeereereseraa e sessreneas — 548,038 —_— 548,038
Total other iNVESIMENLS .....cccevereereereereecrrarrereereeneanne 18,919,906 18,687,603 (31,578,595) 6,028,914
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment...........ccoevvivmiveinicrrienennnn. 57,282,586 — — 57,282,586
Accumulated depreciation .........ccoccoeciiiiimecnnciiiierene. (29,890,003) — — (29,890,003)
Total property, plant and equipment........................ 27,392,583 — — 27,392,583
Deferred Charges........coooceevieieeirerenicceceeeeveeas 1,667,324 3,751,972 — 5,419,296
TOtal ASSELS ...vvvecreieriieee et reere et Ps 56,265,687 31,784,983 (39,166,758) 48,883,912
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Bank loans and notes payable.......co.cocoveecnerincenricreienne Ps 660,285 — — 660,285
Current maturities of long-term debt ..o 27,846 — — 27,846
Trade accounts payable .........ccocooeinveiincccenciinncieene 770,132 — — 770,132
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses.......c........ 680,186 131,636 — 811,822
Related parties payables .........cociviineniicecicniiininnen. 9,634,586 551,232 (8,430,336) 1,755,482
Total current liabilities........ccovrvereecenieecniicnesnnian. 11,773,035 682,368 (8,430,336) 4,025,567
Long-Term Debt
Notes payable..........ccconiinenniniiciinn e 342,591 — — 342,591
Current maturities of long-term debt. (27,846) — 27,846)
Total long-term debt.......ccccoveeeieriicrnireeeiecie e 314,745 — — 314,745
Other Noncurrent Liabilities
Pension and seniority Premium .....oeerevivererisrenisinsroreerens 41,622 — — 41,622
Deferred INCOME taAXES ...eeevvrieieeriveiieiireeecrereneeeeeesanerens 1,161,589 — —_ 1,161,589
Long-term Related parties payables ..........c.cccceceereueunenne. 25,602,350 — (476,482) 25,125,868
Other noncurrent labilities.......ccoveieeveeeivrnreceeeeecinienn —_— — —_ —
Total other noncurrent liabilities .......ccccccvvevverernennns 26,805,561 — (476,482) 26,329,079
Total Liabilities. ......cccoovierereeeeeerecesrernerese e eneenenens 38,893,341 682,868 (8,906,818) 30,669,391
Stockholders’ Equity
Stockholders’ equity 7,076,427 26,643,720 (26,634,518) 7,085,629
NEt INCOME...cirireiiceeieicrrcece e te st ee e e s 10,295,919 4,458,395 (3,625,422) 11,128,892
Total stockholders’ equity ......c.coeererciinesinineienne 17,372,346 31,102,115 (30,259,940) 18,214,521
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity............... Ps 56,265,687 31,784,983 (39,166,758) 48,883,912
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)

(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Guarantors’ Combined Balance Sheets
Year Ended December 31, 2000

Guarantors
{Parent Company Only)
Adjustments
and Combined
CEMEX Mexico ETM eliminations Guarantors
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and temporary investments ........cocouveeiviiieenenninens Ps 465,218 1,226,174 —_ 1,691,392
Trade accounts receivable, Net.......ccoceevevvrerecrericeennenns 1,351,395 — — 1,351,395
Other receivables and other current assets..........cccoev.. 336,792 46,083 (52,896) 329,979
Related parties receivables ......... rerneeeren . 389,941 7,686,762  (7,686,489) 390,214
INVENtOries «.ooommveeveervererennan . 1,666,945 — — 1,666,945
Total CUTTENt ASSELS ......cceeeeerreerreeeeeiirrreesee e 4,210,291 8,959,019 (7,739,385) 5,429,925
Other Investments .
Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates ..........ccceceueun. 29,497,507 14,600,104 (36,845,881) 7,251,730
Long-term related parties receivables.............c.coeeeeunee. — 7,467,379 (4,849,132) 2,618,247
Other INVESLIMENES ...ovveiieieereeeerrvrecireiireeeenrreeereereeresssene — 1,306,936 — 1,306,936
Total other INVESIMENLS..c.eeeeivecrieerririrereeeseerionne 29,497,507 23,374,419 (41,695,013) 11,176,913
" Property, Plant and Equipment .
Property, plant and eqUIPMent........c.cccevueeriiecevmereninnns 53,703,989 — — 53,703,989
Accumulated depreciation ...........ccceeonriirenvnininions (28,358,152) — -— (28,358,152)
Total property, plant and equipment..................... 25,345,837 — — 25,345,837
Deferred Charges ......cocvceeeeeverenreriereseniiniosioeesnsenens 1,665,947 4,617,498 ° (890,895) 5,392,550
Total Assets Ps 60,719,582 36,950,936 (50,325,293) 47,345,225
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Bank loans and notes payable..........cccecvvrviiiniinecninn, Ps 26,073 — — 26,073
Current maturities of long-term debt..........ccocvrvnnnnenn. 4,817 — — 4,817
Trade accounts payable..........cccoeeiveicninn, 550,448 — — 550,448
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses ... 483,704 104,967 (52,896) 535,775
Related parties payables ... 12,974,293 89 (7,686,489) 5,287,893
Total current liabilities....cccvvreiricccerneeniiicrisioienne 14,039,335 105,056  (7,739,385) 6,405,006
Long-Term Debt
Notes payable.......ocvverercneiniiiecnc s 253,024 — — 253,024
Current maturities of long-term debt.............covnines 4,817) —_— — 4,817)
Total long-term debt ........coccerevnnnininciiennnne, 248,207 — — 248,207
Other Noncurrent Liabilities
Pension and SERiority PrEMiUM ......ccoocenverininnrnonrenennne 271,092 — — 271,092
Deferred INCOME tAXES ....eevreriveeriearurrreesrererieensessarionie 6,903,517 — (890,895) 6,012,622
Long-term related parties payables........ccc.ccuverrvieennnee 26,770,972 —  (4,849,132) 21,921,840
Total other noncurrent liabilities ..........ccoveeevvvvenen. 33,945,581 —  (5,740,027) 28,205,554
Total Liabilities.....ccvevriieieenineeireeenreniesveetrennenes 48,233,123 105,056 (13,479,412) 34,858,767
Stockhelders’ Equity
Stockholders’ equity 9,411,052 36,968,199 (36,968,200) 9,411,051
NELINCOIMIE .ot ereteete et cerreeeessae e e sbeeaeeeanrnensernena 3,075,407 (122,319) 122,319 3,075,407
Total stockholders’ equity ........c.ce.... et reoas 12,486,459 36,845,880 (36,845,881) 12,486,458
Total Liabilities and Stockholders! Equity............ Ps 60,719,582 36,950,936 (50,325,293) 47,345,225
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)

(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Guarantors’ Combined Balance Sheets

June 30, 2001
Guarantors
(Parent Company Only)
Adjustments
CEMEX and Combined
Mexico ETM eliminations Guarantors
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and temporary investments ...........c.ccoceeervercrvenennene Ps 1,061,231 1,785,184 — 2,846,415
Trade accounts receivable, Nel.....ooiivvereeinivreireriinnenren.s 1,553,211 _ — 1,553,211
Other receivables and other current assetS........cecvvvvreeenes 416,413 53,737 — 470,150
Related parties TECEIVADIES....eveiiiiiicerreeee s 2,948,715 11,706,963 (11,088,029) 3,567,649
TNVENIOTIES . vviveceireiieerirceeirie e srer e s sbar e e e asraressrtsessean 1,469,720 — — 1,469,720
Total CUITENT @SSELS vvviviivreiiiieeeenrirreeeessnrrersonreesases 7,449,290 13,545,884 (11,088,029) 9,907,145
Other Investments
Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates ........................ 80,025,156 14,486,247 (37,120,908) 57,390,495
Long-term related parties receivables.........cccveienenenennne — 3,624,000 (3,624,000) —
Other INVESIMENLS 1oovvveeevevrereeierreerrteeeerrareeessrseressssseessers — 1,186,157 — 1,186,157
Total other INVESTMENLS.....vciviveeeiiecnrreeererreererereaes 80,025,156 19,296,404 (40,744,908) 58,576,652
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment.........c...cocoececeerercneerenennenns 51,774,489 . — — 51,774,489
Accumulated depreciation ...........c.c.coeeveececrecreereeerenenns (27,564,501) — — (27,564,501)
Total property, plant and equipment........................ 24,209,988 — — 24,209,988
Deferred Charges ..........coceevenieereeeecienineeteseseseereeeeians 1,588,472 4,377,553 (679,126) 5,286,899
TOtAl ASSELS.....oiieveereericriitiecee e eree e rer st eseeeesrnree s Ps113,272,906 37,219,841 (52,512,063) 97,980,684
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Bank loans and notes payable..........cccocreeiienincenirinnnns Ps — — — —
Current maturities of long-term debt .......c.coeevvrvvrnnnene. 4,603 — — 4,603
Trade accounts payable.........ccceeveriiiiveenenienenierceenerenens 532,833 — — 532,833
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses ................ 703,743 98,867 — 802,610
Related parties payables........coocevcmiisdivereceniencreieens 27,082,988 66 (11,088,029) 15,995,025
Total current Babilities.............coveveeeevvvnecrerrerereanes 28,324,167 98,933 (11,088,029) 17,335,071
Long-Term Debt
Notes payable. ... 232,319 — — 232,319
Current maturities of long-term debt .........ccooevveiicivnnens (4,603) —_— _ (4,603)
Total long-term debt .......coviviirmicenciiiciinennns 227,716 — — 227,716
Other Noncurrent Liabilities
Pension and seniority premium..........coeenevieneecesennnenne 166,452 — — 166,452
Deferred INCOME tAXES cvvvvrviverereeirrierereeeereeesseesseresrssees 7,963,362 — (679,126) 7,284,236
Long-term related parties payables...........ccoeiiiniiienicnnns 60,356,642 —  (3,624,000) 56,732,642
Total other noncurrent labilities.....cooocvvevvvvreirinnenn. 68,486,456 —  (4,303,126) 64,183,330
Total Liabilities .....cccoeierveiviiriierreceeeeecrecee e 97,038,339 98,933 (15,391,155) 81,746,117
Stockholders’ Equity
Stockholders’ equity ......ccceveveniireinrerireneee e 10,478,448 36,303,781 (36,303,781) 10,478,448
NEt INCOME ...evvvvrvirirrerenrerieenrerirnseomrsresesessssessnsssssnserses 5,756,119 817,127 (817,127) 5,756,119
Total stockholders’ equity 16,234,567 37,120,908 (37,120,908) 16,234,567
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity .............. Ps113,272,906 37,219,841 (52,512,063) 97,980,684
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Guarantors’ Combined Income Statements

Year Ended December 31, 1998

Guarantors (Parent Company Only)

Adjustments
CEMEX and Combined
Mexico ETM eliminations Guarantors
NEL SALES vt err et erve et e e e e ra e e enaeaans Ps 21,281,676 — — 21,281,676
COSt O SAIES....veeiiiriicriiei ettt e e e s e srseesnressen e (10,028,066) — (25,696) (10,053,762)
GroSS PrOfit...ccucececeniriirireircee et eaene 11,253,610 — (25,696) 11,227,914
Operating expenses:
AdMINISITAtIVE ..ot eneas (1,251,516) (3,494) (2,937) (1,257,947
SeIHNG vttt e (834,378) — (15,600) (849,978)
Total operating eXpenses . ..c.ccceevvvvreereereecerrens (2,085,894) (3,494) (18,537) (2,107,925
Operating inCOME ........cooocvvviiiiiniincecireieiene 9,167,716 (3,494) (44,233) 9,119,989
Comprehensive financing income (cost):
Financial eXpenses........cccovvervcririiiinnnnncnceineens (2,924,662) (93,835) 1,136,547 (1,881,950)
Financial inCOME ........ccooevvierveieeeetee e 4,455,684 1,145,590 (1,136,908) 4,464,366
Foreign exchange result, net.............ceian (7,368,251) 358,106 — (7,010,145
Monetary position result. ... 4827459  (938,589) — 3,888,870
Net comprehensive financing income (cost).... (1,009,770) 471,272 (361) (538,859)
Other income (€XPense), Net......ccocrvcrrrcerrrennerecsecreravenes (3,525,340) 4,360,176 (2,246,504) (1,411,668)
Income before income taxes, business assets tax,
employees’ statutory profit sharing and equity in
income of affiliates.........cccoviiieiinieeeee e, 4,632,606 4,827,954 (2,291,098) 7,169,462
Income tax and business assets tax, Net.........ccceeveervureanns (1,757,721)  (575,469) 181,802  (2,151,388)
Employees’ statutory profit sharing ..o (76,452) — — (76,452)
Total income tax, business assets tax and
employees’ statutory profit sharing.............. (1,834,173) (575,469) 181,802  (2,227,840)
Income before equity in income of affiliates ... 2,798,433 4,252,485 (2,109,296) 4,941,622
Equity in income of affiliates ..................c.c...... (78,520) 415,086 (249,186) 87,380
NELINCOME ......vevvniiereieeiereeree e e sreeciee e Ps 2,719,913 4,667,571 (2,358,482) 5,029,002
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Guarantors Combined Income Statements

Year Ended December 31, 1999

Guarantors (Parent Company Only)

Adjustment
CEMEX and Combined
Mexico ETM eliminations Guarantors
NEUSALES ...ttt ecer e e eresere e e e ena s Ps21,441,599 — — 21,441,599
COSt Of SAIES 1.evveiccrrreree ettt n (9,297,493) — —  (9,297,493)
GIOSS PrOfil ...ocvemereiricccicrieerrcecreneereiarsereeereesesnesene 12,144,106 -— — 12,144,106
Operating expenses:
AQMINISITAUVE .vveveeeeieiieececcrecrese e rreseere e v e (1,578,327) (680) (2,938) (1,581,945)
SELNE ...oviee ettt (731,826) — — (731,826)
Total operating eXpenses ..........covveveereerevreiennas (2,310,153) (680) (2,938) (2,313,771)
Operating INCOME......co.veceeerirriririneeenreersenae 9,833,953 (680) (2,938) 9,830,335
Comprehensive financing income (cost):
Financial €XPENSES .......cccccvveerererienesenenienrenenseninaens (2,611,181) (23,198) 1,695,065 (939,314)
Financial INCOME.........cvevieriiriivencnrienrecerrere e eenes 2,478,111 1,838,729 (1,695,065) 2,641,775
Foreign exchange result, net............coovevvveecencnennne. 850,034 6,437 — 856,471
Monetary position restlt..........cocceecrnirinircccnennnes 3,838,431 (1,052,718) — 2,785,713
Net comprehensive financing income (cost) ... 4,555,395 789,250 — 5,344,645
Other income (EXPense), NEt .....ccccecvrueuvrirecrerenrererrane (3,920,309) 415,110 (562,190) (4,067,389)
Income before income taxes, business assets tax,
employees’ statutory profit sharing and equity in
income of affiliates ............cccoeereviiriiiccencecienennnne 10,469,039 1,203,680 (565,128) 11,107,591
Income tax and business assets tax, Net........ccevevenee (336,092) (50,264) — (386,356)
Employees’ statutory profit sharing..........ccccceeeeennc (134,011) - — — (134,011)
Total income tax, business assets tax and
employees’ statutory profit sharing .............. (470,103) (50,264) — (520,367)
Income before equity in income of affiliates.... 9,998,936 1,153,416 (565,128) 10,587,224
Equity in income of affiliates...........ccccoveenenee. 296,983 3,304,979 (3,060,294) 541,668
NELINCOME ..o Ps10,295919 4,458,395 (3,625,422) 11,128,892
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)

(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Guarantors’ Combined Income Statements

Year Ended December 31, 2000

INEL SALES «evvvreeieieeiieciecverrrerere e e eetraee e e s cernrrrareeaeesessssnnneene
COSt Of SAIES c.vvveiie et e rire e et s e re st r s ssaat e s seerans

GrosSs Profit ceeeeeercciecieneerececnreeneeer st see s

Operating expenses:

AJDUNISITATIVE o.ooiciciricnescsiesesaeesssreassassesseesssassanes
Selling ....coveeveereevncirninne fereeree e ee e e s et e etnas

Total operating eXpenses ..........ccvecreeerrerrereriens

Operating inCOME.......covvreinrrimneiieinecrennens

Comprehensive financing income (cost):

Financial expenses .......occvvvenvivcnennnenininccnnnes
Financial income........cccooviiniieciiniiiicnnne
Foreign exchange result, net .........cccccoooereinrcecennnee
Monetary position result .......c.ccovevercenenenencrceneannns

Net comprehensive financing income (cost) ....

Other income (€Xpense), Nt .....cccvcververeereriererceenrrnerennennns

Income before income taxes, business assets tax,

employees’ statutory profit sharing and equity
in income of affiliates .......cccoccrvrcvnniiorcciicencnrenen,

Income tax and business assets tax, Net.......ccoceveervvrerrnnnen.

Employees’ statutory profit sharing..........cccoeevvencenrienenns

Total income tax, business assets tax and
employees’ statutory profit sharing ..............

Income before equity in income of affiliates....
Equity in income of affiliates..............ccoccenneunens

NEt iNCOME ...uvinreeernieeierierircirecerereaesererrensesresenns
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Guarantors (Parent Company Only)

Adjustments
CEMEX and Combined
Mexico ETM eliminations Guarantors
Ps21,756,680 — — 21,756,680
(9,508,965) — —  (9,508,965)
12,247,715 — — 12,247715
(3.743,757) (623) —  (3,744,380)
(2,653,645) — —  (2,653,645)
(6,397,402) (623) —  (6,398,025)
5,850,313 (623) — 5,849,690
(4,560,985} (26,811) 1,113,570 (3,474,226)
396,466 855,542 (1,113,570) 138,438
476,571) 222,437 — (254,134)
3,164,366 (1,191,596) — 1,972,770
(1,476,724) (140,428) —  (1,617,152)
(894,394) 87,533 — (806,861)
3,479,195 (53,518) — 3,425,677
65,961 (43,315) — 22,646
(146,292) — — (146,292)
(80,331) (43,315) —_— (123,646)
3,398,864 (96,833) — 3,302,031
(323,457) (25,486) 122,319 (226,624)
Ps 3,075,407 (122,319) 122,319 3,075,407




CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)
Guarantors’ Combined Income Statements

Six Months Ended June 30, 2000

Guarantors (Parent Company Only)
Adjustments

CEMEX and Combined
Mexico ETM eliminations  Guarantors
NEL SALES ...viviiriiitreiieeiiecrire e cerere b eecree e e nbessesrbeeseessrnnsees Ps10,977,769 — — 10,977,769
COSt Of SAIES ...ccvveerreeiieeerierecee sttt e nreesreesbe et e ereeentesansenres (4,691,306) — —  (4,691,306)
GIOsS Profit et 6,286,463 — — 6,286,463
Operating expenses:
ADMINISITAIVE ovievvrieiiiicesereeesrrre e eenreseesssbessnneees (517,976) (143) — (518,119)
SHNG oo e (280,494) —_ — (280,494)
Total operating EXpenses .......c.cccoveeeerereromiceeneenes (798,470) (143) — (798,613)
Operating iNCOME........c.cocovvevereereinnnireersieneerenes 5,487,993 (143) — 5,487,850
Comprehensive financing income (cost):
Financial Xpenses........ccoovevveviiviereeneeivereereeresrirsnennceeen (1,901,937) (339,451) 541,623 (1,699,765)
Financial inCOME......c..ooccviiimvriiririccte v 187,187 644,235 (541,623) 289,799
Foreign exchange result, net.........c..ccoocvninenienennn. (977,356) 104,564 — (872,792)
Monetary position Iesull...........occcomeiecrencrerenneneenenns 1,353,947 (425,519) — 928,428
Net comprehensive financing income (cost) ........ (1,338,159) (16,171) —  (1,354,330)
Other incOmMe (EXPENSE), NEL...ccerurrrirrrerreeereereererersrionnseenes (1,958,575) 217,060 —  (1,741,515)
Income before income taxes, business assets tax,
employees’ statutory profit sharing and equity in
income of affiliates ............coceeviieiieie e 2,191,259 200,746 — 2,392,005
Income tax and business assets tax, Nel......cceevvvreirvierneennns (123,138) (112,219) —_ (235,357)
Employees’ statutory profit sharing ...........cocvvevcieiencnienenns (86,779) — (86,779)
Total income tax, business assets tax and
employees’ statutory profit sharing .................. (209,917) (112,219) —_ (322,136)
Income before equity in income of affiliates........ 1,981,342 88,527 — 2,069,869
Equity in income of afﬁli‘ates ............................... (55,972) (64.899)  (23,630) (144,501)
NEINCOME ...ovviiiiieeieceere et Ps 1,925,370 23,628 (23,630) 1,925,368
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)
Guarantors’ Combined Income Statements

Six Months Ended June 30, 2001

Guarantors (Parent Company Only)
Adjustments

CEMEX and Combined
Mexico . ETM eliminations  Guarantors
NEL SALES .o vttt et e r s e nreres Ps10,193,432 — — 10,193,432
COStOF SAIES ...ttt cerecsecestes i e esnseesasessanestns (3,429,200) — —  (3,429,200)
Gross Profit ..eeveeceecereneinnnniieneeeeee e s 6,764,232 — —_ 6,764,232
Operating expenses:
AdMUNISITALIVE ...eve e st rete s es e esbsebeses (896,659) (1,128) — (897,787)
SEIHNG oottt st se e (2,048,995) —_ —  (2,048,995)
Total Operating €Xpernses........coveicrcreeresrinmanerenies (2,945,654) (1,128) —  (2,946,782)
Operating iNCOME ..........coemreviiiiirccrereiierenerenes 3,818,578 (1,128) — 3,817,450
Comprehensive financing income (cost):
Financial eXpenses ........ccocvvveeenenceinencencrceeeienes (3,331,886) (10,738) 472,438 (2,870,186)
Financial iNCOME ....ocovvvviviriiiie et eees 242,012 1,431,411 (472,438) 1,200,985
Foreign exchange result, net ........cccoocoeinnnrnencnnnn 3,913,160 (420,640) — 3,492,520
Monetary position 1esult .........cccevevererrnirenenerennens 1,478,551  (392,838) — 1,085,713
Net comprehensive financing income (cost)....... 2,301,837 607,195 — 2,909,032
Other income (EXPENSE), MEL ...c.evvecrerrvererimrrererireeesesreeses (417,016) (6,559) — (423,575)
Income before income taxes, business assets tax,
employees’ statutory profit sharing and equity in
income Of affilIAteS.....covivviiiiiiireiiciee e 5,703,399 599,508 —_ 6,302,907
Income tax and business assets tax, et ......c.coovvevrervrreernenns (1,058,408) (195,947) —  (1,254,355)
Employees’ statutory profit sharing.......c..cccoeovevrenincncnnnn (60,511) — — (60,511)
Total income tax, business assets tax and
employees’ statutory profit sharing ................ (1,118,919) (195,947) —  (1,314,866)
Income before equity in income of affiliates ...... 4,584,480 403,561 —_ 4,988,041
Equity in income of affiliates..........c..cceceeerrenne. 1,171,639 413,566 (817,127) 768,078
NEtINCOME .veeeenerreetieeeiiecteccenre e v e ssee e s saneens Ps 5,756,119 817,127 (817,127) 5,756,119
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Centinued)

December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)

(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Guarantors’ Combined Statements of Changes in Financial Position

Year Ended December 31, 1998

Operating activities

NEUINCOITIE c...oovicriiiiiiire et e st e snesrsen

Charges to operations which did not require resources .......

Resources provided by operating activities ..........coccevereeee.

‘Changes in working capital:
Trade accounts receivable, net.........cocvcvcvennnecreanen,
Other receivables and other current assets...................
Related parties receivables and payables, net..............
INVENLOTIES ...cveiiiiririccee et
Trade accounts payable..........cccccoeniiiniicincnnnnnn.
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses ............

Net change in working capital .....c..cccoocevennrnnee.
Net resources provided by operating activities....

Financing activities

Bank loans and notes payable, M€t .............ccoouerervenrruenrennees
DiIVIAENdSs ..o.veevevceiiiiietcnrireercrcre s
Long-term related parties receivables and payables, net .....
Other noncurrent assets and liabilities, net.........ccovveveennen..

Resources used in financing activities ........cvceevierconecncnns

Investing activities

Property, plant and equipment, Net ..........ccoviiiiniicininn
Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates .........cccovvvurrrene
Deferred charges ..o
Other INVESIMENIS ...oceoiiiiiiinicreiiet et eesernr e e

Resources used in investing activities............cocinccccennnn,

Change in cash and temporary investments........c.ccoceecenuene..
Cash and temporary investments initial balance..................

Cash and temporary investments ending balance ................

F-7%

Guarantors (Parent Company Only)

Adjustments

CEMEX and .Combined
Mexico ETM eliminations  Guarantors
Ps2,719913 4,667,571 (2,358,482) 5,029,002
1,645,590 395,762) 248,684 1,498,512
4,365,503 4,271,809 (2,109,798) 6,527,514
(173,191) — — (173,191)
(1,105,800) 138,145 (54,752) (1,022,407
4,704,437 (4,539,859) (125,510) 39,068
88,097 — (108,030) (19,933)
28,570 236,558 (236,561) 28,567
(382,259) — 194,253 (188,006)
3,159,854 (4,165,156)  (330,600) (1,335,902)
7,525,357 106,653 (2,440,398) 5,191,612
(1,244,474) — — (1,244,474)
(3,237,213) — — (3,237,213)
937,487 115,455 2,264 1,055,206
(55,925) 271,771 (271,770) (55,924)
(3,600,125) 387,226 (269,506) (3,482,405)
(543,202) — —_ (543,202)
(2,587,755) (122,149) 2,709,904 —
(513,177) — —  513,177)
(3,644,134)  (122,149) 2,709,904 (1,056,379)
281,098 371,730 — 652,828
582,550 51,999 — 634,549

Ps 863,648 423,729 — 1,287,377




CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Guarantors’ Combined Statements of Changes in Financial Pos

Year Ended December 31, 1999

ition

Guarantors (Parent Company Only)

Adjustments
CEMEX and Combined
Mexico ETM eliminations Guarantors
Operating activities
NELINCOME ...viieevveicerreereereere et eee e tes e aesveronsesssesvesnees Ps10,295919 4,458,394 (3,625,421) 11,128,892
Charges to operations which did not require resources.... 1,194,097 1,988,689 (1,201,593) 1,981,193
Resources provided by operating activities...........cccceuenu.e 11,490,016 6,447,083 (4,827,014) 13,110,085
Changes in working capital:
Trade accounts receivable, net........ccceevvveecieernreennnnne 3,505 — — 3,505
Other receivables and other current assets ............... 714,464 (95,591) (86,411) 532,462
Related parties receivables and payables, net .......... 11,237,282 186,771 943919 12,367,972
INVENIOTIES «eevinrevri ittt e e seart e s rn e e s araas (699,427) — — (699,427)
Trade accounts payable ........c..cooveerevmecninininicinencns 253,247 — — 253,247
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses......... (185,558) (54,649) 128,069 (112,138)
Net change in working capital..........cccocenenes 11,323,513 36,531 985,577 12,345,621
Net resources provided by operating
ACHIVILIES ©o.eeeeerriiee i ceceeee e e 22,813,529 6,483,614 (3,841,437) 25,455,706
Financing activities
Bank loans and notes payable, net ...........cocoooveervnennnne (1,697,308) — (548,037) (2,245,345)
DIAVIAENAS......ceieeeecee et e reene (13,208,485) (5,429,270) 5,669,997 (12,967,758)
Long-term related parties receivables and payables, net.... (6,855,970) 158,352 (2,262) (6,699,880)
Other noncurrent assets and liabilities, net.........c.ccenne. (337,685) (548,038) 548,038 (337,685)
Resources used in financing activities ..........cceveerveerevrnea- (22,099,448). (5,818,956) 5,667,736 (22,250,668)
Investing activities
Property, plant and equipment, net...........ccocevniiniiicrenas (425,467) — — (425,467)
Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates...........c.c.uc....... (352,190) 609,597 (2.431,871) (2,174,464)
Deferred charges........coceveerrererrniceniinerecereeirereneesinenenane (103,561) —_ 550,178 446,617
Other INVESHMENLS .....ecovevirereeieie i reiecieereestesrseseeeaees —  (55,394) 55,394 —_
Resources used in investing activities..........c.ccoeceveeenennen. (881,218) 554,203 (1,826,299) (2,153,314)
Change in cash and temporary investments..................... (167,137) 1,218,861 —_ 1,051,724
Cash and temporary investments initial balance............... 863,648 423,729 — 1,287,377
Cash and temporary investments ending balance ............ Ps 696511 1,642,590 — 2,339,101
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Guarantors’ Combined Statements of Changes in Financial Position

Year Ended December 31, 2000

Guarantors (Parent Company Only)

Adjustments
CEMEX and Combined
Mexico ETM eliminations Guarantors
Operating activities
NELINCOIME ...ooovvieerectiieciecie e ree e st e bae s e sebeaeaees Ps 3,075,407 (122,319) 122,319 3,075,407
Charges to operations which did not require resources .. 1,702,312 (14,510) (966,232) 721,570
Resources provided by operating activities .................... 4,777,719 (136,829) (843,913) 3,796,977
Changes in working capital:
Trade accounts receivable, net..........ccccoeveeeveeenenn. 168,328 — — 168,328
Other receivables and other current assets.............. 477,571 51,960 52,897 582,428
Related parties receivables and payables, net......... 3,741,044  (658,123) — 3,082,921
INVENIOTIES .....vvireeiciee et rerer e 739,001 —_ — 739,001
Trade accounts payable......cccccovvvencininiiceincinenenn. (216,991) — — (216,991)
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses ....... (139,803) (20,320) (52,897) (213,020)
Net change in working capital ............c........... 4,769,150 (626,483) — 4,142,667
Net resources provided by operating
ACHIVILES ..o e 9,546,869  (763,312) (843,913) 7,939,644
Financing activities
Bank loans and notes payable, net.......ccocevvcvcrirvrcnnnne. (720,275) — — (720,275)
Issuance of common StocK ......ccocovvvvecivcreceeviiie e, — 8,061,330 (8,061,330) —
Long-term related parties receivables and payables, net .. 4,480,157 —  (4,480,157) —
Other noncurrent assets and liabilities, net...........coc.o... —  ({760,814) —  (760,814)
Resources used in financing activities .........cococoeviunene 3,759,882 7,300,516 (12,541,487) (1,481,089)
Investing activities
Property, plant and equipment, net ..., (484,042) — — (484,042)
Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates ...........ocuene. (12,666,251) 45,305 8,905,243 (3,715,703)
Deferred charges .........oooeeceeeiiiicnencneneciniiicrcnecene (152,136) — — (152,136)

Other INVESIMENTS ...c.oovieeriereceiireterneesreseereveeseeecnens
Resources used in investing activities.........cccoveeeveenne.

Change in cash and temporary investments..................
Cash and temporary investments initial balance...........

Cash and temporary investments ending balance .........

" (235,615) (6,998,925)

4,480,157 (2,754,383)

. (13,538,044) (6,953,620)

13,385,400 (7,106,264)

. (231,293) (416,416) —  (647,709)
- 696,511 1,642,590 — 2,339,101
. Ps 465218 1,226,174 — 1,691,392
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Guarantors’ Combined Statements of Changes in Financial Position

Six Months Ended June 30, 2000

Guarantors (Parent Company Only)

Adjustments
CEMEX and Combined
Mexico ETM eliminations  Guarantors

Operating activities
NELINCOME ..cviteniiieieteerte et ser et e se e rae s n e seben Ps 1,925,370 23,628 (23,630) 1,925,368
Charges to operations which did not require resources..... 1,331,778 76,063 (743,162) 664,679
Resources provided by operating activities ......c..c.coceneenen. 3,257,148 99,691 (766,792) 2,590,047
Changes in working capital:

Trade accounts receivable, net.....cccoceevcnveerireeeernen. 138,725 — 8,713 147,438

Other receivables and other current assets................. 440,778 3,419 5,231 449,428

Related parties receivables and payables, net............ 1,743,939  (850,220) 846,564 1,740,283

INVENLOTIES. ...viiviieriecniceceice e crrte e eta e e se e e b erreeeaea e (44,874) —_ 11,040 (33,834)

Trade accounts payable...........cccecoevieennriciccnernenen 165,543 — (4,400) 161,143

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses .......... (153,299) (59,904) (4,638) (217,841)

Net change in working capital ..........ccccoeeecenennee 2,290,812  (906,705) 862,510 2,246,617
Net resources provided by operating activities.. 5,547,960  (807,014) 95,718 4,836,664

Financing activities
Bank loans and notes payable, net........ccecveerierenenenennens (681,840) — (5,729)  (687,569)
Issuance of commoOn StOCK ......cceeveeceerieciennirr e — — — —
Long-term related parties receivables and payables, net... (102,471) (3,262,375)  (143,555) (3,508,401)
Other noncurrent assets and liabilities, net..........ccccoee....... (20,050) 4,205,028 (4,205,266) (20,288)
Resources used in financing activities .......c..coceevevervcernnnene (804,361) 942,653 (4,354,550) (4,216,258)
Investing activities
Property, plant and equipment, net.........c.ccocccevcerecrenecnnens (391,574) — 156,505 (235,069)
Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates ..........cccoovverennens (4,187,231) 143,432 4,054,864 11,065
Deferred charges ........covvvmeeerecnenciinccniiinicse e (505,917 — 30,963 (474,954)
Other INVESUTENTS ...covvvviiiiieie s creee et it esreeesrevseeeeaees (3,819) (226,749) 16,500 (214,068)
Resources used in investing activities ......cc.cocooeeveeereennn (5,088,541) °  (83,317) 4,258,832 (913,026)
Change in cash and temporary investments.................o..... (344,942) 52,322 — (292,620)
Cash and temporary investments initial balance................ 696,511 1,642,590 — 2,339,101
Cash and temporary investments ending balance............... Ps 351,569 1,694912 — 2,046,481
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Guarantors’ Combined Statements of Changes in Financial Position

Six Months Ended June 30, 2001

Guarantors (Parent Company Only)

Adjustments
CEMEX and Combined
Mexico ETM eliminations Guarantors
Operating activities
INELINCOMME .ovverreerereretr et eseereereeeresre st s sanssaasensaesassasseens Ps 5,756,119 817,127  (817,127) 5,756,119
Charges to operations which did not require resources .. 267,831 239,945 211,770 719,546
Resources provided by operating activities ......c....cocu... 6,023,950 1,057,072  (605,357) 6,475,665
Changes in working capital:
Trade accounts receivable, net.........c.ccoocviccecnnnn, (201,816) — —_ (201,816)
Other receivables and other current assets.............. (79,621) (7,653)  (52,896) (140,170)
Related parties receivables and payables, net......... 11,549,921 (4,020,223) — 7,529,698
INVENIOTIES....e.eieeieiecie ettt ser et rae e aeene e 93,054 — — 93,054
Trade accounts payable ... (17,615) —_ —_ (17,615)
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses ....... 220,125 (6,098) 52,896 266,923
Net change in working capital ...........c.cocc.c..e. 11,564,048 (4,033,974) — 7,530,074
Net resources provided by operating
ACHIVILES 1ovverereereseereireee e sneenrc e reereesenens 17,587,998 (2,976,902) (605,357) 14,005,739
Financing activities
Bank loans and notes payable, net .........ccoocvevnnninenene. 46,777) 1,306,936 — 1,260,159
Issuance of common StoCK ......cccovvevinrerccvnrnreieeeereennens —_ — — —
Long-term related parties receivables and payables,

NIEL.ieiuiiteeceristierese et ere e te s sesrasaesaess escrbereentasassssasenranes —_ — — —
Other noncurrent assets and liabilities, net .........c.coee... _ — — —_
Resources used in financing activities - 46,777) 1,306,936 — 1,260,159
Investing activities .

Property, plant and equipment, net .......ccoeiiieinniiines (12,374) — —_ (12,374)
Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates ..........c.cc.c...... (50,469,825) (428,243) 817,124  (50,080,944)
Deferred charges ........cccovviceveiiinrniececeneneeeeeieniens (48,679) —  (211,769) (260,448)
Other INVESIIMENTS ..ioovvveveiierieeirreerrerisiureeresserreesssresrssrsssens 33,585,670 2,657,219 2 36,242,891
Resources used in investing activities........cccvvreeeruecrcencas (16,945,208) 2,228,976 605,357 (14,110,875)
Change in cash and temporary investments............c....... 596,013 559,010 — 1,155,023
Cash and temporary investments initial balance............. 465,218 1,226,174 — 1,691,392
Cash and temporary investments ending balance ........... Ps 1,061,231 1,785,184 —_ 2,846,415

Guarantors—Cash and temporary investments

At December 31, 1999 and 2000, ETM’s temporary investments are mainly comprised of CEMEX’s CPOs.
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Guarantors—Investment in affiliates

At December 31, 1999 and 2000, of the Guarantors’ total investment in affiliates, which are accounted for
under the equity method, Ps5,333,314 and Ps7,240,244, respectively, correspond to investments in non-
guarantors, and Ps147,562 in 1999 and Ps11,486 in 2000, are related to minority investments in third parties.

At December 31, 2000, the main Guarantors’ investments in non-guarantors are in CEMEX Concretos, S.A.
de C.V, and CEMEX Internacional, S.A. de C.V., which together integrate the ready-mix concrete operations and
export trading activities of the Company in Mexico, respectively; and Centro Distribuidor de Cemento, S.A. de
C.V. (“CEDICE"), which is the parent company of the international operations of the Company. As of January
31, 2001, the Guarantors acquired from Cemex the majority interest in CEDICE for approximately U.S.$3.9
billion (unaudited).

Indebtedness of the guarantors

At December 31, 1999, 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited), the Guarantors had total indebtedness of
U.S.$94.7 million (Ps1,002.8 million), U.S.$28.4 million (Ps279.1 million) and U.S.$25.1 million (Ps227.7
million), respectively. At December 31, 2000, the average interest rate of this indebtedness was approximately
8.2%. Of the total indebtedness of the Guarantors at December 31, 2000, approximately U.S.$3.1 million (Ps30.8
million) matures in 2001 and U.S.$25.3 million (Ps248.2 million) matures in different dates from 2002 until
2004. Approximately U.S.$148.8 million of the total indebtedness of the Guarantors at December 31, 1999 was
prepaid during February 2000 as a result of the purchase offer conducted in connection with the consent
solicitation of the 8.375% Yankee Notes. At December 31, 1999, of this U.S.$148.8 million prepaid in February
2000, U.S.$90 million in cash were invested and committed to the repayment of this debt by the creation of an
irrevocable trust; such amount was considered extinguished for balance sheet presentation under Mexican
GAAP. At the same date, the remaining U.S.$58.8 million was reclassified to short-term debt.

Guarantors—Balances and transactions with related parties

At December 31, 1999 and 2000 and at June 30, 2001 (unaudited), included in current assets, the Guarantors
had related parties receivables amounting to approximately Ps3,331.1 million, Ps390.2 million and Ps3,567.6
million, respectively. Within Guarantors’ current liabilities, the Guarantors had related parties payables
amounting to approximately Ps1,755.5 million at December 31, 1999, Ps5,287.9 million at December 31, 2000
and Ps15,995 million at June 30, 2001 (unaudited). At December 31, 1999, 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited),
included in the Guarantors’ other non-current liabilities, there are related parties payables of Ps25,125.8 mitlion,
Ps21,921.8 million and Ps56,732.6 million, respectively.
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)

(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Balances with related parties result primarily from (i) the sale and purchase of cement and clinker to and
from affiliates, (ii) the sale and/or acquisition of subsidiaries’ shares within the CEMEX group, (iii) the invoicing
of administrative and other services received or provided from and to affiliated companies, and (iv) the transfer
of funds between the Guarantors, its parent and certain affiliates. The Related parties balance detail is as follows:

1999
Assets Liabilities
Short-
Short-Term Term Long-Term
Guarantors
Cemex Concretos, S.A. de C.V. ettt e e e Ps1,267,517 —_— —_
Beeston Investments Holdings Limited ........ccoovviiieiieeiiecnceeiecenen, 1,198,935 — —
Cemex Central, S.A. e C.V ottt veserer e s v rve e renanes 558,854 —_ _
Cemex, S.A. de C.V. e ettt s a e e e — 100,483 25,125,868
PetrocemexX, S.A. e C.V .ttt erea e seressar e — 660,053 —
Cemex Internacional, S.A. de C.V. ..o — 538,702 —
Turismo Cemex, S.A. de C.V. ettt sae e — 111,106 —
Productora de Bolsas de Papel, S.A. de C.V. .o — 85,622 —
Inmobiliaria Valiant, S.A. de C.V. ..ot — 76,291 —
OTRETS ..oveve e creirr et ee e e s v re e s tsesbeesteestssebse st e beeatesesetearesasaansaerensanseassesneen 305,818 183,224 —
Ps3,331,124 1,755,481 25,125,868
2000
Assets Liabilities
Short-
Short-Term Long-Term Term Long-Term
Guarantors
Petrocemex, S.A. Ae C.V .ottt Ps 88,315 — — 2,808,575
Proveedora Mexicana de Materiales S.A. de C.V.....coooveeeees 67,130 — — —
Cal de Guadalajara S.A. de C.V................. teee e e et e rranans 63,008 — — —
Servicios Cemex México S.A. de C.V. .o 59,559 — — —
Granos y Terrenos S.A. de C.V. i necene 39,015 — — —
Cemex, S.A. de C.V. e e reeeneene — — 3,594,985 14,633,108
Centro Distribuidor de Cemento S.A. de C.V......cccoecvererennn — 102,130 616,406 —
Cemex Internacional S.A. de C.V. ..o — — 417,873 —
Turismo Cemex S.A.de C. V..o ene — — 171,176 —
Neoris S.A. de C.V .ot saereeens — — 111,150 —
Productora de Bolsas de Papel, S.A. de C.V.....covvvnivcninenne — — 86,008 —
Aviacién Comercial de América S.A. de C. V..., _— 150,131 77.483 —
Cemex Concretos S.A. de C.V .o sevivreesennes — 1,784,866 21 —
Cemex Central S.A. de C.V. .ot — 581,120 — —
Cemex International Finance Company ........ccccccvceeeneccnniciiann. — — — 4,480,157
OLhELS ...ttt e e et e be e e b e eane s s eesnesaeas 73,187 — 212,791 —
Ps390,214 2,618,247 5,287,893 21,921,840
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited)
(Thousands of constant Mexican Pesos as of June 30, 2001)

As of June 30, 2001 (Unaudited)

Assets Liabilities

Mn_ el Short-Term Long-Term
Guarantors
Cemex Concretos S.A. de C.V. e Ps1,672,802 — —
Cemex Central S.A. de C.V. oo 1,387,513 — —_
Proveedora Mexicana de Materiales S.A.de C.V.. ..o, 215,561 — —
Servicios Cemex México S.A. de C.V.. v 88,665 — _
Aviacién Comercial de América S.A. de C.V....cvevvvvveviiceennnnn. 73,657 — —
Granos y Terrenos S.A. de C.V. ... 61,426 —_ —

Cemex, S.A. de C.V. .ottt es e tae e et —_
Sunbelt Trading S.A. ...ccoviviiiiinirrecreren e esen s e —

11,536,485 49,595,922
2,302,370 4,386,720

Centro Distribuidor de Cemento S.A. de C.V..ovvivvvciveiivieerennee — 1,017,441 —
PetrocemeX, SA. de C.V. et — 456,482 2,750,000
Turismo Cemex S.A. de C.V. .. vrvere s eeietr e — 179,639 —
Cemex Internacional S.A. de C.V. it veeree s — 105,828 —
Productora de Bolsas de Papel, S.A. de C. V..o, — 84,372 —
OTRETS oot ettt esr e ta e bb e s e naenre et b et e ntseaans 68,025 312,408 —

Folvr o

Ps3,567,649 15,995,025 56,732,642

The principal transactions carried out with affiliated companies are:

December 31, June 30,
1998 1999 2000 2000 2001
(Unaudited)

Guarantors

NEL SAIES.vecviiriieee et creece et ene e s e s Ps2,521,070 2,427,994 3342067 1,798,665 1,651,219
PUIChASES ...oocvverieiiece e (866,637) (893,456) (1,013,122) (452,212) 190,278
Selling and administrative expenses................. (42,433) (43,847) — (29,785) —
Financial eXpense ........cccocvmveererernenessicnroneen (501,052) (626,276) (3,142,157) (1,252,248) 2,748,942
Financial iNCOME .......ccoeoreieerenenecievercsrenieniens 3,466,548 2,511,420 134,629 288,037 604,179
Other eXpense, NEt ........cccoevreerenrenrenroveesiesiensens Ps — (2,837,863) (2,060,465) 1,540,143 1,712,308

Net sales—The Guarantors sell cement and clinker to affiliated companies in arms-length transactions.
Purchases—The Guarantors purchase raw materials from affiliates in arms-length transactions.

Selling and administrative expenses—The Company allocates part of its corporate expense to the
Guarantors.

Financial income and expense is recorded on receivables from and payables to affiliated companies as
described above. Additionally, the Guarantors receive financial income on their temporary investment position,
invested in the non-guarantor treasury company.

Other expense, net—The Guarantors incur rental and trade mark rights expenses payable to the Company.
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Guarantors—U.S. GAAP reconciliation of net income and stockholders’ equity:

As discussed at the beginning of this note 20, the following reconciliation to U.S. GAAP does not include
the reversal of Mexican GAAP inflation accounting adjustments, as these adjustments represent a comprehensive
measure of the effects of price level changes in the inflationary Mexican economy, which is considered a more
meaningful presentation than historical cost-based financial reporting for both Mexican and U.S. accounting
purposes. The other principal differences between Mexican GAAP and U.S. GAAP and the effect on net income
and stockholders’ equity are presented below, with an explanation of the adjustments.

(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended
Year Ended December 31, June 30,
1998 1999 2000 2000 2001

Net income reported under Mexican GAAP ....... Ps 5,029,002 11,128,892 3,075,407 1,925,368 5,756,119
Approximate U.S. GAAP adjustments:

1. Pooling of interest (see note 7).............. 2,081,261 2,256,018 (2,564,645) 1,944,801 (78,862)
2. Amortization of pushdown goodwill
(SEE NOE 1) cuovreveerrerirrenreeemree e eeeiennes (178,787) (178,091) (181,839) (89,247) (86,079)
3. Deferred income taxes and ESPS
(SEE NOLE 2) 1vveeeeeeceteee e e (1,674,702) (1,770,750)  (299,026) (444,043) 909,537
4. Other employees’ benefits (see note 3). (26,130) (26,722) (23,463 (27473)  (12,960)
5. Inflation adjustment for machinery and
equipment (see NOte 4) .....cccoercecreenrennenn 1,924 (134,362) (150,931) (72,144) (114,372)
6. Other U.S. GAAP adjustments
(SEE NOE 5) ..o 271,703 (181,991) 428,385 248,733 215,399
7. Monetary position result (see note 6).... 1,721,524 1,165,906 568,705 387,590 93,463
Total approximate U.S. GAAP adjustments ....... 2,196,793 1,130,008 (2,222,814) 1,948,217 926,126
Total approximate net income under :
U.S. GAAP ..ot nee e Ps 7,225,795 12,258,900 852,593 3,873,585 6,682,245
(Unaudited)
December 31, June 30,
1999 2000 2001
Total stockholders’ equity under Mexican GAAP............c.coevviinin Ps 18,214,521 12,486,458 16,234,567
Approximate U.S. GAAP adjustments:
1. Pooling of interest (S€€ NOE 7)..ccvvvverirvvrrrvervirvrirerreresrsenens — — (1,374,788)
2. Effect of pushdown of goodwill, net (see note 1) .................. 2,232,460 2,148,698 2,006,888
3. Deferred income taxes and ESPS (see note 2) ......ccoceerevennnee (10,465,044) (3,863,132) (2,913,502)
4. Other employees’ benefits (see note 3) ........ccoeceviiiininnans (137,758)  (149,813)  (159,649)
5. Inflation adjustment for machinery and equipment (see note 4)...... 3,183,147 4,534,625 5,399,294
6. Other U.S. GAAP adjustments (S€e n0te 5) ....ccceremerecennene (3,092,661) (2,324,024) (1,975,741)
Total approximate U.S. GAAP adjustments.........cccoevrvveimernerincecrcnneene (8,279,856) 346,354 982,502
Total approximate stockholders’ equity under U.S. GAAP................ Ps 9,934,665 12,832,812 17,217,069
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Footnotes to the U.S. GAAP reconciliation:

1. Business Combinations

In 1989 and 1990, through an exchange of its shares with the Company, CEMEX Mexico (formerly
TOLMEX) acquired substantially all its subsidiaries from CEMEX. The original excess of the purchase price
paid by CEMEX over the fair value of the net assets of these subsidiaries was Ps6,636,445, of which Ps3,432,739
were recorded in ETM (formerly, CEMEX Control, S.A. de C.V.), currently one of the subsidiary guarantors (see
description above), under Mexican GAAP at the time of the acquisition. The net adjustment in the stockholders’
equity reconciliation to U.S. GAAP of the Guarantors, arising from this pushed-down Goodwill, after eliminating
the amounts recorded under Mexican GAAP, was Ps1,439,159 in 1999 and Ps1,371,129 in 2000.

In addition, during 1995 CEMEX acquired through a public exchange offer, where the Company exchanged
its own shares for TOLMEXs shares, an additional 24.2% equity interest in TOLMEX. The excess of the
purchase price paid by CEMEX over the fair value of the net assets of TOLMEX was Ps859,422. The net
adjustment in the stockholders’ equity reconciliation to U.S. GAAP of the Guarantors, arising from this pushed-
down Goodwill was Ps793,301 in 1999 and Ps777,569 in 2000. Amortization expense related to these pushed-
down Goodwill amounts, is recognized for purposes of the net income reconciliation to U.S. GAAP in each
period. For purposes of U.S. GAAP presentation, Ps1,030,817 as of December 31, 1999, was reclassified from
investments in subsidiaries to Goodwill. This, however, has no effect in stockholders’ equity under U.S. GAAP.

2. Deferred income taxes and Employees’ Statutory Profit Sharing

Deferred income taxes adjustment to U.S. GAAP, at December 31, 1999, 2000 and June 30, 2001
(unaudited) for the Guarantors amounts to expense of Ps7,751,538, expense of Ps1,341,040 and expense of
Ps283,085 (unaudited), respectively. In addition, deferred Employees’ Statutory Profit Sharing (“ESPS™)
adjustment to U.S. GAAP was Ps2,713,506 in 1999, Ps2,522,092 in 2000 and Ps2,630,417 as of June 30, 2001
(unaudited). The decrease in the deferred income taxes adjustment to U.S. GAAP in 2000 as compared to 1999
results from the application of Bulletin D-4 beginning in January 1, 2001 (see note 14B and 20(b)).

3. Other employees’ benefits

The Guarantors do not accrue for vacation expense and severance payments; these items are recognized
when vacation is taken or when retirements occur, respectively. For purposes of the U.S. GAAP reconciliation, a
* vacation liability has been determined in an amount of Ps24,619, Ps26,774 and Ps28,532, at December 31, 1999,
2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited), respectively. In addition, the Guarantors recognized, for purposes of the
U.S. GAAP reconciliation, a liability for severance benefits for Ps113,139 in 1999, Ps123,039 in 2000 and
Ps131,117 as of June 30, 2001 (unaudited).

4. Inflation Adjustment of Machinery and Equipment

As previously mentioned in note 20(j), for purposes of the U.S. GAAP reconciliation, fixed assets of foreign
origin were restated using the inflation factor arising from the Consumer Price Index (“CPI") of each country,
and depreciation is based upon the revised amounts.

5. Other U.S. GAAP adjustments

Deferred charges—For U.S. GAAP purposes, other deferred charges net of accumulated amortization
generated during 1999, that did not qualify for deferral under U.S. GAAP, have been charged to expense, with a
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net effect on the stockholders’ equity and in the net income reconciliation to U.S. GAAP of Ps(195,986) in 1999.
As of December 31, 2000 and June 30, 2001 (unaudited), the Guarantors recognized an income of Ps205,115 and
Ps100,419, respectively, in their stockholders’ equity reconciliation to U.S. GAAP from the partial reversal of the
adjustment. Mexican GAAP allowed the deferral of these expenses.

Inventory costs—-As permitted by Mexican GAAP, before 1999 certain inventories were valued under the
direct cost system, which includes material, labor and other direct costs. For purposes of the reconciliation to
U.S. GAAP, inventories have been valued under the full absorption cost method, including all costs and expenses
necessary for the manufacturing process. For purposes of the net income reconciliation to U.S. GAAP, the
Guarantors recognized income of Ps25,006 in 1998 and expense of Ps131,531 in 1999 resulting from the reversal
of the adjustment.

Subsidiary companies—The Guarantors have adjusted their investment in and their equity in the earnings of
subsidiary companies for the share of the approximate U.S. GAAP adjustments applicable to these affiliates. The
net effect in the stockholders’ equity reconciliation to U.S. GAAP was Ps(2,896,675) and Ps(2,118,909) in 1999
and 2000, respectively. The net effect in the net income reconciliation to U.S. GAAP was a benefit of Ps246,697,
Ps145,526 and Ps(305,505) in 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively. From the U.S. GAAP adjustments to
subsidiary companies in the Guarantors’ reconciliation of stockholders’ equity, Ps(2,890,117) in 1999, and
Ps(2,146,279) in 2000, are related to deferred income taxes and deferred ESPS.

6. Monetary position result

Monetary position result of the U.S. GAAP adjustments is determined by (i) applying the annual inflation
factor to the net monetary position of the U.S. GAAP adjustments at the beginning of the period, plus (ii) the
monetary position effect of the adjustments during the period, determined with the CPI inflation factor for the
period.

7. Pooling of interest

In January, 2001, Centro Distribudor de Cemento, S.A. de C.V., the indirect parent company of Compania
Valenciana, was sold by the Company to CEMEX Mexico. Therefore, from that date, Compania Valenciana and
all of its subsubsidiaries became non-guarantor subsidiaries of CEMEX Mexico, one of the guarantors.

Under Mexican GAAP, this transaction was accounted for as a purchase business combination effective
from the date of the transaction. Also, under Mexican GAAP, the sale resulted in a difference between the net
book value of the acquired companies and the purchase price on the separate accounts of CEMEX Mexico. The
transaction had no effect on the consolidated accounts of the Company.

Since the transaction was executed between entities under common control, for US GAAP purposes, the
transaction was accounted for as a reorganization of entities under common control (similar to a pooling of
interests). As such, the reconciliation to US GAAP of the guarantors financial information is presented as if the
reorganization had occurred on January 1, 1998. There is no effect on stockholders’ equity of the guarantors as
the offset to the acquisition of the equity interest was an intercompany payable to the parent company. The effect
on income in those prior periods reflects the equity in eanings (loss) of the acquired companies under
US GAAP. '
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Supplemental Guarantors’ Cash Flow Information under U.S. GAAP

The classifications of cash flows under Mexican GAAP and U.S. GAAP are basically the same in respect to
the transactions presented under each caption. The nature of the differences between Mexican GAAP and U.S.
GAAP in the amounts reported is mainly due to (i) the elimination of inflationary effects in the variations of
monetary assets and liabilities arising from financing and investing activities, against the corresponding monetary
position result in operating activities, (ii) the elimination of exchange rate fluctuations resulting from financing
and investing activities, against the corresponding unrealized foreign exchange gain or loss included in operating
activities, and (iii) the recognition in operating, financing and investing activities of the U.S. GAAP adjustments.

For the Guarantors, the following table summarizes the cash flow items as required under SFAS 95 provided
by (used in) operating, financing and investing activities for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000,
giving effect to the U.S. GAAP adjustments, excluding the effects of inflation required by Bulletin B-10 and
Bulletin B-15. The following information is presented on a historical Peso basis and it is not presented in
constant purchasing power.

(unaudited)
Six Months Ended
Years Ended December 31, June 30,
1998 1999 2000 1999 2000
Net cash provided by operating activities........ Ps 2,617,994 2,464,265 1,063,832 3,194,850 1,171,214
Net cash provided by (used in) financing
ACUVILIES ..eeeveeiievierernrrcirerereeenreesrssereseenne (159,044) 277,668 (1,645,898) (1,020,905) 249,139
Net cash used in investing activities ............... (2,161,902) (2,847,880) 418,725 (2,342,406) (772,847)

Net cash flow from operating activities reflects cash payments for interests and income taxes as follows:

(unaudited)
Six Months Ended
Years Ended December 31, June 30,
1998 1999 2000 1999 2000
Interest paid.......ceceevierirceccnnrriecrerenierenne Ps 659,394 799,594 265,859 132,941 140,629
Income taxes paid........c.coceveeinriinecceenirennac, 1,501,030 145,501 3,392 318,560 —

The Guarantors’ non-cash activities are comprised of the following:

During 1999 and 2000, the Guarantors acquired, from CEMEX, equity interests in Centro Distribuidor de
Cemento, S.A. de C.V. for an amount of Ps2,082,423 and Ps4,881,903, which were credited against accounts
payable owed by CEMEX to the Guarantors at the end of each year, respectively.

Dividends declared to CEMEX amounting to Ps12,418,845 in 1999, are recognized by the Guarantors as
accounts payable to the Company at the end of the corresponding year.

Contingent liabilities of the Guarantors

At December 31, 2000, Cemex México, S.A. de C.V. and Empresas Tolteca de México, S.A. de C.V. had
guaranteed debt of CEMEX, S.A. de C.V. in the amount of US$1,770 million (see note 10).
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(w) Newly Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’) issued SFAS No. 141, ‘‘Business
Combinations’” (*‘SFAS 141°°). SFAS 141 requires that the purchase method of accounting be used for all
business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. Goodwill and certain intangible assets will remain on the
balance sheet and not be amortized. On an annual basis, and when there is reason to suspect that their values have
been diminished or impaired, these assets must be tested for impairment, and write-downs may be necessary.
Also on July 2001, SFAS No. 142, *‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets’’ (‘*SFAS 142"") was issued by the
FASB. SFAS 142, effective January 2002, changes the accounting for goodwill from an amortization method to
an impairment-only approach. Amortization of goodwill, including goodwill recorded in past business
combinations, will cease upon adoption of this statement. The impact of SFAS 141 and SFAS 142 on the
Company’s financial statements has not yet been determined.
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To the Stockholders of
Compaiiia Minera Atoyac, S.A. de C.V.

We have audited the balance sheets of Compariia Minera Atoyac, S.A. de C.V. as of December 31, 2000 and
1999, and the related statements of income, of changes in stockholders’ equity and of changes in financial
position for the three years in the period ended December 31, 2000. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Mexico and the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and that they were prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 2.C to the financial statements, as from the year ended December 31, 2000 the
Company adopted the standards contained in Statement D-4 Revised, “Accounting for Income Tax, Asset Tax
and Employees’ Profit Sharing,” issued by the Mexican Institute of Public Accountants, with the effects
described in such note.

In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Compaiiia Minera Atoyac, S.A. de C.V. at December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of its
operations, the changes in its stockholders’ equity and the changes in its financial position for the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Mexico.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS

Héctor Puente S.
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To the Stockholders of
Cementos Andhuac, S.A.

We have audited the balance sheets of Cementos Andhuac, S.A. as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the
related statements of income, of changes in stockholders’ equity and of changes in financial position for the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2000. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Mexico and the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and that they were prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 2.C to the financial statements, as from the year ended December 31, 2000 the
Company adopted the standards contained in Statement D-4 Revised, “Accounting for Income Tax, Asset Tax
and Employees’ Profit Sharing,” issued by the Mexican Institute of Public Accountants, with the effects
described in such note.

In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Cementos Andhuac, S.A. at December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of its operations, the
changes in its stockholders’ equity and the changes in its financial position for the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Mexico.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS

Héctor Puente S.
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To the Stockholders of
Cementos del Norte, S.A. de C.V.

We have audited the balance sheets of Cementos del Norte, S.A. de C.V. as of December 31, 2000 and
1999, and the related statements of income, of changes in stockholders’ equity and of changes in financial
position for the three years in the period ended December 31, 2000. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Mexico and the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and that they were prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principies. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 2.C to the financial statements, as from the year ended December 31, 2000 the
Company adopted the standards contained in Statement D-4 Revised, “Accounting for Income Tax, Asset Tax
and Employees’ Profit Sharing,” issued by the Mexican Institute of Public Accountants, with the effects
described in such note.

In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Cementos del Norte, S.A. de C.V. at December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of its operations,
the changes in its stockholders’ equity and the changes in its financial position for the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Mexico.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS

Héctor Puente S.
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To the Stockholders of
Proveedora Mexicana de Materiales, S.A.de C.V.

We have audited the balance sheets of Proveedora Mexicana de Materiales, S.A. de C.V. (as a separate legal
entity) as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the related statements of income, of changes in stockholders’
equity and of changes in financial position for the three years in the period ended December 31, 2000. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management and are to be submitted for approval by
the General Meeting of Stockholders; therefore, they include the investment in subsidiary for by the equity
method. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Mexico and the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and that they were prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 2.G to the financial statements, as from the year ended December 31, 2000 the
Company adopted the standards contained in Statement D-4 Revised, “Accounting for Income Tax, Asset Tax
and Employees’ Profit Sharing,” issued by the Mexican Institute of Public Accountants, with the effects
described in such note.

In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Proveedora Mexicana de Materiales, S.A. de C.V. (as a separate legal entity) at December 31, 2000
and 1999, and the results of its operations, the changes in its stockholders’ equity and the changes in its financial

position for the three years in the period ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in Mexico.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS

Héctor Puente S.
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To the Stockholders of
Compaiija de Transportes del Mar de Cortés, S.A. de C.V.

We have audited the balance sheets of Compaiiia de Transportes del Mar de Cortés, S.A. de C.V. as of
December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the related statements of income, of changes in stockholders’ equity and of
changes in financial position for the three years in the period ended December 31, 2000. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Mexico and the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and that they were prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 2.G to the financial statements, as from the year ended December 31, 2000 the
" Company adopted the standards contained in Statement D-4 Revised, “Accounting for Income Tax, Asset Tax
and Employees’ Profit Sharing,” issued by the Mexican Institute of Public Accountants, with the effects
described in such note.

As mentioned in Note 1 to the financial statements, a portion of the company’s income and operating costs
and expenses arise from transactions with related parties. Therefore, conditions of these transactions may not be
similar to those of transactions carried out with third parties.

As indicated in Note 2E, to the financial statements, based on a study carried out in 1999, management
decided to modify the technical useful lives of property, plant and equipment; basically, since the related wear
and tear has been lower than the originally estimated. The effect of this change represented a reduction in the
depreciation charged to income for the year of approximately Ps5,075,357.

In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Compaiifa de Transportes del Mar de Cortés, S.A. de C.V. at December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the
results of its operations, the changes in its stockholders’ equity and the changes in its financial position for the

three years in the period ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in Mexico.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS

Héctor Puente S.
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To the Stockholders of
Cementos Guadalajara, S.A. de C.V.

We have audited the balance sheets of Cementos Guadalajara, S.A. de C.V. as of December 31, 2000 and
1999, and the related statements of income, of changes in stockholders’ equity and of changes in financial
position for the three years in the period ended December 31, 2000. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Mexico and the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and that they were prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 2.D to the financial statements, as from the year ended December 31, 2000 the
Company adopted the standards contained in Statement D-4 Revised, ‘*Accounting for Income Tax, Asset Tax
and Employees’ Profit Sharing,”” issued by the Mexican Institute of Public Accountants, with the effects
described in such note.

As mentioned in Note 1 to the financial statements, a significant portion of the company’s income and
operating costs and expenses arise from transactions with related parties. Therefore, conditions of these
transactions may not be similar to those of transactions with third parties.

In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Cementos Guadalajara, S.A. de C.V. at December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of its operations,

the changes in its stockholders’ equity and the changes in its financial position for the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Mexico.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS

Héctor Puente S.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
Monterrey, N.L., January 11, 2001

To the Stockholders of
Cementos de Oriente, S.A. de C.V.

We have audited the balance sheets of Cementos de Oriente, S.A. de C.V. as of December 31, 2000 and
1999, and the related statements of income, of changes in stockholders’ equity and of changes in financial
position for the three years in the period ended December 31, 2000. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Mexico and the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and that they were prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the ameunts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 2.F to the financial statements, as from the year ended December 31, 2000 the
Company adopted the standards contained in Statement D-4 Revised, “Accounting for Income Tax, Asset Tax
and Employees’ Profit Sharing,” issued by the Mexican Institute of Public Accountants, with the effects
described in such note.

As mentioned in Note 1 to the financial statements, a significant portion of the company’s income (basically
financial income) arises from transactions with related parties. Therefore, conditions of these transactions may
not be similar to those of transactions with third parties.

In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Cementos de Oriente, S.A. de C.V. at December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of its operations,

the changes in its stockholders’ equity and the changes in its financial position for the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Mexico.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS

Héctor Puente S.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
Monterrey, N.L., January 11, 2001

To the Stockholders of
Autotransportes de Huichapan, S.A. de C.V.

We have audited the balance sheets of Autotransportes de Huichapan, S.A. de C.V. as of December 31,
2000 and 1999, and the related statements of income, of changes in stockholders’ equity and of changes in
financial position for the three years in the period ended December 31, 2000. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Mexico and the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and that they were prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 2.F to the financial statements, as from the year ended December 31, 2000 the
Company adopted the standards contained in Statement D-4 Revised, “Accounting for Income Tax, Asset Tax
and Employees’ Profit Sharing,” issued by the Mexican Institute of Public Accountants, with the effects
described in such note.

As mentioned in Note 1 to the financial statements, a portion of the companyis income and operating costs
and expenses arise from transactions with related parties. Therefore, conditions of these transactions may not be
similar to those of transactions with third parties.

As indicated in Note 2.D to the financial statements, based on a study carried out in 1999, management
decided to modify the technical useful lives of property, plant and equipment; basically, since the related wear
and tear has been lower than the original estimated. The effect of this change represented a reduction in the
depreciation charged to income for the year of approximately Ps808,483.

In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements present fairly, in all matenal respects, the financial
position of Autotransportes de Huichapan, S.A. de C.V. at December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the resuits of its
operations, the changes in its stockholders’ equity and the changes in its financial position for the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Mexico.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS

Héctor Puente S.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
Monterrey, N.L., Janvary 11, 2001

To the Stockholders of
Cemex Concretos, S.A.de C.V.

We have audited the balance sheets of Cemex Concretos, S.A. de C.V. as of December 31, 2000 and 1999,
and the related statements of income, of changes in stockholders’ equity and of changes in financial position for
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2000. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Mexico and the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and that they were prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 2.H to the financial statements, as from the year ended December 31, 2000 the
Company adopted the standards contained in Statement D-4 Revised, “Accounting for Income Tax, Asset Tax
and Employees’ Profit Sharing,” issued by the Mexican Institute of Public Accountants, with the effects
described in such note.

As described in Note 1 to the financial statements, on November 13, 2000 the stockholders resolved to spin-
off certain operations for which purpose a new company was incorporated effective from such date onwards.
Certain assets, liabilities and capital stock were allocated to the new company as described in such note.

In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Cemex Concretos, S.A. de C.V. at December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of its operations, the

changes in its stockholders’ equity and the changes in its financial position for the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Mexico.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS

Héctor Puente S.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
Monterrey, N.L., January 11, 2001

To the Stockholders of
Granos y Terrenos, S.A. de C.V.

We have audited the balance sheets of Granos y Terrenos, S.A. de C.V. as of December 31, 2000 and 1999,
and the related statements of income, of changes in stockholders’ equity and of changes in financial position for
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2000. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Mexico and the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and that they were prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 2.C to the financial statements, as from the year ended December 31, 2000 the
Company adopted the standards contained in Statement D-4 Revised, “Accounting for Income Tax, Asset Tax
and Employees’ Profit Sharing,” issued by the Mexican Institute of Public Accountants, with the effects
described in such note. -

In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Granos y Terrenos, S.A. de C.V. at December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of its operations, the
changes in its stockholders’ equity and the changes in its financial position for the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Mexico.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS

Héctor Puente S.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON SCHEDULES

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Cemex, S.A.deC.V.:

Under date of January 17, 2001, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Cemex, S.A. de C.V. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 1999 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in
stockholders’ equity and changes in financial position for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2000, which are included in the annual report. In connection with our audits of the aforementioned
consolidated financial statements, we also audited the related consolidated financial statement schedules in the
annual report. These financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statement schedules based on our audits.

In our opinion, such financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

KPMG Cardenas Dosal, S.C.

Rafael Gémez Eng

Monterrey, N.L. Mexico
January 17, 2001
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CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. (PARENT COMPANY ONLY)

BALANCE SHEETS

(Thousands of constant Mexican pesos as of June 30, 2001)

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and temporary inVEStIMENES. .....ccuvvvererrerverirereennerseieessresresessessenssenses
Other receivables (INOE 3) .viiiveiiicciiereec et st ernre e sans s
Related parties receivables (TIOtE 7)....c.ccoceirururcennmnicnenneiineeeecrenaenens

TOtal CUITENE @SSEIS cuvvveiieiirieririrrieenirneeresrerreesreessessesrorersenrresseens

Investments and Noncurrent Receivables

Investments in subsidiaries and affiliated companies (note 4)...............
Other INVESHMENLS .....coovvieiriereriiireriesesseseresessessesseesseseranssessesseraseases
Long-term related parties receivables (NOte 7)......ccocovvrvevcnccnrennnneenenes

Total investments and noncurrent receivables ......ovvevveevvieeeeennnen.
OHREE ASSEES ....eveceiiiire sttt se e e erebsestnr s a e sseeosteesnessebesernessrenee
TOTAL ASSETS ...ttt ter e erer et e s s es s eete s saeans

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities

Bank 10ans ...
NOtes PAYADIE ... e e
Current maturities of long-term debt..........covecveirrrereiccnrnnernernraees
Other accounts payable and accrued eXpenses.........coeccvieeeceecrneencnn
Related parties payables (NOtE 7)....c.cviviviriiininireninieiii i

Total current liabilities ......c.coiiiirniirerericr e
Other long-term labilities ..........coeceoninerciei e

Long-Term Debt (NOte 6) .......c.c.ovcereieeiierienenicreieiererenee e seeenaeeneene
Long-Term related parties payable (note 7) .........cccoveermicinenieiicnnnenne

TOTAL LIABILITIES.......c..cooccoiniriiniiitr et see e sseenaenes
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ..ot
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ..................
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SCHEDULE]

December 31,

1999 2000
Ps 61,087 55,940
23,367 670,706
751,044 5,762,182
835,498 6,488,828
43,442 919 47,253,722
10,236 23,234
25,125,569 19,482,239
68,578,724 66,759,195
6,354,110 6,821,467
75,768,332 80,069,490
1,196,626 3,369,943
85,841 4,470,332
4,514,682 2,741,118
913,461 761,446
3,308,932 866,484
10,019,542 12,209,323
23,133 52,907
16,900,222 14,064,747
— 4,849,132
26,942,897 31,176,109
48,825,435 48,893,381
Ps 75,768,332 80,069,490




SCHEDULE I continued

CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. (PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Thousands of constant Mexican pesos as of June 30, 2001, except for earnings per share)

Years ended on December 31,

1998 1999 2000

TOLAl FEVEIMUES .......oooveevieieieeeere et see e rae s be e sreeaares Ps 6,646,341 8,936,098 8,134,232
AdMINIStrative EXPENSES.......evevirmieinririierirerinenneeieresesretsasessesseseens (129,578) (119,062) (93,563)
Operating iNCoOMEe ...t 6,516,763 8,817,036 8,040,669

Net comprehensive financing (cost) income........c.corvrrneen. (632,399) 953,039 101,617

Other InCOME (EXPENSES), ML c..evvreerirriiereeriirieeereresesresneerressereesennes 41,893 (678,815) 292,410
Income before income €axes............ccooeveeeiiveeeiiieirnee e, 5,926,257 9,091,260 8,434,696
Income tax benefit and business assets tax, net (note 8).........ccccceeees 1,960,889 72,162 870,155
NEtIICOME ...ttt st seessreseserstresneveeas Ps 7,887,146 9,163,422 9,304,851
Basic Earnings Per Share ...........cccoocoovevveeiveeenineeeennsnsnenene, Ps 2.08 2.43 2.26
Diluted Earnings Per Share..............cccooovvniiiriieniinen, Ps 2.08 242 2.25

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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SCHEDULE I continued

CEMEX, S.A. DE C.V. (PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POSITION
(Thousands of constant Mexican pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Years ended on December 31,

1998 1999 2000
Operating activities
Net resources provided by (used in) operating activities ................ Ps (81,908) (6,034,759) (5,335,627)
Financing activities
Proceeds from bank loans (repayments), Det .......c..ooceeverenenne 6,911,539 (6,823,824) (2,132,085)
Notes Payable ... (11,413,107) (606,628) 4,080,855
Issuance of common StOCK .....ccvvvviiveieiiiiniee et 10,823 356,328 48,292
Acquisition of shares under share repurchase program .......... — — (117,356)
Dividends paid.......c.cceeiererieeeiirecernieicneecreeneerese st anees (1,629,198)  (1,869,841) (2,137,194)
Issuance of common stock from reinvestment of dividends... 1,501,467 1,870,303 2,026,671
OLHETS, NEL ..c.cveeivieieiie et e st ee e estv e s e steasssessaessassseenreanaas (130,654) 7,506 (28,766)
Resources (used in), provided by related parties
financing actiVIties ......ocvevvereivrenrerreceercermriresessesiennens (4,749,130) (7,066,156} 1,740,417
Investing activities
Long-term by related parties receivables, net ..........c.cceeuveeeee. (1,219,087) (23,906,483) 10,492,462
Net change in investment in subsidiaries ...........ccorevveverenrenne. 6,679,112 25,746,354  (8,265,033)
Dividends reCeived.......c.ooueieriesrecrenieneresiveseeesienivesrsrisanns — 13,496,734 473,219
Deferred charges ...t (409,098) (2,407,196) 889,415
Resources provided by investing activities............c.c... 5,050,927 12,929,409 3,590,063
Increase (decrease) in cash and temporary investments.... 219,889 (171,506) (5,147)
Cash and temporary investments at beginning of year ... 12,704 232,593 61,087
Cash and temporary investments at end of year.............. Ps 232,593 61,087 55,940

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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SCHEDULE I continued

CEMEX, S.A.DE C.V.
NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY ONLY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000
(Thousands of constant Mexican pesos as of June 30, 2001)
1. Description of Business

Cemex, S.A. de C.V. (CEMEX) is the parent company of entities engaged in the production and marketing
of cement and concrete in the construction industry.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

A) Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting Principles
Generally Accepted in Mexico (Mexican GAAP), which include the recognition of the effects of inflation on the
financial information.

B) Presentation of Comparative Financial Statements

The inflation restatement factors of prior periods for the Parent Company-only financial statements were
determined based on inflation in Mexico.

DECEMDBEr 31, 2000 ...c.eoeieeieeeeeeeeee ettt ee et e e et e et ear e e e be e e re st et e st ae s s e reesatasnteeraasneens 1.0903
DeceMBEr 31, 1099 ..ottt ee et s n e et e et e st tae et e en e e e s be s beeaaerraeraesate e e e entsarne et sasararnen 1.1232
DeECemBEr 31, 1908 ...ttt r s cete st e s s e et e st e et e e s be e e e ets e e ehe e tserbeenneeteertearb e st entesaanentsaeneesnren 1.1861

The inflation restatement adjustments for common stock and additional paid-in capital are restated by using
Mexican inflation.

C) Cash and Temporary Investments

Cash and temporary investments include fixed-income marketable securities investments with original
maturities of three months or less. Investments in marketable securities are stated at market value. Gains or losses
resulting from changes in market values and the effects of inflation are included in the accompanying statements
of income as part of the comprehensive financing income or cost.

D) Investments and Noncurrent Receivables

Investments in common stock representing between 10% and 100% of the issuer's common stock are
_accounted for by the equity method. Under the equity method, the investments are stated at cost, adjusted for the
CEMEX s equity in the investee's earnings after acquisition and the effects of inflation on the investee's equity.

E) Property, Machinery and Equipment

Property, machinery and equipment are restated for inflation in accordance with the fifth amendment to
Bulletin B-10. The beginning balances for the 1997 inflation adjustment for property, machinery and equipment
were the ending balances at December 31, 1996, which were based on appraisals made by independent expert
appraisers.

Depreciation of property, machinery and equipment is provided on the straight-line method over the
estimated remaining useful lives of the assets less salvage value.

F) Deferred Charges and Amortization

Deferred charges are adjusted to reflect current values. Amortization of deferred charges is determined
using the straight-line method based on the current value of the assets.
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CEMEX,S.A.DEC.V.
NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY ONLY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000
(Thousands of constant Mexican pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Amortization of the excess of cost over book value of subsidiaries acquired (goodwill) is determined under
the present worth or sinking fund method, which intends in a better matching of the amortization of goodwill
with the revenues generated from the acquired affiliated companies. The amortization periods are as follows:

Years
Goodwill from years before 1992 ...ttt et ene s 40
Goodwill generated starting January 1, 1992.....c.coiiimiiiiienr et 20

Deferred financing costs are adjusted to reflect current values, and represent expenses originated from
CEMEX s financing operations. Amortization of deferred financing cost is determined under the straight-line
method over the term of the related debt based on the current value of deferred financing cost.

G) Monetary Position Gain Or Loss

The monetary position gain or loss is calculated by applying the inflation rate of each country in which the
CEMEX has operations to the average net monetary assets or liabilities in that country.

H) Deficit In Equity Restatement

The deficit in equity restatement includes the accumulated effect from holding non-monetary assets as well
as the effects of translation of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.
3. Other Receivables

Other current receivables consist of:

1999 2000
NON-raAE TECEIVADIES .. .viirieii ettt sr e s ab e s e nre s seeeesressaraesnnee e Ps 23,367 91,727
Refundable INCOME tAX ....cviveiieciieeenreeiccceeriete ettt e s seesenr e eressanseets st e teeessnsenssaeraneesen — 578,979
Other refUndable tAXES....coiverieiirecieit ettt es e trr e eeer e e sar s e bt s ernreessanessessenbasisseses — —

Ps 23,367 670,706

4. Investments in Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies

Investments in shares of subsidiaries and affiliated companies are accounted for by the equity method,
which considers the results and the stockholders’ equity of the investees. Investments in subsidiaries and
affiliated companies are summarized as follows:

1999 2000
Contribution or book value at acquiSition date ..........ccccovevereeeineerineseenenresnnne Ps 31,078,566 38,882,316
Equity in income and other changes in stockholders' equity of subsidiaries and
affiliated COMPANIES ...c...veiveerieiiiirie ettt et sbe e sae st e snerees 12,364,353 8,371,406

Ps 43,442,919 47,253,722

5. Short and Long-Term Debt
The maturities of the long-term debt at December 31, 2000, are as follows:

2002 e e e Ps 2,456,795
2003 .. e e et 4,801,791
2008t —
2003 ettt b bbb 1,023,665

2006 and thereafter........ccocviiirieeiiiieecreece e sirreere e s saen e sar e ena s 5,782,496
o Ps 14,064,747




CEMEX, S.A.DE C.V.
NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY ONLY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000
(Thousands of constant Mexican pesos as of June 30, 2001)

6. Transactions with Related Parties

The principal transactions carried out with related parties are the following:

1998 1999 2000
Rental INCOME......c.oiiiiiieiieie ettt et rae e aens Ps 150,223 380,519 286,773
LCENSE TEES ...vviiicei et e e 623,097 1,197,585 2,392,753
Financial XPenses .......coccovevereevriiinnineinoninn e eenens (2,349,909) (1,807,443) (716,247)
Financial iNCOIME ............ooveeiiirieerieriee e st sre st cte e et s e ae e sras 20,223 596,673 2,260,203
Dividends from subsidiaries.........cceeveerimeviecienieceicee s seer e — 13,496,734 473,219

7. Income Tax and Business Assets Tax

In accordance with present tax legislation in Mexico, corporations must pay either the Income Tax or
Business Assets Tax depending on which amount is greater for their operations in Mexico. Both taxes recognize
the effects of inflation, in a manner different from generally accepted accounting principles.

The Business Assets Tax Law establishes a 1.8% tax levy on assets, indexed for inflation in the case of
inventory, property, plant and equipment after deducting certain liabilities.

Income tax benefit (expense) for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, consists of:

1998 1999 2000
CUITENE INCOME TAX ..eveeerereeinreniveeeireeesreerssasesseessseessnerssnessssessressssnenses Ps (1,259,595) (4,015,336)  (408,520)
Benefit from tax consolidation .........coovvevvvveeereirieninicreesreeesesrsneenans 2,148,496 406,219 695,551
Deferred INCOME tAXES ... .oeiviiviieeiieeietriesieeereesiresivseesseessaesseeesssaasnns — — 583,124
Utilization of tax loss carryforwards ........covcoiecivrvesnninveceeininnnnens 1,071,988 3,681,279 —_
Ps 1,960,889 72,162 870,155

CEMEX, as a holding company, prepares its income Tax and Business Assets Tax returns on a consolidated
basis, which resulted in tax benefits of Ps 1,960,889 in 1998, Ps 72,162 in 1999 and Ps 287,031 in 2000.

8. Charges to Operations Which did not Require Resources

Items charged or credited to the results of operations, which did not generate the use of resources, are
summarized as follows:

1998 1999 2000
Depreciation of property, machinery and equipment.................... Ps 5,716 4,685 4,470
Amortization of deferred charges and credits, net........ccoceeneeeene 93,302 67,049 159,179
Deferred income tax charged to results..........cooveeveieivienicninene — — (583,124)
Equity in income of subsidiaries and affiliates..........cocoeevrerrenrenne (6,308,163)  (7,863,549)  (5,968,064)

Ps (6,209,145) (7,791,815)  (6,387,539)

9. Contingencies and Commitments

At December 31, 1999, CEMEX, S.A. de C.V. has signed as guarantor for loans made to certain subsidiaries
in the amount of US dollars 101-million (Ps 992.3 million).
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SCHEDULE I

CEMEX,S.A.DE C.V.
Notes to the Parent Company Only Financial Statements
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000
(Thousands of constant Mexican pesos as of June 30, 2001)

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts as of December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, is as follows:

Balance at Charged to Balance at
Beginning  Costs and End of
Description of Period Expenses Deductions Other(s) Period
Year ended December 31, 1998:
Allowance for doubtful accounts...........ccvveeevreevnnenn. o 603,488 194,229 132,257 (64,505) 600,955
Year ended December 31, 1999:
Allowance for doubtful accounts..........ccoevvveeveeeeviieciennn, 600,955 79,615 100,122 (74,118) 506,330
Year ended December 31, 2000:
Allowance for doubtful accounts........c.cccevirvreceneennncnee 506,330 99,535 130,174 (52,999) 422,692

(1) Amounts included in "Others" primarily result from the effects of foreign currency translation and the
inflation adjustment of the initial balance in the restatement to constant pesos as of the end of the same
period.




